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The New York Times
NYTimes.com
NYT Radio/WQXR
International Herald Tribune
News Services
Discovery Times Channel (50% interest)

The Boston Globe
Boston.com
Worcester Telegram & Gazette
Globe Specialty Products
Metro Boston (49% interest)
Red Sox/NESN (17% interest)

14 Daily Newspapers
Web Sites
Weekly Newspapers
Community Magazines
Database Marketing
Cable News

9 TV Stations
Duopoly: Oklahoma City
Web Sites
Newspaper Partnerships
Cable News

500 Guides
57,000 Topics
1.2 Million Pieces of Original Content
About SuperGuides Videos
Online Custom Publishing Programs

NEW YORK TIMES
MEDIA GROUP

NEW ENGLAND 
MEDIA GROUP

REGIONAL 
MEDIA GROUP

BROADCAST 
MEDIA GROUP

ABOUT.COM
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Great institutions successfully make the transition 
into a new era by knowing what must be preserved,

what must be learned, what must be reevaluated, and when 
it is time to go in a new direction. These are never easy 
decisions, but they are absolutely necessary as we contend
with the financial, technological and market developments
that are transforming our industry. 

As we enter the second half of the decade, our consumers
have more media options, newspaper circulation is under
increasing pressure, and consolidation among major advertisers
has contributed to lower growth in newspaper advertising
than in past years. Costs for newsprint, compensation and
marketing have been rising. All of these factors affected our
results in 2005, as our diluted earnings per share (EPS)
decreased to $1.78 from $1.96. 

Our 2005 EPS included a gain of $0.46 per share for 
the sale of our current headquarters and another property 
offset by charges totaling $0.27 per share for staff reduction
expenses and costs associated with an accounting change. 
We also incurred expenses of $0.15 per share for stock-based
compensation as a result of adopting a new accounting 
standard. These items are described fully in our Form 10-K.

Increasing Shareholder Value
Last year presented challenges for all media organizations and
The New York Times Company in particular as we saw our
share price decline significantly. It is difficult to determine
exactly why any one stock moves up or down, but what was
clear in 2005 is that newspapers in smaller markets outper-
formed those in metropolitan areas, where national advertising
makes up a greater percentage of the advertising mix. About
45% of our newspapers’ ad revenues came from national
advertising compared with 16% for the industry overall.

This year we will commemorate our 155th year of opera-
tion, and since the Times Company went public more than 35
years ago, we have experienced many market cycles. We remain
confident in our ability to improve our businesses, maintain
our cost discipline and increase our revenues. Moreover, we 
are committed to expanding our margins and growing our
earnings, thereby increasing shareholder value.

Despite a difficult advertising environment, we have 
continued to increase our dividend annually. Last April, we
raised it 6.5% and, over the last five years, we have grown 
our dividend by a compound annual growth rate of 8%.

Additionally, from 1997 through 2004, we were 
aggressive buyers of our stock and repurchased nearly one
quarter of the shares outstanding. With the construction of

our new headquarters and the acquisition of About.com, 
we repurchased shares at a slower pace in 2005. Going 
forward, we will continue to evaluate the financial benefits 
of buying back more shares.

Moving in a New Direction
The Times Company is responding to the new business 
environment by aggressively building a 21st-century media
organization that enhances our quality journalism, reinvests 
in print, embraces new uses of media, provides greater 
opportunities for interactivity, and encourages the sharing 
of common interests and social networking.

Achieving this ambitious vision has required a new 
corporate strategy, new leadership, new products, new operat-
ing procedures, new ways of interacting with our customers –
and a lot of hard work. We are pleased to report that as a result
of the extraordinary dedication of our colleagues throughout
the Company, we have achieved important milestones in our
three major growth initiatives: 

• Expanding our portfolio of multimedia properties to 
reinforce market leadership.

• Creating products to attract new audiences and advertisers,
extend our geographic reach and bring together people with
common interests. 

• Transforming our content and our advertising sales efforts
to better serve our readers, viewers, listeners and advertisers.

TO OUR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS: 1
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Expanding Our Multiplatform Portfolio of Properties
Our strategy’s first initiative – to expand our multiplatform
presence – has been bolstered by our acquisition last March of
About.com, a leading online provider of consumer information.

This acquisition, which has enabled the Times 
Company to become the 10th largest presence on the
Internet, has allowed us to achieve scale in key verticals and 
demographics through the combined reach and inventory 
of our Web sites. These sites are serving advertisers with 
comprehensive solutions, including video, display, classified
and cost-per-click advertising opportunities. 

With About.com, NYTimes.com and Boston.com, we 
are now able to offer over a billion monthly page views to the
marketplace, and About’s search engine optimization expertise
has been helping all our Web sites to increase their traffic
markedly. At the same time, About.com is benefiting from the
Times Company’s expertise in publishing quality content and
creating innovative advertising solutions.

We also made broadcast and print acquisitions.
The Broadcast Media Group added another station in

Oklahoma City, KAUT-TV, establishing our first duopoly.
Our ownership of KFOR and KAUT is enabling us to
achieve operating efficiencies and offer advertisers more 
and varied ways to reach their audiences in that market. 

Our 49% interest in Metro Boston, a free daily 
newspaper, provides a new avenue to reach well-educated
young professionals in this market.

The Regional Media Group added the North Bay 
Business Journal, a weekly publication targeting business leaders
in California's Sonoma, Napa and Marin counties.

Developing New Products
A second initiative of our strategy is bringing print and online
product innovations to market:

• The Times’s “T”magazines added $10 million in revenues
in 2005. The newspaper also launched Thursday Styles, 
a mid-week cousin of The Times Sunday Styles section, 
focusing on fashion, fitness, beauty and lifestyles.

• TimesSelect, our new fee-based product on NYTimes.com,
is diversifying our online revenue base by charging non-
print subscribers for access to our distinctive columnists
and The Times’s archives. As of mid-February, we had
approximately 425,000 TimesSelect subscribers, including
both home-delivery and online-only subscribers. 

• ExploreNewEngland.com, launched by The Boston Globe
and Boston.com, focuses on travel and entertainment and 
is a shopping resource for advertisers and consumers. 

• Our Regional Media Group continued to add new weekly
newspapers and magazines in 2005. More new products,
including online content, are planned for this year. 

• “PLAY: The New York Times Sports Magazine,” launched
on Super Bowl Sunday 2006, provides national advertisers
with an attractive new audience of sports participants 
and enthusiasts.

• The International Herald Tribune is gaining additional 
advertising revenues from its recently launched “Books 
and Ideas” Saturday section.

Establishing Research and Development Capability 
We are building on this momentum by creating a research
and development group that concentrates on new media 
ventures such as search, video, mobile technology and 
e-learning. This initiative is designed to expand the future 
distribution of our information products and allow us 
to stay ahead of the technological and consumer curve.

Denise Warren was named 
senior vice president and chief
advertising officer for The New
York Times Media Group and now
directs its combined advertising
staff. This new position reflects the
cross-platform selling approach that
we are taking with our businesses.

Next Generation of Leadership: We moved a series of
executives into new leadership roles to tackle our journalistic
and business challenges. They are using their broad-based
responsibilities to improve our editorial content, speak 
to the next generation, expand our presence on the Web,
develop new products, increase revenues, decrease costs 
and thereby make our Company more competitive. Here 
are some of these new leaders:

We acquired About.com in 2005
and named Scott Meyer president
and chief executive officer and
Andrew Pancer chief operating
officer. They are working together 
to augment the site’s revenues,
enhance the user experience and
build its worldwide audience.

2
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Building Audiences 
Another key element of our strategy is building our print,
online and broadcast audiences. 

The Times recently began printing in Houston and
Toronto – our first national print site outside of the United
States. Our expansion efforts help us target additional ZIP
codes and pursue quality circulation and readership.

NYTimes.com, which is entering its 10th year of 
operation, is the No. 1 newspaper-owned Web site in the
world, visited by a worldwide audience averaging 17 million
unique users per month.

Boston.com, one of the nation’s leading regional portals,
celebrated its 10th anniversary in October. Last year it began
registering its users to combine demographic data with 
behavioral targeting, which resulted in increased ad rates
charged for the site’s average 150 million monthly page views.

Meeting the Needs of Readers and Advertisers
Our third initiative incorporates operational efficiencies to
meet the needs of our readers and advertisers more effectively.

The editorial side took a major leap forward in the con-
tinuous news cycle as The Times integrated its print and digital
newsrooms. As we more efficiently deploy our journalistic re-
sources, we are improving the user experience of our audiences.

We reorganized the advertising sales staffs at The Times
and New England Media Groups and are now providing 
advertisers with integrated and customized multimedia packages.

Achieving Impressive Advertising Results 
Online advertising continues to be a significant area of growth.

NYTimes.com experienced an increase of 30% as a 
result of its healthy mix of revenues, most of which – unlike
those of many other news sites – come from outside the classi-
fied categories in the rapidly growing national display area. 

In 2006, we will build out various sections of
NYTimes.com, providing our readers with more content 

and more features and our advertisers with additional 
inventory space to promote their brands and products. 

Our daily newspapers and broadcast stations all have 
Web sites. In 2005, we generated approximately $198 million
in revenue from all of our Internet businesses, 6% of the Company’s 
total revenues.

Providing Quality Journalism
While our strategy has a number of new components, provid-
ing quality journalism will always be the cornerstone of all our
efforts. In 2005:

• Boston Globe journalist Gareth Cook won a Pulitzer 
Prize for explanatory reporting for his articles on stem 
cell research. 

• Times journalist Walt Bogdanich won a Pulitzer Prize for
national reporting and a Polk Award for his series, “Death
on the Tracks,” revealing how railroads used their political
influence to evade responsibility for a deadly safety record. 

• Times journalist Dexter Filkins won a Polk Award for war
reporting for his account of an eight-day battle for Falluja.

• Times journalist Diana Henriques won a Polk Award for
military reporting for her series on how soldiers were
fleeced by insurance and investment companies.

• The Press Democrat received a Polk Award for regional
reporting for its “Global Shift” series on the export of 
manufacturing jobs from Sonoma County.

• NYTimes.com took three Online News Association Awards:
for “general excellence,” “breaking news” for tsunami 
coverage and “outstanding use of multimedia” for its 
“Class Matters” series. 

• The Times won an Emmy and a duPont Columbia
Broadcast Award for best investigative journalism for its
“Secret History of the Credit Card.” 

Jeff Moriarty, who has held key 
digital positions throughout the
Company, was made vice president of
new media for the Regional Media
Group, where he will help to expand
our online presence there and across
the Company.

Stu Stoller was named vice 
president, process engineering and
corporate controller, and has been
given companywide responsibility
for leading sustainable cost 
reduction through process mapping,
innovation and new technology.

3

Laurena Emhoff became assistant
treasurer and plays a leading role in
treasury operations, improving our
cash management and implementing
our Sarbanes-Oxley initiatives in the
Treasury department.

Rhonda Brauer, our corporate 
secretary, assumed the newly created
position of corporate governance 
officer. Ken Richieri was promoted
to vice president and general counsel
to make greater use of his broad
legal and business experience.
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• And the Discovery Times Channel received two Emmys: for
best historical programming – long form category for
“Reporters at War,” and for outstanding individual achieve-
ment in research for “Declassified: Nixon in China.”

Our strong commitment to quality journalism was 
evident in our support for Times reporter Judy Miller’s 
struggle to protect an anonymous source; The Times’s 
investigation on the federal government’s domestic surveillance
program; and The (Houma, La.) Courier’s response to
Hurricane Katrina, providing invaluable assistance to its Times
and Globe colleagues while helping The Times-Picayune in
New Orleans to print its papers. 

Controlling Expenses
Managing expenses is ingrained in our growth strategy. In
2005, we began a systematic review across the Company to
determine how we could increase effectiveness, free up
resources, and achieve revenue and cost benefits from produc-
tivity gains. Our process mapping and productivity gains are
expected to lead to annual savings of approximately $45 mil-
lion in 2006, with about a third of the savings related to our
staff reduction programs. These efforts focused on our two
largest costs – people and paper, which make up about half 
of our total expenses.

We decreased the size of our workforce, beginning last
summer, by approximately 200 positions. In September, we
announced the elimination of another 500 positions, which
will be substantially completed by the end of the first quarter
of 2006. At the beginning of 2001, we had approximately
13,800 employees and we expect to be at about 11,400, down
17%, excluding acquisitions and divestitures, by year-end.

These staff reductions are due, in part, to our productivity
initiatives. Other factors include our ability to leverage the
investments that we have made in technology and centralizing
back office services over the past few years. We are also reducing

structural costs related to our benefit programs, such as our
stock-based compensation, pension and healthcare expenses. 

Last year, we converted our print sites to a lighter-grade 
of newsprint, which will provide annual paper savings of 
$3.5 to $4 million. 

Saying Thank You
We thank our board members, and especially retiring 
directors John Akers and Henry Schacht, for their enormous
dedication, wise counsel and extensive contributions. We also
welcome Jim Kilts to our board – we will greatly benefit from
his skills, expertise and leadership.

We also want to thank our staff, readers, viewers, 
listeners, advertisers and communities for their loyalty and
support. Finally, we will miss our colleagues who have recently
left the Company. Their many contributions and dedication
are greatly appreciated.

Going Forward
In 2006, we will pursue our mission of multiplatform 
leadership by maintaining the highest journalistic standards,
bringing people together as communities of shared interest
and adhering to the core principles of integrity, customer
focus, innovation, collaboration and economic vitality. By
closely adhering to this disciplined and entrepreneurial 
mindset, we will bolster our competitive position and provide
our shareholders with greater value.

Sincerely,

Arthur Sulzberger, Jr.                         Janet L. Robinson
Chairman                                            President and CEO

Dan Lyons, who initiated and 
developed a new online classified 
effort, “Total Disclosure Dealers,” was
named group vice president of sales 
at our Broadcast Media Group.

4

Michael Oreskes was named 
executive editor of the International
Herald Tribune. His many 
assignments at The New York Times
made him uniquely qualified to
lead the IHT’s newsroom.

Michael Zimbalist was named vice
president, research & development
operations, to direct new media 
ventures and oversee Boston.com.
His new group will help us create
innovative information products 
and help us stay ahead of the 
technological and consumer curve.

Mary Jacobus was appointed The
Boston Globe’s president and general
manager and Richard Daniels was
named president, Boston Globe
Media. These new positions 
reflect a restructuring that will
enable us to build and extend 
the deep market coverage of our 
New England properties.
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Factors That Could Affect Operating Results

Except for the historical information, the matters discussed in this Annual

Report are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties

that could cause actual results to differ materially from those predicted by

such forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include

national and local conditions, as well as competition, that could influence

the levels (rate and volume) of retail, national and classified advertising and

circulation generated by the Company’s various markets, and material

increases in newsprint prices. They also include other risks detailed from

time to time in the Company’s publicly filed documents, including its

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 25, 2005,

which is included in this Annual Report. The Company undertakes no

obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a

result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

Form 10-K
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PART I

looking statements are and will be based upon ourFORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
then-current expectations, estimates and assumptions

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the regarding future events and are applicable only as of
sections titled ‘‘Item 1A—Risk Factors’’ and the dates of such statements. We undertake no
‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
Condition and Results of Operations’’ on pages F-3 to statements, whether as a result of new information,
F-20, contains forward-looking statements that relate future events or otherwise.
to future events or our future financial performance.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involveWe may also make written and oral forward-looking
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual resultsstatements in our Securities and Exchange Commission
to differ materially from those anticipated in any(‘‘SEC’’) filings and otherwise. We have tried, where
forward-looking statements. Such factors include thosepossible, to identify such statements by using words
described in ‘‘Item 1A—Risk Factors’’ below as well assuch as ‘‘believe,’’ ‘‘expect,’’ ‘‘intend,’’ ‘‘estimate,’’
other risks and factors identified from time to time in‘‘anticipate,’’ ‘‘will,’’ ‘‘project,’’ ‘‘plan’’ and similar
our SEC filings.expressions in connection with any discussion of future

operating or financial performance. Any forward-

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

In 2005, we classified our businesses based on ourINTRODUCTION
operating strategies into the following segments:

The New York Times Company (the ‘‘Company’’) was
• the News Media Group:incorporated on August 26, 1896, under the laws of

• The New York Times Media Group, consisting ofthe State of New York. The Company is a diversified
The New York Times (‘‘The Times’’),media company including newspapers, Internet
NYTimes.com, the International Herald Tribunebusinesses, television and radio stations, investments in
(the ‘‘IHT’’), a newspaper distributor in the Newpaper mills and other investments. Financial
York City metropolitan area, news, photo andinformation about industry segments is incorporated
graphics services, news and features syndicationby reference to Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial
and (effective fiscal 2005) our two New York CityStatements on pages F-48 to F-50 of this report. The
radio stations, WQXR-FM and WQEW-AM,Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are referred
formerly part of the Broadcast Media Group;to collectively in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as

‘‘we,’’ ‘‘our’’ and ‘‘us.’’ • the New England Media Group, consisting of
The Boston Globe (the ‘‘Globe’’), Boston.comOur Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
and the Worcester Telegram & Gazette, inon Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all
Worcester, Mass. (the ‘‘T&G’’); andamendments to those reports, and the Proxy Statement

for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders are made • the Regional Media Group, consisting of 15
available, free of charge, on our Web site newspapers in Alabama, California, Florida,
http://www.nytco.com, as soon as reasonably Louisiana, North Carolina and South Carolina
practicable after such reports have been filed with or and related print and digital businesses (including
furnished to the SEC. the North Bay Business Journal, a weekly

publication targeting business leaders in
California’s Sonoma, Napa and Marin counties,
acquired February 2005).
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• the Broadcast Media Group: television stations (‘‘NESV’’), which owns the Boston Red Sox baseball
WTKR-TV serving Norfolk, Va.; WREG-TV club (including Fenway Park and approximately 80%
serving Memphis, Tenn.; KFOR-TV and KAUT-TV of New England Sports Network, the regional cable
(acquired November 2005), both serving Oklahoma sports network that televises the Red Sox games); and
City, Okla.; WNEP-TV serving Scranton, Penn.; Metro Boston LLC (‘‘Metro Boston’’), which publishes
WHO-TV serving Des Moines, Iowa; WHNT-TV a free daily newspaper catering to young professionals
serving Huntsville, Ala.; WQAD-TV serving in the Boston metropolitan area (interest acquired on
Moline, Ill.; and KFSM-TV serving Fort Smith, March 10, 2005).
Ark., and their related digital businesses. Revenue from individual customers and revenues,

• About.com: On March 18, 2005, we acquired operating profit and identifiable assets of foreign
About.com, a leading online source for original operations are not significant.
consumer information and advice. About.com is a Seasonal variations in advertising revenues cause our
separate reportable segment of the Company. quarterly results to fluctuate. Second-quarter and

Additionally, we own equity interests in a Canadian fourth-quarter advertising volume is typically higher
newsprint company and a supercalendered paper than first- and third-quarter volume because economic
manufacturing partnership in Maine; the Discovery activity tends to be lower during the winter and
Times Channel (‘‘DTC’’), a digital cable television summer.
channel; New England Sports Ventures, LLC

NEWS MEDIA GROUP

The News Media Group segment consists of The New York Times Media Group, the New England Media Group
and the Regional Media Group.

Advertising Revenue
The majority of the News Media Group’s revenue is categories: national, retail and classified. Advertising
derived from advertising sold in its newspapers and revenue also includes preprints, which are advertising
other publications and on its Web sites, as discussed supplements. Below is a percentage breakdown of 2005
below. We divide such advertising into three basic advertising revenue by division:

Classified Other
Retail and Help Real Total Advertising

National Preprint Wanted Estate Auto Other Classified Revenue Total

The New York Times Media Group 651% 14% 6% 9% 3% 2% 20% 1% 100%

New England Media Group 26 30 12 13 10 4 39 5 100

Regional Media Group 4 49 13 12 12 5 42 5 100

Total News Media Group 45 24 9 10 6 3 28 3 100

1 Includes all advertising revenue of the IHT.

Advertising revenue and volume information for the News Media Group appears on page F-9 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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The New York Times Media Group

The New York Times

AdvertisingThe Times, a standard-size daily (Monday through
Advertising rates for The Times increased an average ofSaturday) and Sunday newspaper, commenced
5.3% in January 2005 and 5.2% in January 2006.publication in 1851.

According to data compiled by TNS MediaCirculation
Intelligence, an independent agency that measuresThe Times is circulated in each of the 50 states, the
advertising sales volume and estimates advertisingDistrict of Columbia and worldwide. Approximately
revenue, The Times had a 50.3% market share in49% of the weekday (Monday through Friday)
2005 in advertising revenue among a nationalcirculation is sold in the 31 counties that make up the
newspaper set that includes USA Today, The Wallgreater New York City area, which includes New York
Street Journal and The New York Times. Based onCity, Westchester, Long Island, and parts of upstate
recent data provided by TNS Media Intelligence andNew York, Connecticut, New Jersey and Pennsylvania;
The Times’s internal analysis, The Times believes that51% is sold elsewhere. On Sundays, approximately
it ranks first by a substantial margin in advertising44% of the circulation is sold in the greater New York
revenue in the general weekday and Sunday newspaperCity area and 56% elsewhere. According to reports
field in the New York City metropolitan area.filed with the Audit Bureau of Circulations (‘‘ABC’’),

an independent agency that audits the circulation of
Production and Distribution

most U.S. newspapers and magazines, for the The Times is printed at its production and distribution
six-month period ended September 30, 2005, The facilities in Edison, N.J., and Flushing, N.Y., as well as
Times had the largest daily and Sunday circulation of under contract at 19 remote print sites across the
all seven-day newspapers in the United States. United States and one in Toronto, Canada.
The Times’s average net paid weekday and Sunday In 2005 and early 2006, The Times added two new
circulation for the years ended December 25, 2005, contract print sites: Toronto, serving greater Toronto,
and December 26, 2004, are shown below: as well as Buffalo, Rochester and other areas in upstate

New York, and Houston. The Times is reviewingWeekday (Mon. - Fri.) Sunday
(Thousands of copies) several markets for additional expansion in 2006.

Our subsidiary, City & Suburban Delivery2005 1,135.8 1,684.7
Systems, Inc. (‘‘City & Suburban’’), operates a2004 1,124.7 1,669.7
wholesale newspaper distribution business that

Change 11.1 15.0 distributes The Times and other newspapers and
periodicals in New York City, Long Island (N.Y.), New

The increases in weekday and Sunday copies sold in
Jersey and the counties of Westchester (N.Y.) and

2005 compared with 2004 were due to increased
Fairfield (Conn.). In other markets in the United

copies to schools, colleges and corporate accounts.
States and Canada, The Times is delivered through
various newspapers and third-party delivery agents.Approximately 61% of the weekday and 66% of the

Sunday circulation was sold through home delivery in
NYTimes.com2005; the remainder was sold primarily on newsstands.
The Times’s Web site, NYTimes.com, reaches wide

The Times reaches 5 million print readers on weekdays audiences across the New York metropolitan region,
and 7 million on Sunday, according to a 2004 study the nation and around the world. In the United States,
by Scarborough, an independent market research according to Nielsen NetRatings, an Internet traffic
vendor. measurement service, average unique users visiting

NYTimes.com reached 11.0 million per month in
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2005 compared with 9.2 million per month in 2004. Radio
According to NYTimes.com internal metrics, in 2005, Beginning in fiscal 2005, our two New York City
NYTimes.com had 17 million average monthly unique radio stations, WQXR-FM and WQEW-AM, formerly
users worldwide. In addition, over 3.2 million people part of the Broadcast Media Group, were included in
receive requested newsletters from NYTimes.com each The New York Times Media Group. WQXR, our
day. classical music radio station, is working with The

Times’s News Services Division to expand the
NYTimes.com primarily derives its revenue from the distribution of Times-branded news and information
sale of advertising. Advertising is sold to both national on the radio, through The Times’s own resources and
and local customers and includes Web site display in collaboration with strategic partners. WQEW
advertising (banners, half-page units, rich media), receives revenues under a time brokerage agreement
classified advertising (help-wanted, real estate, with ABC, Inc., which currently provides substantially
automobiles) and contextual advertising (links supplied all of WQEW’s programming. Under a separate option
by Google, an Internet search engine). In agreement, ABC, Inc. has the right to acquire WQEW
September 2005, The Times introduced TimesSelect, a at the end of 2006. The radio stations are operated
product offering subscribers exclusive online access to under licenses from the Federal Communications
columnists of The Times and the IHT and featuring Commission (‘‘FCC’’) and are subject to FCC
access to The Times’s extensive archives, previews of regulation. Radio license renewals are typically granted
various sections, and tools for tracking and storing for terms of eight years. The licenses for both radio
news and information. TimesSelect is priced annually stations expire on June 1, 2006, and applications will
at $49.95 or monthly at $7.95, but is available to be filed in 2006 to renew them. We anticipate that
home-delivery subscribers at no additional fee. As of our radio licenses will be renewed for eight-year
mid-February 2006, there were approximately 425,000 periods.
subscribers, including home-delivery and online-only
subscribers. Other Businesses

The New York Times Media Group’s other businesses
International Herald Tribune include The New York Times Index, which produces
The IHT, a daily (Monday through Saturday) and licenses The New York Times Index, a print
newspaper, commenced publishing in Paris in 1887, is publication, Digital Archive Distribution, which
printed at 31 sites throughout the world and is sold in licenses electronic archive databases to resellers of that
more than 185 countries. The IHT’s average information in the business, professional and library
circulation for the years ended December 25, 2005, markets, and The New York Times News Services
and December 26, 2004, were 242,000 and 241,000. Division. The New York Times News Services Division
These figures follow the guidance of Diffusion is made up of Syndication Sales, which transmits
Controle, an agency based in Paris and a member of articles, graphics and photographs from The Times,
the International Federation of Audit Bureaux of the Globe and other publications to approximately 650
Circulations that audits the circulation of most of newspapers and magazines in the United States and in
France’s newspapers and magazines. The figure for more than 50 countries worldwide, and markets other
2005 is an estimate as final 2005 numbers will not be supplemental news services and feature material,
available until April 2006. In 2005, 60% of the graphics and photographs from The Times and other
circulation was sold in Europe, the Middle East and leading news sources to newspapers and magazines
Africa, 38% was sold in the Asia Pacific region and around the world; and Business Development, which
2% was sold in the Americas. comprises Photo Archives, Book Development and a

small publication unit.Advertising rates for the IHT increased between 3%
and 8% in January 2005 and between 3% and 5% in
January 2006.
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New England Media Group published under the name of Coulter Press—circulate
The Globe, Boston.com, and the T&G constitute our throughout Worcester County and northeastern
New England Media Group. The Globe is a daily Connecticut. The T&G’s average net paid weekday
(Monday through Saturday) and Sunday newspaper, and Sunday circulation, for the years ended
which commenced publication in 1872. The T&G is a December 25, 2005 and December 26, 2004, are
daily (Monday through Saturday) newspaper, which shown below:
began publishing in 1866. Its Sunday companion, the

Weekday (Mon. - Fri.) SundaySunday Telegram, began in 1884.

2005 99,200 115,100Circulation
2004 103,000 121,300The Globe is distributed throughout New England,

although its circulation is concentrated in the Boston
Advertisingmetropolitan area. According to ABC, for the
Both the Globe and the T&G increased advertisingsix-month period ended September 30, 2005, the
rates in each category of advertising in 2005. OnGlobe ranked first in New England for both daily and
January 1, 2006, the Globe increased all advertisingSunday circulation volume.
rates by 0.5% to 5%, and the T&G increased all

The Globe’s average net paid weekday and Sunday advertising rates by 2% to 4%.
circulation for the years ended December 25, 2005,

Based on information supplied by major dailyand December 26, 2004, are shown below:
newspapers published in New England and assembled

Weekday (Mon. - Fri.) Sunday by the New England Newspaper Association, Inc. for
(Thousands of copies) the year ended December 25, 2005, the Globe ranked

first and the T&G ranked tenth in advertising inches2005 413.3 646.4
among all newspapers published in New England.2004 453.8 694.1
Production and DistributionChange (40.5) (47.7)
All editions of the Globe are printed and prepared for

The decreases in weekday and Sunday copies sold in delivery at its main Boston plant or its Billerica, Mass.
2005 compared with 2004 were primarily due to a satellite plant. Virtually all of the Globe’s
directed effort to reduce the Globe’s ‘‘other paid’’ home-delivered circulation was delivered in 2005 by a
circulation (primarily third-party bulk sponsored copies third-party service provider.
but also hotel copies); the positive impact in 2004 of

Boston.comthe Red Sox World Series victory; and continuing
The Globe’s Web site, Boston.com, reaches wideadverse effects of telemarketing legislation.
audiences in the New England region, the nation and

Approximately 75% of the Globe’s weekday circulation around the world. In the United States, according to
and 68% of its larger Sunday circulation were sold Nielsen NetRatings, average unique users visiting
through home delivery in 2005; the remainder was Boston.com reached 3.5 million per month in 2005
sold primarily on newsstands. compared with 3.2 million per month in 2004.

The Boston Globe reaches 1.1 million print readers on Boston.com primarily derives its revenue from the sale
weekdays and 1.6 million on Sunday, according to a of advertising. Advertising is sold to both national and
2005 Scarborough study. local customers and includes Web site display

advertising, classified advertising and contextualThe T&G, the Sunday Telegram and several
advertising.Company-owned non-daily newspapers—some
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Regional Media Group business leaders in California’s Sonoma, Napa and
Marin counties.The Regional Media Group includes 14 daily

newspapers, of which 12 publish on Sunday, one paid The average weekday and Sunday circulation for the
weekly newspaper and related print and digital year ended December 25, 2005, for each of the daily
businesses. In February 2005, we acquired the North newspapers are shown below:
Bay Business Journal, a weekly publication targeting

Daily Sunday Daily Sunday
Daily Newspapers Circulation Circulation Daily Newspapers Circulation Circulation

The Gadsden Times (Ala.) 22,400 23,200 The Ledger (Lakeland, Fla.) 70,600 87,700

The Tuscaloosa News (Ala.) 34,200 35,600 The Courier (Houma, La.) 18,500 20,000

TimesDaily (Florence, Ala.) 30,800 32,400 Daily Comet (Thibodaux, La.) 10,900 N/A

The Press Democrat (Santa Rosa, Calif.) 86,100 88,900 The Dispatch (Lexington, N.C.) 11,500 N/A

Sarasota Herald-Tribune (Fla.) 110,800 130,300 Times-News (Hendersonville, N.C.) 19,100 19,200

Star-Banner (Ocala, Fla.) 49,800 53,400 Wilmington Star-News (N.C.) 53,500 60,000

The Gainesville Sun (Fla.) 46,900 52,500 Herald-Journal (Spartanburg, S.C.) 47,900 55,600

The Petaluma Argus-Courier, in Petaluma, Calif., our only paid subscription weekly newspaper, had an average
weekly circulation for the year ended December 25, 2005, of 7,300.

BROADCAST MEDIA GROUP

Our television stations are operated under licenses from the FCC and are subject to FCC regulations. Television
license renewals are normally granted for terms of eight years. In 2005, the television stations within the Broadcast
Media Group were as shown below (including KAUT-TV in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, acquired
November 2005):

Market’s
Nielsen Network

Station License Expiration Date Ranking1 Affiliation Band

WTKR-TV (Norfolk, Va.) October 1, 2012 42 CBS VHF
WREG-TV (Memphis, Tenn.) August 1, 20053 44 CBS VHF
KFOR-TV (Oklahoma City, Okla.) June 1, 20063 45 NBC VHF
KAUT-TV (Oklahoma City, Okla.) June 1, 20063 45 UPN UHF
WNEP-TV (Scranton, Penn.) August 1, 2007 54 ABC UHF2

WHO-TV (Des Moines, Iowa) February 1, 20063 73 NBC VHF
WHNT-TV (Huntsville, Ala.) April 1, 20053 84 CBS UHF2

WQAD-TV (Moline, Ill.) December 1, 20053 95 ABC VHF
KFSM-TV (Ft. Smith, Ark.) June 1, 20053 104 CBS VHF

1 According to Nielsen Media Research’s 2005/2006 Designated Market Area Market Rankings from fall 2005. Nielsen Media Research is a
research company that measures audiences for television stations.

2 All other stations in this market are also in the UHF band.
3 Application for renewal of license pending.

We anticipate that our applications for renewal of our station licenses will result in the licenses being renewed for
eight-year periods.



9FEB200616335390

7

The television stations generally have three principal
ABOUT.COMsources of revenue: local advertising (sold to advertisers in

the immediate geographic areas of the stations), national About.com is a leading consumer information source
spot advertising (sold to national clients by individual with a mission of providing ‘‘practical solutions for
stations rather than networks), and compensation paid by everyday problems.’’ One of the top 10 most visited Web
the networks for carrying commercial network programs. sites in 2005, About.com has 29.3 million average
Network compensation has declined at all stations over monthly unique visitors in the United States (per Nielsen
the past several years and will eventually be eliminated. NetRatings) and 42.6 million average monthly unique

visitors worldwide (per About internal metrics). OverFor each of our analog television stations except for
500 topical advisors or ‘‘Guides’’ write about more thanKAUT-TV, we also operate a digital television station. All
57,000 topics and have generated over 1.2 million piecesof our digital stations currently have channels in the
of original content. About.com does not charge aUHF band, and, at present, all simultaneously broadcast
subscription fee for access to its Web site. It generatessubstantially the same programs (except for some local
revenues through display advertising relevant to theweather or news programming) as the corresponding
adjacent content, cost-per-click advertising (sponsoredanalog stations. On February 17, 2009, operators of
links in which About.com is paid when a user clicks ontelevision stations must shut down their analog stations
the ad) and e-commerce (including sales lead generation).and operate their digital television stations only, using

either the channels on which the digital stations currently
operate or other channels designated by the FCC.
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Computing & Technology

Find the Right PC

Notebooks PCs

Desktop PCs

PC Hardware Basics

DIY Tutorials

Monitors

CD/DVD Drives

Video Cards

Hard Drives

PC Audio

Memory

Processors

Motherboards

Cases, PSUs and Cooling

Buyer’s Guide

Before You Buy
Top Picks

Find Your Perfect
Computer

Budget Laptop
Computers

Budget Desktop
Computers

Product Reviews

Tools

Compare Prices

Find a Job

Search Go

PC Hardware / Reviews

Top 5 Budget Desktop PCs
Guide Picks

From Mark Kyrnin
Your Guide to PC Hardware / Reviews.
FREE Newsletter. Sign Up Now!

1)   Compaq Presario SR1630NX
The top choice goes to the Compaq Presario for its mix of features and 
upgradabe capabilities. The system uses the powerful AMD Athlon 64 3500+ 
processor giving it good performance and future 64-bit software support. It 
features 512MB of PC3200 DDR memory, 200GB hard drive and 16x DVD+/-RW 
DL burner with Lightscrive. Those who want to play PC games will be glad of the 
PCI-Express graphics slot. All of this plus the excellent software package from 
Compaq make it a solid choice.
Read Review

2)   eMachines T6412
The eMachines T6412 is very close in specifications to the Compaq system. 
Rather than using the Athlon 64 3500+, it uses a slightly slower 3400+ but this is 
still plenty for most of today's applications and games. It features a PCI-Express 
graphics slot, 512MB of PC3200 DDR memory and 16x DVD+/-RW DL burner. It 
also comes with some stereo speakers although they could use improvement. 
While the features are similar, the price is slightly lower than the Compaq.
Read Review      Manufacturer's Site

3)   eMachines 
T6412
Feature for feature, 
the HP Pavilion 
a1210n is almost 
identical to the 
Compaq. AMD Athlon 
64 3500+. 512MB 
PC3200 DDR 
memory, 16x 
DVD+/-RW DL with 
Lightscribe and 
PCI-Express graphics 
expansion slot are all 
in here. It even has 
the same software 
package as found on 
the Compaq system. So why does the a1210n rank third? The price of the HP system is higher than the 

similar equipped Compaq system which pushes it down the list
Read Review .

PC Hardware / Reviews

Essentials

What Computer Should I 
Buy?

Notebook PCs Buyer's 
Guide

Best Budget Notebook 
PCs

Desktop PC Buyer's 
Guide

Best Budget DesktopPCs

Dell Desktop PCS
 
New Desktop Computer
 
AMD Barebone Systems
 
Computer Systems
 
AMD Athlon Computers

Comp Reviews Offers

what are offers?

Topics

10/28/05 - Finding a budget desktop computer is 
a bit more difficult these days. The number of 
companies offering desktops for the budget 
market has decreased dramatically. This is why 
I've adjusted the criteria to be considered a 
budget desktop PC to be priced at under $600. If 
the system includes a monitor, that price 
maximum is increased to $750. With this in mind, 
here are my latest picks for the best budget 
desktop computer systems based on my 
research and experience. 

About Computing & Technology PC Hardware / Reviews Desktop PCs Budget Desktop PCs
Budget Desktop Computer Systems

> > > > >You are here:

Advertisement

Get your no-obligation
quote now.

Click for

2-minute quote

*Residents of N. CA, NV and UT only

Compare Prices

Sponsored Links

Desktop Computer
Browse & Compare HP Desktop PCs. Up To $200 
savings on select models.
www.hp.com

Dell™ Desktops
$499 Dell Desktop ($599 pre mail-in Rebate) + Free 
Flat Panel Upgrade!
www.Dell.com

Cheap Desktop Computers
Great Prices on Name Brand Desktop Systems! 
HP/Compaq, IBM & More
www.tigerdirect.com

Stay up to date!

Email to a friend

Print this page

Suggested Reading

Find the Right Computer
Before You Buy: PC 
Systems
CRT vs. LCD
How to Buy a New PC

Related Guide Picks

Best Budget Video Cards
Best Mainstream Desktop 
PCs
Best Ultimate Performance 
PCs

Most Popular

DVD Burners
Performance 3D Video 
Cards
Budget Notebook PCs
19-inch LCD Monitors
Notebook PC Buyer's 
Guide

Most Popular

Computer Peripherals
Printers / Scanners
Focus on PC Support
Mobile Office Technology
Palmtops / PDAs

Relevant
display ads

E-commerce/
Lead generation

Cost-per-click ads



8

Laws’’). The Environmental Laws impose effluent andFOREST PRODUCTS INVESTMENTS AND
OTHER JOINT VENTURES emission limitations and require Malbaie and Madison

to obtain, and operate in compliance with the
We have ownership interests in one newsprint mill and conditions of, permits and other governmental
one mill producing supercalendered paper, a high authorizations (‘‘Governmental Authorizations’’).
finish paper used in some magazines and preprinted Malbaie and Madison follow policies and operate
inserts, which is a higher-value grade than newsprint monitoring programs designed to ensure compliance
(the ‘‘Forest Products Investments’’), as well as in with applicable Environmental Laws and Governmental
DTC, NESV and Metro Boston. These investments Authorizations and to minimize exposure to
are accounted for under the equity method and environmental liabilities. Various regulatory authorities
reported in ‘‘Investments in Joint Ventures’’ in our periodically review the status of the operations of
Consolidated Balance Sheets. For additional Malbaie and Madison. Based on the foregoing, we
information on our investments, see Note 5 of the believe that Malbaie and Madison are in substantial
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. compliance with such Environmental Laws and

Governmental Authorizations.Forest Products Investments
We have a 49% equity interest in a Canadian Other Joint Ventures
newsprint company, Donohue Malbaie Inc. We own an interest of approximately 17% in NESV,
(‘‘Malbaie’’). The other 51% is owned by Abitibi- which owns the Boston Red Sox, Fenway Park and
Consolidated (‘‘Abitibi’’), a global manufacturer of approximately 80% of New England Sports Network,
paper. Malbaie purchases pulp from Abitibi and a regional cable sports network.
manufactures newsprint from this raw material on the

We and Discovery Communications, Inc. own andpaper machine it owns within the Abitibi paper mill at
operate DTC, a digital cable television channel. WeClermont, Quebec. Malbaie is wholly dependent upon
own a 50% interest in DTC.  DTC is a non-fictionAbitibi for its pulp. In 2005, Malbaie produced
channel that offers documentary programming on219,000 metric tons of newsprint, of which 97,000
recent history and newsworthy events.tons or approximately 45% were sold to us, with the

balance sold to Abitibi for resale. In March 2005, we acquired a 49% interest in Metro
Boston, which publishes a free daily newspaperWe have a 40% equity interest in a partnership
catering to young professionals in the Greater Bostonoperating a supercalendered paper mill in Madison,
area.Maine, Madison Paper Industries (‘‘Madison’’).

Madison purchases the majority of its wood from local
suppliers, mostly under long-term contracts. In 2005, RAW MATERIALS
Madison produced 196,000 metric tons, of which

The primary raw materials we use are newsprint and21,000 tons or approximately 11% were sold to us.
supercalendered paper. We purchase newsprint from a

Malbaie and Madison are subject to comprehensive number of North American producers. A significant
environmental protection laws, regulations and orders portion of such newsprint is purchased from Abitibi,
of provincial, federal, state and local authorities of North America’s largest producer of newsprint.
Canada or the United States (the ‘‘Environmental
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In 2005 and 2004, we used the following types and quantities of paper (all amounts in metric tons):

Coated,
Supercalendered and

Newsprint Other Paper

2005 2004 2005 2004

The New York Times Media Group1,2 288,000 298,000 30,100 26,200
New England Media Group1,2 112,000 125,000 4,900 5,200
Regional Media Group1 84,000 86,000 — —
Total 484,000 509,000 35,000 31,400
1 During 2005 we converted substantially all of our newspapers from 48.8 gram newsprint to 45 gram newsprint. The usage of 45 gram

newsprint in 2005 reduced newsprint consumption by approximately 18,000 tons.
2 The Times and the Globe use coated, supercalendered or other paper for The New York Times Magazine and the Globe’s Sunday Magazine.

The paper used by The New York Times Media Our other newspapers compete for advertising and
circulation with a variety of newspapers and otherGroup, the New England Media Group and the
advertising media in their markets.Regional Media Group was purchased from unrelated

suppliers and related suppliers in which we hold equity NYTimes.com and Boston.com primarily compete
interests (see ‘‘Forest Products Investments’’). with other advertising-supported news and information

Web sites, such as Yahoo! News and CNN.com, and
classified advertising portals, such as Monster.comCOMPETITION
(help-wanted advertising).

Our media properties and investments compete for WQXR-FM competes for listeners primarily with two
advertising and consumers with other media in their all-news commercial radio stations and with
respective markets, including paid and free newspapers, WNYC-FM, a non-commercial station, which features
broadcast, satellite and cable television, broadcast and both news and classical music. It competes for
satellite radio, video-on-demand services, Web sites, advertising revenues with many adult-audience
magazines, direct marketing and the Yellow Pages. commercial radio stations and other media in New

York City and surrounding suburbs.The Times competes for advertising and circulation with
newspapers of general circulation in New York City and All of our television stations compete directly with
its suburbs, national publications such as The Wall Street other television stations in their respective markets and
Journal and USA Today, and other daily and weekly with other video services, such as cable network
newspapers in markets in which it circulates. programming carried on local cable systems,

satellite-to-home systems, and other locally distributedThe IHT’s key competitors include The Wall Street
media and the Internet.Journal’s European and Asian Editions, the Financial

Times, Time, Newsweek International and The About.com competes with large-scale portals and
Economist. Satellite distribution of CNN, CNBC and search sites, such as AOL, Google, MSN, Yahoo! and

Ask Jeeves. About.com also competes with smallerthe BBC adds a broadcast component to the available
targeted Web sites whose content overlaps with that ofglobal sources of English language news, and the Internet
its individual channels, such as WebMD, CNET andprovides additional sources of English language news.
iVillage.The Globe competes for advertising and circulation with
DTC competes with cable channels such as A&E andother daily, weekly and national newspapers distributed in
the History Channel.Boston, its neighboring suburbs and the greater New

England region, including, among others, The Boston NESV competes in the Boston consumer
Herald (daily and Sunday). entertainment market primarily with other professional

sports teams and other forms of live, film and
broadcast entertainment.
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EMPLOYEES

As of December 25, 2005, we had approximately 11,965 full-time equivalent employees.
Employees

The New York Times Media Group 4,800

New England Media Group 2,940

Regional Media Group 2,925

Broadcast Media Group 860

About.com 90

Corporate/Shared Services 350

Total Company 11,965

Labor Relations

Approximately 3,000 full-time equivalent employees of Collective bargaining agreements, covering the
The Times and City & Suburban are represented by following categories of employees, with the expiration
13 unions with 14 labor agreements. Approximately dates noted below, are either in effect or have expired,
2,000 full-time equivalent employees of the Globe are and negotiations for new contracts are ongoing:
represented by 10 unions with 12 labor agreements.

Employee Category Expiration Date

The Times Mailers, electricians, paperhandlers and machinists March 30, 2006
Stereotypers March 30, 2007
Drivers March 30, 2008
Operating engineers May 31, 2008
New York Newspaper Guild (representing non-production employees) March 30, 2011
Typographers March 30, 2016
Pressmen March 30, 2017

City & Suburban Building maintenance employees May 31, 2006
Drivers March 30, 2008

The Globe Boston Mailers Union December 31, 2005
Drivers, engravers, paperhandlers, machinists and garage mechanics December 31, 2004
Technical services group and electricians December 31, 2005
Boston Newspaper Guild (representing non-production employees) December 31, 2005
Typographers December 31, 2006
Warehouse employees December 31, 2007
Pressmen December 31, 2010

The IHT has approximately 350 employees worldwide, 2006. The labor agreements with the Providence
including approximately 240 located in France, whose Newspaper Guild, representing newsroom and circulation
terms and conditions of employment are established by a employees, expire on August 31, 2007.
combination of French National Labor Law, industry-wide Of the 348 full-time employees at The Press Democrat,
collective agreements and company-specific agreements. 134 are represented by four unions. The labor agreements
NYTimes.com and WQXR-FM also have unions with the Newspaper Guild, Pressmen and Typographical
representing some of their employees. unions expire in December 2008, and the labor agreement

with the Teamsters, which represents certain employees inApproximately one-third of the 700 employees of the
the circulation department, expires in April 2007.T&G are represented by four unions. Labor agreements

with three production unions expired or expire on We cannot predict the timing or the outcome of the
October 8, 2005, August 31, 2006 and November 30, various negotiations described above.



11

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our network-affiliated broadcast properties face significantYou should carefully consider the risk factors described
competition that may result in increased audience fragmentationbelow, as well as the other information included in this
that adversely affects advertising revenues.

Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our business, financial
Our network-affiliated broadcast stations facecondition or results of operations could be materially
significant competition. Several developments couldadversely affected by any or all of these risks or by
cause further fragmentation of the television viewingother risks that we currently cannot identify.
audience and therefore increase competition, including:

All of our businesses face substantial competition for advertisers,
• system upgrades and technological advancesand this competition is increasingly intense with, and within, the

digital area. resulting in increased channel capacities on
cable and direct broadcast satellite systems,We are subject to competition for advertising revenues

in our various markets, including from paid and free • the entry of telephone companies into the
newspapers, magazines, broadcast, satellite and cable video distribution market,
television, broadcast and satellite radio, video-on- • the emergence of new portable video
demand services, Web sites, direct marketing and the distribution platforms, and
Yellow Pages. Competition affects our ability to attract

• the availability of network programming on theand retain advertisers and to maintain or increase
Internet and through video-on-demand services.advertising rates.

This fragmentation may adversely affect our televisionCompetition for advertising revenue is increasingly
stations’ ability to sell advertising.intense with, and within, the digital area, where the
Regulatory developments may intensify the competitive market.popularity of the Internet and low barriers to entry
Changes in the regulatory and technologicalhave led to a wide variety of alternatives available to
environment are bringing about a global consolidationadvertisers and consumers. As media audiences
of media companies and convergence among variousfragment, we expect advertisers to re-allocate a portion
forms of media. The FCC is currently consideringof their advertising budgets to nontraditional media,
changes to its media ownership rules, which couldsuch as Web sites and search engines, which can offer
either broaden or continue to restrict our opportunitiesmore measurable returns than traditional print media
to invest in additional broadcast stations. Thesethrough, among other things, pay-for-performance and
changes could also cause us to face increasedkeyword-targeted Internet advertising. Also, we may
competition from other media entities.compete with companies that sell products and services

online because these companies are trying to attract Decreases, or slow growth, in circulation adversely affects our
circulation revenues and also our advertising revenues.users to their Web sites directly to search for
Circulation is another significant source of revenue forinformation about products and services.
us. In recent years, we, along with the newspaperIn recent years, Web sites dedicated to help wanted,
industry as a whole, have experienced difficultyreal estate and automobile sales have become
increasing circulation volume and revenues because of,significant competitors of our newspapers and Web
among other things, competition from other forms ofsites for classified advertising, and entities with a larger
media (often free to the user), particularly the Internet,Internet presence are entering the classified market,
and the declining frequency of regular newspaperheightening the risk of continued erosion. We may
buying, particularly among young people, whoexperience greater competition from specialized Web
increasingly rely on nontraditional media as a source ofsites in other areas, such as travel and entertainment
news.advertising. Although the amount of advertising on our

own Web sites has been increasing, we may experience A prolonged decline in circulation copies would have a
a decline in advertising revenues if we are unable to material effect on the rate and volume of advertising
attract advertising to our Web sites in sufficient revenues (as rates reflect circulation and readership,
volume or at rates comparable to print rates. among other factors). It could also affect our ability to
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Our potential inability to execute cost-control measuresinstitute circulation price increases for our print
successfully could result in total costs and expenses that areproducts. To maintain our circulation base, we may
greater than expected.

incur additional costs, and we cannot assure you that
We have taken steps to lower our expenses by reducingwe will be able to recover these costs through increased
staff and employee benefits and implementing general

circulation and advertising revenues.
cost-control measures. If we do not achieve expected

Negative economic conditions in our principal markets would savings as a result of these steps or if our operating
adversely affect our advertising revenues. costs increase as a result of our growth strategy, our

total costs and expenses may be greater thanNational and local economic conditions, particularly in
anticipated. Although we believe that appropriate stepsthe New York City and Boston metropolitan regions,
have been taken to implement cost-control efforts, ifaffect the levels of our retail, national and classified
not managed properly, such efforts may affect theadvertising revenue. For example, difficult economic
quality of our products and our ability to generateconditions in the New England region have
future revenue. In addition, reductions in staff andcontributed to lower levels of advertising at our
employee benefits could adversely affect our ability toproperties there. Future negative economic conditions
attract and retain key employees.in this and other principal markets would adversely

affect our level of advertising revenues. The price of newsprint has historically been volatile, and a
significant increase would have an adverse effect on our

Our largest newspaper properties are dependent on national operating results.
advertising.

The cost of raw materials, of which newsprint is the
A significant portion of advertising revenues for our major component, represented 11% of our total costs
largest newspaper properties is from national in 2005. The price of newsprint has historically been
advertising. As a result, events that affect national volatile and, in recent years, has increased.
advertisers, such as structural changes and challenges to Consolidation in the North American newsprint
their traditional business models, may change the level industry has reduced the number of suppliers. Overall
of our advertising revenues. Increased consolidation newsprint supply has declined as a result of paper mill
among major national and retail advertisers has closures and conversions to other grades of paper,
depressed, and may continue to depress, the level of which in turn has increased the likelihood of future
our advertising revenue. price increases. Although we have adopted measures to

reduce consumption, such as converting to lighter-
The success of our business depends substantially on our

weight newsprint, reducing page width where practicalreputation as a provider of quality journalism and content in
and managing waste through technologyprint, digital and broadcast.
enhancements, our operating results would be adverselyWe believe that our products have excellent reputations
affected if newsprint prices increased significantly.for quality journalism and content. This reputation is
A significant portion of our employees are unionized, and ourbased in part on consumer perceptions as to a variety
results could be adversely affected if labor negotiations were toof subjective qualities and could be damaged by
restrict our ability to maximize the efficiency of our operations.

incidents that erode consumer trust. To the extent
A significant portion of our work force is unionized.consumers perceive the quality of our content to be
As a result, we are required to negotiate the wages,less reliable, our ability to attract readers and
salaries, benefits, staffing levels and other terms withadvertisers may be hindered.
many of our employees collectively. Although we have

The proliferation of nontraditional media, largely in place long-term contracts for a substantial portion
available at no cost, challenges the traditional media of our unionized work force, our results could be
model, in which quality journalism has primarily been adversely affected if future labor negotiations were to
supported by print advertising revenues. If consumers restrict our ability to maximize the efficiency of our
fail to differentiate our content from other content operations. In addition, if we were to experience labor
providers, on the Internet or otherwise, we may unrest, our ability to produce and deliver our most
experience a decline in revenues. significant products could be impaired.
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We continue to develop new products and services for evolving acquisitions may require the incurrence of debt or the
markets. There can be no assurance of the success of these issuance of additional stock.
efforts due to a number of factors, some of which are beyond
our control. Our Class B stock is principally held by descendants of Adolph S.

Ochs, through a family trust, and this control could createThere are substantial uncertainties associated with our conflicts of interest or inhibit potential changes of control.
efforts to develop new products and services for

We have two classes of stock: Class A Common Stockevolving markets, and substantial investments may be
and Class B Common Stock. Holders of Class Arequired. The success of these ventures will be
Common Stock are entitled to elect 30% of the Boarddetermined by our efforts, and in some cases by those
of Directors and to vote, with Class B commonof our partners, fellow investors and licensees. Initial
stockholders, on the reservation of shares for equitytimetables for the introduction and development of
grants, certain material acquisitions and the ratificationnew products or services may not be achieved, and
of the selection of the Company’s auditors. Holders ofprice and profitability targets may not prove feasible.
Class B Common Stock are entitled to elect theExternal factors, such as the development of
remainder of the Board and to vote on all othercompetitive alternatives, rapid technological change,
matters. Our Class B Common Stock is principallyregulatory changes and shifting market preferences,
held by descendants of Adolph S. Ochs, whomay cause new markets to move in unanticipated
purchased The Times in 1896. A family trust holdsdirections.
88% of the Class B Common Stock. As a result, the

We may buy or sell different properties as a result of our trust has the ability to elect 70% of the Board of
evaluation of our portfolio of products, which may affect our Directors and to direct the outcome of any matter that
costs, revenues, profitability and financial position.

does not require a vote of the Class A Common Stock.
From time to time, we evaluate the various Under the terms of the trust agreement, trustees are
components of our portfolio of products and may, as a directed to retain the Class B Common Stock held in
result, buy or sell different properties. Such trust and to vote such stock against any merger, sale of
acquisitions or divestitures may affect our costs, assets or other transaction pursuant to which control
revenues, profitability and financial position. We may of The Times passes from the trustees, unless they
also consider the acquisition of specific properties or unanimously determine that the primary objective of
businesses that fall outside our traditional lines of the trust can be achieved better by the implementation
business if we deem such properties sufficiently of such transaction. Because this concentrated control
attractive. From time to time, we make non-controlling could discourage others from initiating any potential
minority investments in public and private entities. We merger, takeover or other change of control transaction
may have limited voting rights and an inability to that may otherwise be beneficial to our businesses, the
influence the direction of such entities. In addition, if market price of our Class A Common Stock could be
the value of the companies in which we invest adversely affected.
declines, we may be required to take a charge to

Regulatory developments, particularly with respect to ourearnings. broadcast properties, may result in increased costs.

Each year, we evaluate the various components of our All of our operations are subject to government
portfolio in connection with annual impairment regulation in the jurisdictions in which they operate.
testing, and we may record a charge if the financial Changing regulations may result in increased costs that
statement carrying value of an asset is in excess of its adversely affect results.
estimated fair value. Fair value could be adversely Our broadcast stations in particular are subject to
affected by changing market conditions within our regulation by the FCC, and operate under FCC
industry. licenses that are generally granted for a period of eight

years. Nine of our eleven stations are currently seekingAcquisitions involve risks, including difficulties in
renewal of their broadcast licenses or are scheduled tointegrating acquired operations, diversions of
file renewal applications within the next year. Themanagement resources and other unanticipated
FCC substantially regulates radio and television stationproblems and liabilities. In addition, financing
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operations in many significant ways, including, but not occupy in mid-2007. As of December 25, 2005, we
limited to, employment practices, political advertising, had incurred capital expenditures of approximately
indecency and obscenity, sponsorship identification, $425 million related to the development of the
children’s programming, issue-responsive programming, building, of which $184 million was incurred by our
closed captioning, signal carriage, ownership, and development partner, and we currently expect to incur
engineering, transmissions, antenna and other technical total capital expenditures of $1,001 to $1,068 million,
matters. Changes in FCC regulation, the failure of the of which $400 to $429 million will be paid by our
FCC to grant a station’s renewal application or the development partner. We have funded, and will
imposition of conditions on a renewal could adversely continue to fund, our share of capital contributions
affect the profitability of our broadcast business. from cash from operations and external financing

sources. Our development partner’s share is being
All television stations are required to construct digital funded through capital contributions and a
television (‘‘DTV’’) facilities, and eight of our nine construction loan. For a detailed description of the
television stations (all but KAUT) have constructed financing arrangements, see ‘‘Management’s Discussion
and are operating such facilities. Stations may provide and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
high definition programming (‘‘HDTV’’) and/or digital Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—New
‘‘multicast’’ services (multiple streams of programming) Headquarters Building’’ and Note 17 of the Notes to
on their DTV channels. Uncertainty associated with the Consolidated Financial Statements. Under the
rules governing cable carriage of HDTV and multicast terms of the building operating agreement and
services may affect the future profitability of our digital financing arrangements, a lien related to the
television operations. Digital stations are unlikely to construction loan will be released from our
produce significant additional revenue until consumers condominium units upon substantial completion of the
have purchased a substantial number of digital building’s core and shell but will remain upon our
television receivers. development partner’s condominium units until the

construction loan is repaid in full. If our developmentOn February 17, 2009, each television station will be
partner is unable to obtain other financing to repayrequired to retire its analog channel and operate as a
the construction loan, we must lend themdigital facility exclusively. The stations expect to
approximately $119.5 million to pay a portion of theoperate on their assigned digital channels, except
construction loan balance.WHNT, which is operating on a temporary allocation

provided by the FCC. Permanent channels will be Although the construction of our new headquarters is
determined within the framework of a FCC licensing currently on schedule and within budget, due to the
process prior to the 2009 conversion date. It remains uncertainties inherent in major construction projects, it
uncertain how the transition to DTV will affect our is possible that construction of the new building may
broadcast operations. not be completed within the expected time frame

and/or anticipated budget. In addition, we may have
Due to the wide geographic scope of our operations,

unanticipated capital expenditure requirements in the
the IHT is subject to regulation by political entities

future. If we cannot obtain capital from increases in
throughout the world.

our cash flow from operating activities, we may incur
increased borrowing costs. If financing is not availableIf our capital expenditures, related to our new headquarters or

otherwise, exceed our projections, we may require additional on terms acceptable to us, our growth, financial
funding, which, if not available on terms acceptable to us, could condition and results of operations could suffer
adversely affect our growth, financial condition and results of

materially.operations.

We are in the process of constructing our new
headquarters building, which we currently expect to
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

The general character, location, terms of occupancy and approximate size of our principal plants and other
materially important properties as of December 25, 2005, are listed below.

Approximate Area in Approximate Area in
General Character of Property Square Feet (Owned) Square Feet (Leased)

News Media Group
Printing plants, business and editorial offices, garages and warehouse space
located in:

New York, N.Y. — 865,8001

Flushing, N.Y. — 515,0002

Edison, N.J. — 1,300,0003

Boston, Mass. 703,217 20,261

Billerica, Mass. 290,000 —

Other locations 1,600,600 473,320

Broadcast Media Group
Business offices, studios and transmitters at various locations 339,823 14,545

About.com — 21,133

Total 2,933,640 3,210,059

1 Includes 714,000 square feet in our existing New York City headquarters, at 229 West 43rd St., which we sold and leased back on
December 27, 2004.

2 We are leasing a 31-acre site in Flushing, N.Y., where our printing and distribution plant is located, and have the option to purchase the
property at any time prior to the end of the lease in 2019.

3 The Edison production and distribution facility is occupied pursuant to a long-term lease with renewal and purchase options.

We sold our existing New York City headquarters on contain approximately 1.54 million gross square feet of
December 27, 2004. Pursuant to the terms of the sale space, of which 825,000 gross square feet will be
agreement, we are leasing back our existing owned by us. For additional information on the new
headquarters through 2007, when we expect to occupy headquarters, including anticipated costs, see Note 17
our new headquarters, currently being constructed in of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
the Times Square area. The new headquarters will

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

There are various legal actions that have arisen in the reviewing such actions with our legal counsel that the
ordinary course of business and are now pending ultimate liability that might result from such actions
against us. Such actions are usually for amounts greatly will not have a material adverse effect on our
in excess of the payments, if any, that may be required consolidated financial statements.
to be made. It is the opinion of management after
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

Not applicable.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
Employed By

Name Age Registrant Since Recent Position(s) Held As Of February 23, 2006

Corporate Officers

Arthur Sulzberger, Jr. 54 1978 Chairman (since 1997) and Publisher of The
Times (since 1992)

Janet L. Robinson 55 1983 President and Chief Executive Officer since
2005; Executive Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer (2004); Senior Vice President,
Newspaper Operations (2001 to 2004);
President and General Manager of The Times
(1996 to 2004)

Michael Golden 56 1984 Vice Chairman (since 1997); Publisher of the
IHT (since 2003); Senior Vice President (1997
to 2004)

Leonard P. Forman 60 19741 Executive Vice President (since 2004) and Chief
Financial Officer (since 2002); Senior Vice
President (2001 to 2004); President and Chief
Executive Officer, The New York Times
Company Magazine Group, Inc. (1998 to 2001)

Martin A. Nisenholtz 50 1995 Senior Vice President, Digital Operations (since
2005); Chief Executive Officer, New York
Times Digital (1999 to 2005)

David K. Norton 50 2006 Senior Vice President, Human Resources (since
February 15, 2006); Vice President, Human
Resources, Starwood Hotels & Resorts, and
Executive Vice President, Starwood Hotels &
Resorts Worldwide, Inc. (2000 to February 14,
2006)

Solomon B. Watson IV 61 1974 Senior Vice President (since 1996) and Chief
Legal Officer (since 2006); General Counsel
(1989 to 2005); Secretary (2000 to 2002)

R. Anthony Benten 42 1989 Vice President (since 2003); Treasurer (since
2001); Assistant Treasurer (1997 to 2001)

Rhonda L. Brauer 46 1992 Secretary (since 2002), Corporate Governance
Officer (since 2006) and Senior Counsel (since
1994)

Jennifer C. Dolan 59 1979 Vice President, Forest Products (since 2002);
Executive Director, Forest Products (2000 to
2002)

James C. Lessersohn 50 1987 Vice President, Finance and Corporate
Development (since 2001); Vice President and
Treasurer (1999 to 2001)
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Employed By
Name Age Registrant Since Recent Position(s) Held As Of February 23, 2006

Catherine J. Mathis 52 1997 Vice President, Corporate Communications
(since 2000); Director, Investor Relations (1997
to 2000)

Kenneth A. Richieri 54 1983 Vice President (since 2002) and General
Counsel (since 2006); Deputy General Counsel
(2001 to 2005); Vice President and General
Counsel, New York Times Digital (1999 to
2003)

Stuart P. Stoller 50 1996 Vice President (since 1996), Process Engineering
(since 2005) and Corporate Controller (since
1996)

David A. Thurm 52 1982 Chief Information Officer (since 2004); Vice
President, Real Estate Development (2000 to
2004); Chief Operating Officer, New York
Times Digital (1999 to 2000)

Operating Unit Executives

P. Steven Ainsley 53 1982 President and Chief Operating Officer, Regional
Media Group (since 2003); Senior Vice
President, Regional Media Group (1999-2002)

Robert H. Eoff 56 1969 President, Broadcast Media Group (since 2004);
Vice President, Broadcast Media Group (1999
to 2004); President and General Manager,
WREG-TV (1995 to 2004)

Richard H. Gilman 55 1983 Publisher of The Globe (since 1999)

Scott H. Heekin-Canedy 54 19872 President and General Manager of The Times
(since 2004); Senior Vice President, Circulation
of The Times (1999 to 2004)

1 Mr. Forman left the Company in 1986 and returned in 1996.
2 Mr. Heekin-Canedy left the Company in 1989 and returned in 1992.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

The additional information required by this item appears on page F-61 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(a) Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of securities remaining

available for future issuance under
Number of securities to be issued Weighted average exercise equity compensation plans

upon exercise of outstanding price of outstanding options, (excluding securities reflected
Plan category options, warrants and rights warrants and rights in column (a))

(a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders
Stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,200,0001 $41 5,880,0002

Employee Stock Purchase Plan . . . . . . . . — — 7,992,0003

Stock awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 633,0004 — 644,0005

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,833,000 — 14,516,000
Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . None None None

1 Includes shares of Class A stock to be issued upon exercise of stock options granted under our 1991 Executive Stock Incentive Plan (the ‘‘NYT
Stock Plan’’), our Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan and our 2004 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan (together, the
‘‘Directors’ Plans’’).

2 Includes shares of Class A stock available for future stock options to be granted under the NYT Stock Plan and the 2004 Non-Employee
Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan (the ‘‘2004 Directors’ Plan’’). The 2004 Directors’ Plan provides for the issuance of up to 500,000 shares of
Class A stock in the form of stock options or restricted stock awards. The amount reported for stock options includes the aggregate number of
securities remaining (approximately 400,000 as of December 25, 2005) for future issuances under that plan.

3 Includes shares of Class A stock available for future issuance under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
4 Includes shares of Class A stock to be issued upon conversion of restricted stock units and retirement units under the NYT Stock Plan.
5 Includes shares of Class A stock available for stock awards under the NYT Stock Plan.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
On November 15, 2005, we issued 4,560 shares of Stock upon the conversion of such Class B shares into
Class A Common Stock to a holder of 4,560 shares of Class A shares. The conversions, which were in
Class B Common Stock upon the conversion of such accordance with our Certificate of Incorporation, did
Class B shares into Class A shares. On December 19, not involve a public offering and were exempt from
2005, we issued 1,490 shares of Class A Common registration pursuant to Section 3(a)(9) of the
Stock to a holder of 1,490 shares of Class B Common Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities1

Maximum Number (or
Total Number of Shares of Approximate Dollar Value)

Class A Common Stock of Shares of Class A Common
Total Number of Shares of Average Price Paid Per Purchased as Part of Publicly Stock that May Yet Be

Class A Common Stock Share of Class A Common Announced Plans or Purchased Under the Plans
Purchased Stock Programs or Programs

Period (a) (b) (c) (d)

September 26, 2005–
October 30, 2005 127,506 $28.46 127,000 $151,741,000

October 31, 2005–
November 27, 2005 100,528 $27.79 100,200 $148,956,000

November 28, 2005–
December 25, 2005 156,144 $27.28 156,000 $144,701,000

Total for the fourth quarter of 2005 384,1782 $27.80 383,200 $144,701,000

1 Except as otherwise noted, all purchases were made pursuant to our publicly announced share repurchase program. On April 13, 2004, our Board of Directors
(the ‘‘Board’’) authorized repurchases in an amount up to $400 million. As of February 10, 2006, we had authorization from the Board to repurchase an
amount of up to approximately $142 million of our Class A Common Stock. The Board has authorized us to purchase shares from time to time as market
conditions permit. There is no expiration date with respect to this authorization.

2 Includes 978 shares withheld from employees to satisfy tax withholding obligations upon the vesting of restricted shares awarded under the NYT Stock Plan. The
shares were repurchased by us pursuant to the terms of the plan and not pursuant to our publicly announced share repurchase program.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The information required by this item appears on pages F-1 to F-2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The information required by this item appears on pages F-3 to F-20 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The information required by this item appears on pages F-20 to 21 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The information required by this item appears on pages F-22 to F-54 and pages F-60 to F-61 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS
ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

Not applicable.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Janet L. Robinson, our Chief Executive Officer, and December 25, 2005. Deloitte & Touche LLP, our
Leonard P. Forman, our Chief Financial Officer, have independent registered public accounting firm, has
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls audited management’s assessment of, and the
and procedures as of December 25, 2005. Based on effectiveness of, our internal control over financial
such evaluation, each of Ms. Robinson and reporting. Management’s report and the report of
Mr. Forman concluded that our disclosure controls and Deloitte & Touche LLP appear on pages F-57 to F-59
procedures were effective to ensure that the material of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the
information required to be disclosed by us in the captions ‘‘Management’s Report on Internal Control
reports that we file or submit under the Securities Over Financial Reporting’’ and ‘‘Report of
Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on
summarized and reported within the time periods Internal Control Over Financial Reporting’’ and are
specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. incorporated herein by reference.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Financial Reporting There have been no changes in our internal control
Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of over financial reporting during the quarter ended
2002, we have included, as part of this Annual Report December 25, 2005, that have materially affected or
on Form 10-K, a report of management’s assessment of are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
the effectiveness of our internal controls as of control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.

In addition to the information set forth under the Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of
caption ‘‘Executive Officers of the Registrant’’ in Part I Stockholders.
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the information The Board has adopted a code of ethics that applies
required by this item is incorporated by reference to not only to our CEO and senior financial officers, as
the sections titled ‘‘Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership required by the SEC, but also to our Chairman and
Reporting Compliance,’’ ‘‘Proposal Number 1— Vice Chairman. The current version of such code of
Election of Directors,’’ ‘‘Interest of Directors in Certain ethics can be found on the Corporate Governance
Transactions of the Company,’’ and ‘‘Audit Committee section of our Web site, http://www.nytco.com.
Financial Experts’’ in the section titled ‘‘Board of
Directors and Corporate Governance,’’ of our Proxy

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item is incorporated but only up to and not including the section titled
by reference to the sections titled ‘‘Directors’ ‘‘Performance Presentation,’’ of our Proxy Statement
Compensation,’’ ‘‘Directors’ and Officers’ Liability for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Insurance’’ and ‘‘Compensation of Executive Officers,’’

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

In addition to the information set forth under the ‘‘Principal Holders of Common Stock,’’ ‘‘Security
caption ‘‘Equity Compensation Plan Information’’ in Ownership of Management and Directors’’ and ‘‘The
Item 5 above, the information required by this item is 1997 Trust,’’ of our Proxy Statement for the 2006
incorporated by reference to the sections titled Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The information required by this item is incorporated and not including the section titled ‘‘Performance
by reference to the sections titled ‘‘Interest of Directors Presentation,’’ of our Proxy Statement for the 2006
in Certain Transactions of the Company,’’ and Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
‘‘Compensation of Executive Officers,’’ but only up to

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item is incorporated and Procedures,’’ but only up to and not including the
by reference to the section titled ‘‘Proposal section titled ‘‘Recommendation and Vote Required’’ of
Number 2—Selection of Auditors,’’ beginning with the our Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of
section titled ‘‘Audit Committee’s Pre-Approval Policies Stockholders.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(A) Documents Filed as Part of This Report

(1) Financial Statements

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are set forth on
pages F-22 to F-54. The reports of Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
dated February 23, 2006, are set forth on page F-56 and page F-58 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Supplemental Schedules

The following additional consolidated financial information is filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements set forth on pages F-22 to F-54.
Schedules not included with this additional consolidated financial information have been omitted either because
they are not applicable or because the required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements on
the aforementioned pages.

Page

Consolidated Schedules for the Three Years Ended December 25, 2005:
II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . S-1

Separate financial statements and supplemental schedules of associated companies accounted for by the equity
method are omitted in accordance with the provisions of Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X.

(3) Exhibits

An exhibit index has been filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by
reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 23, 2006

(Registrant)
THE NEW YORK TIMES COMPANY

By: /s/ RHONDA L. BRAUER

Rhonda L. Brauer, Secretary and
Corporate Governance Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

ARTHUR SULZBERGER, JR. Chairman, Director February 23, 2006

JANET L. ROBINSON Chief Executive Officer, President and February 23, 2006
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

MICHAEL GOLDEN Vice Chairman and Director February 23, 2006

JOHN F. AKERS Director February 23, 2006

BRENDA C. BARNES Director February 23, 2006

RAUL E. CESAN Director February 23, 2006

LYNN G. DOLNICK Director February 23, 2006

LEONARD P. FORMAN Executive Vice President and Chief February 23, 2006
Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer)

WILLIAM E. KENNARD Director February 23, 2006

JAMES M. KILTS Director February 23, 2006

DAVID E. LIDDLE Director February 23, 2006

ELLEN R. MARRAM Director February 23, 2006

THOMAS MIDDELHOFF Director February 23, 2006

HENRY B. SCHACHT Director February 23, 2006

STUART P. STOLLER Vice President, Process Engineering and February 23, 2006
Corporate Controller (Principal Accounting
Officer)

CATHY J. SULZBERGER Director February 23, 2006

DOREEN A. TOBEN Director February 23, 2006
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

As of and for the Years Ended

December 25, December 26, December 28, December 29, December 30,
(In thousands, except per share and employee data) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Revenues $ 3,372,775 $ 3,303,642 $ 3,227,200 $ 3,079,007 $ 3,015,958
Total expenses 3,014,667 2,793,689 2,687,650 2,534,139 2,641,555
Gain on sale of assets 122,946 — — — —
Operating profit 481,054 509,953 539,550 544,868 374,403
Interest expense, net 49,168 41,760 44,757 45,435 47,199
Income from continuing operations before income taxes

and minority interest 446,104 476,645 499,847 492,103 339,676
Income from continuing operations 265,605 292,557 302,655 299,747 202,222
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net

of income taxes (5,852) — — — —
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes – Magazine

Group — — — — 242,450
Net income 259,753 292,557 302,655 299,747 444,672

BALANCE SHEET DATA
Property, plant and equipment – net $ 1,468,403 $ 1,367,384 $ 1,275,128 $ 1,233,658 $ 1,181,221
Total assets 4,533,037 3,949,857 3,801,716 3,633,842 3,438,684
Total debt, including commercial paper and capital lease

obligations 1,396,380 1,058,847 955,302 958,249 759,537
Common stockholders’ equity 1,516,248 1,400,542 1,392,242 1,269,307 1,149,653

PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK
Basic earnings per share

Income from continuing operations $ 1.83 $ 1.98 $ 2.01 $ 1.98 $ 1.29
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle,

net of income taxes (.04) — — — —
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes –

Magazine Group — — — — 1.54

Net income $ 1.79 $ 1.98 $ 2.01 $ 1.98 $ 2.83

Diluted earnings per share
Income from continuing operations $ 1.82 $ 1.96 $ 1.98 $ 1.94 $ 1.26
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle,

net of income taxes (.04) — — — —
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes – Magazine

Group — — — — 1.52

Net income $ 1.78 $ 1.96 $ 1.98 $ 1.94 $ 2.78

Dividends per share $ .65 $ .61 $ .57 $ .53 $ .49
Common stockholders’ equity per share $ 10.39 $ 9.38 $ 9.11 $ 8.20 $ 7.18

Average Basic Shares Outstanding 145,440 147,567 150,285 151,563 157,082

Average Diluted Shares Outstanding 145,877 149,357 152,840 154,805 160,081

KEY RATIOS
Operating profit to revenues 14% 15% 17% 18% 12%
Return on average common stockholders’ equity 18% 21% 23% 25% 37%
Return on average total assets 6% 8% 8% 8% 13%
Total debt to total capitalization 48% 43% 41% 43% 40%
Current assets to current liabilities .62 .55 .79 .77 .66
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 6.66 8.77 9.24 9.26 6.37

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEES 11,965 12,300 12,400 12,150 12,050

� The Selected Financial Data of the New York Times Company (the ‘‘Company’’) should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation and the Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

� See page F-2 for certain items included in Selected Financial Data. All earnings per share amounts for the items on page F-2 are on a diluted
basis.
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The items below are included in the Selected 2004
Financial Data. There were no items of the type discussed here in

2004.
2005
The items below increased net income by $5.2 million 2003
or $.04 per share. The item below increased net income by $8.5 million

or $.06 per share.
� a $122.9 million pre-tax gain resulting from the

� a $14.1 million pre-tax gain related to a
sales of the Company’s current headquarters reimbursement of remediation expenses at one of
($63.3 million after tax, or $.43 per share) as well the Company’s printing plants.
as property in Florida ($5.0 million after tax, or
$.03 per share). 2002

The item below reduced net income by $7.7 million
� a $57.8 million pre-tax charge ($35.3 million or $.05 per share.

after tax, or $.23 per share) for staff reductions.
� a $12.6 million pre-tax charge for staff reductions.

� a $32.2 million pre-tax charge ($21.9 million
2001after tax, or $.15 per share) related to stock-based
The items below increased net income bycompensation expense. The expense in 2005 is
$150.6 million or $.94 per share.significantly higher than in prior years due to the

Company’s adoption of Financial Accounting � a $412.0 million pre-tax gain ($241.3 million
Standards Board Statement of Financial after tax, or $1.51 per share) resulting from the
Accounting Standards (‘‘FAS’’) No. 123 (revised sale of Golf Digest, Golf Digest Woman, Golf
2004), Share-Based Payment, in 2005. World and Golf World Business (‘‘Magazine

Group’’).
� a $10.5 million pre-tax charge ($5.9 million after

� a $90.4 million pre-tax charge ($53.8 milliontax, or $.04 per share) for costs associated with
after tax, or $.34 per share) for staff reductions.the cumulative effect of a change in accounting

� $42.8 million in amortization expenseprinciple related to the adoption of FASB
($36.9 million after tax, or $.23 per share) thatInterpretation No. (‘‘FIN’’) 47, Accounting for
would not have been expensed if FAS No. 142,Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations—an
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, had beeninterpretation of FASB Statement No. 143.
adopted at the beginning of 2001.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The business model for each of our segments isEXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
summarized below:

Our Business
The News Media Group (consisting of The New YorkWe are a leading media company with a portfolio of
Times Media Group, which includes The New Yorkproperties that serve our customers in print, in
Times (‘‘The Times’’), NYTimes.com, the Internationalbroadcast and online. Our core purpose is to enhance
Herald Tribune (the ‘‘IHT’’) and two New York Citysociety by creating, collecting and distributing
radio stations (see below); the New England Mediahigh-quality news, information and entertainment. We
Group, which includes The Boston Globe (the ‘‘Globe’’),fulfill our mission to be a leader in media by
Boston.com and the Worcester Telegram & Gazette; andmaintaining the highest journalistic standards, bringing

people together in communities of shared interest and the Regional Media Group, which includes 15 daily
adhering to our core principles of integrity, customer newspapers and their related print and digital businesses).
focus, innovation, collaboration and economic vitality. The News Media Group derives advertising revenues
Our strategy is to build a lean, agile and disciplined by offering advertisers a means to promote their
organization that will invigorate growth across our brands, products and services to the buying public in
existing businesses and platforms, create lines of print, online and through radio. The News Media
products in key content areas across multiple mediums Group also derives circulation revenues by offering the
and develop and institutionalize a forward-looking public timely news and editorial materials and
research and development capability. We are advertisements. Other revenues, which make up the
committed to focusing our efforts on strengthening remainder of revenues, primarily consist of revenues
our multiple platforms, creating targeted new products from wholesale delivery operations, news services and
and transforming our advertising and editorial direct marketing. News Media Group revenues in 2005
processes to maximize revenue growth. We also remain by category and percentage share are below.
committed to reducing costs and making our
operations more efficient.

In 2005 we made acquisitions and an investment to
strengthen our multiple platforms (see the ‘‘2005
Events’’ section below).

Our revenues were $3.4 billion in 2005. The
percentage of revenues contributed by segment is
below.

Other
Revenues

7%

Advertising
Revenues

66%

Circulation
Revenues

27%
Broadcast

Media
Group

4%

About.com
1%

News
Media
Group
95%
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The News Media Group’s main operating expenses are 2005 Highlights
employee-related costs and raw materials, primarily Below are highlights for 2005. See the remaining
newsprint. portion of this discussion for more details on the items

discussed below.Beginning in 2005, the results of our two New York
City radio stations, WQXR-FM and WQEW-AM, � Advertising revenues grew approximately 4% in
formerly part of the Broadcast Media Group, are 2005 over 2004, in part due to the acquisition of
included in the results of the News Media Group as About.com. In addition, advertising revenues
part of The New York Times Media Group. increased due to growth in online revenues and

higher print rates, partially offset by lower printBroadcast Media Group (consisting of nine network-
volume.affiliated television stations, including KAUT-TV, which

was acquired in November 2005). The Broadcast Media � Circulation revenues decreased approximately 1%
Group derives almost all of its revenues (98% in 2005) compared with 2004, mainly due to a decrease in
from the sale of commercial time to advertisers. The copies sold at the Globe.
Broadcast Media Group’s main operating expenses are

� Expense growth for 2005 was approximately 8%,
employee-related costs and programming costs. primarily because of staff reduction expenses, the
About.com, acquired in March 2005 (an online consumer acquisition of About.com, and incremental stock-
information provider). About.com generates revenues based compensation expense, due to the adoption
through display advertising relevant to the adjacent of Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’)
content, cost-per-click advertising (sponsored links in Statement of Accounting Standards (‘‘FAS’’)
which About.com is paid when a user clicks on the ad) No. 123-R (revised 2004) Share-Based Payment
and e-commerce (including sales lead generation). (‘‘FAS 123-R’’) (see ‘‘2005 Events’’ section below).
Almost all of its revenues (96% in 2005) are derived In addition, expenses increased due to higher
from the sale of advertisements (display and distribution, outside printing, promotion, and
cost-per-click advertising). Cost-per-click advertising newsprint expense.
accounts for slightly less than 50% of About.com’s

� Net income and diluted earnings per share in
total advertising revenues. About.com does not charge 2005 were $259.8 million and $1.78 per share
a subscription fee for access to its Web site. compared with $292.6 million and $1.96 per
About.com’s main operating expenses are employee- share, respectively, in 2004. Included in net
related costs and content and hosting costs. income and diluted earnings per share are the
Joint Ventures Our long-term strategy is also pursued items discussed in this Annual Report on
through our equity investments, which are: Form 10-K on page F-2, immediately following

the Selected Financial Data.
� a 50% interest in the Discovery Times Channel

(‘‘DTC’’), a digital cable television channel, 2005 Events
� a 49% interest in Metro Boston LLC (‘‘Metro Staff Reductions

Boston’’) (see the ‘‘2005 Events’’ section below), In 2005, we announced plans to reduce our staff by
approximately 700 employees. In 2005, staff reductions

� a 49% interest in a Canadian newsprint company,
resulted in a total pre-tax charge of $57.8 millionDonohue Malbaie Inc. (‘‘Malbaie’’), and a 40%
($35.3 million after tax or $.23 per share). We alsointerest in a partnership, Madison Paper Industries
plan to take a charge of approximately $10 to(‘‘Madison’’), operating a supercalendered paper
$13 million in 2006 for staff reductions announced inmill in Maine, and
2005, most of which will be recorded in the first

� a 16.7% interest in New England Sports Ventures quarter of 2006.
(‘‘NESV’’), which owns the Boston Red Sox,
Fenway Park and approximately 80% of the New
England Sports Network, a regional cable sports
network.
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Acquisitions pre-tax gain of $143.9 million, of which
In November 2005, we acquired KAUT-TV, a UPN $114.5 million ($63.3 million after tax or $.43 per
station in Oklahoma City, for approximately diluted share) was recognized in the first quarter of
$23 million. KAUT-TV, which is located in the same 2005. The remainder of the gain is being deferred and
television market as our station KFOR-TV (a amortized over the lease term in accordance with
‘‘duopoly’’), is a part of the Broadcast Media Group. accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America (‘‘GAAP’’). In addition, we soldIn March 2005, we acquired 100% of the outstanding
property in Sarasota, Fla., which resulted in a pre-taxcommon stock of About, Inc., a leading online
gain in the first quarter of 2005 of $8.4 millionconsumer information provider. The purchase price
($5.0 million after tax or $.03 per diluted share).was approximately $410 million. This acquisition

provides us with strategic benefits, including See Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
diversifying our advertising base and extending our Statements for additional information regarding the
reach among Internet users. About.com is a separate sale of assets.
reportable segment. Adoption of FAS 123-R
In February 2005, we acquired the North Bay Business In December 2004, the FASB issued FAS 123-R.
Journal (‘‘North Bay’’), a weekly publication targeting FAS 123-R is a revision of FAS No. 123, as amended,
business leaders in California’s Sonoma, Napa and Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and
Marin counties, for approximately $3 million. North supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion
Bay is included in the News Media Group as part of No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.
the Regional Media Group. At the beginning of 2005, we adopted FAS 123-R.
See Notes 2, 3 and 16 of the Notes to the Stock-based compensation expense in 2005 was
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional $32.2 million ($21.9 million after tax or $.15 per
information regarding these acquisitions. diluted share).

Investment See Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated
In March 2005, we invested $16.5 million to acquire a Financial Statements for additional information
49% interest in Metro Boston, which publishes a free regarding the adoption of FAS 123-R.
daily newspaper catering to young professionals in the

Trends and UncertaintiesGreater Boston area. Our investment in Metro Boston
We monitor various trends and uncertainties that affectis accounted for under the equity method, and
our revenues and expenses. We consider keytherefore the investment and results of operations are
uncertainties to include advertising and circulationincluded in ‘‘Investments in joint ventures’’ and ‘‘Net
volumes, the fluctuations of which can have a materialincome/(loss) from joint ventures’’ in our Consolidated
effect on our operating results. Variability in the priceBalance Sheet and Statement of Income.
of newsprint or in employee-related expenses can also

The acquisitions and investment above were funded materially affect our operating results.
through a combination of short-term and long-term

Our cash flow from operating activities, our primarydebt.
source of liquidity, is adversely affected when

Sale of Assets advertising and/or circulation volume declines and/or
In the first quarter of 2005, we recognized a the costs to operate our business, particularly
$122.9 million pre-tax gain from the sale of assets. We newsprint and employee-related costs, increase. One of
completed the sale of our current headquarters in New our key management priorities is to anticipate levels of
York City for $175.0 million and entered into a lease advertising and circulation revenues, newsprint prices
for the building with the purchaser/lessor through and employee-related expenses while we manage our
2007, when we expect to occupy our new headquarters businesses to maximize operating profit during
(see Note 17 of the Notes to the Consolidated expanding and contracting economic cycles.
Financial Statements). The sale resulted in a total
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Advertising Revenues industry as a whole, have experienced difficulty
Our advertising revenues, which account for increasing circulation volume and revenues because of,
approximately 68% of revenues, are susceptible to among other things, competition from other forms of
economic swings and are difficult to predict, media, particularly the Internet, and the declining
particularly given the increasing competition we face in frequency of regular newspaper buying, particularly
the markets in which we operate. among young people, who increasingly rely on

nontraditional media as a source of news.Advertising revenues for our largest segment, the News
Media Group, in 2005 were approximately $2.1 billion Expenses
(92% of total Company advertising revenues). The Managing expenses is a key component of our strategy.
News Media Group’s advertising revenues consisted of: We review our expense structure on an ongoing basis

to ensure that we are operating our businesses
� 45% national advertising

effectively. This review focuses on reducing costs by
� 28% classified advertising streamlining our operations, freeing up resources and

achieving cost benefits from productivity gains. In� 24% retail advertising and
2005, our cost-control efforts principally addressed

� 3% other advertising.
employee-related costs and newsprint expense, our

As reflected above, a significant portion of our largest main operating expenses. In 2005, we announced staff
newspapers’ advertising revenues is from national reductions of approximately 700 positions to be
advertising. As a result, events that affect national completed in 2006 and made cost-saving modifications
advertisers, such as structural changes and changes to to certain employee benefit plans. We have also
their traditional business models, may change the level adopted a number of measures to reduce newsprint
of our advertising revenues. Increased consolidation consumption, including converting to lighter-weight
among major national and retail advertisers has paper. We continually monitor newsprint prices, which
depressed, and may continue to depress, the level of are subject to supply and demand market conditions
our advertising revenue. and have increased in recent years.

We are subject to competition for advertising revenues To manage the uncertainties inherent in our businesses,
in our various markets, including from paid and free we prepare monthly forecasts of anticipated results of
newspapers, magazines, broadcast, satellite and cable operations, including expected advertising and
television, broadcast and satellite radio, video-on- circulation revenues and newsprint prices. Actual
demand services, Web sites, direct marketing and the results are closely analyzed to determine if changes are
Yellow Pages. Competition affects our ability to attract required to maximize operating profit, such as
and retain advertisers and to maintain or increase implementing pricing increases, delaying capital
advertising rates. projects or initiating additional cost reduction

measures.Circulation Revenues
Circulation is another significant source of revenue for
us. In recent years, we, along with the newspaper
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2006 Expectations
We have not provided 2006 guidance for earnings, revenue growth or expense growth. Below are certain items
that will affect the financial statements in 2006 as well as guidance on certain key financial measures.

� Because we have a fiscal year that equalizes the number of Sundays, 2006 has an extra week. In the fourth
quarter of 2006, there will be 14 weeks rather than 13.

� We expect that the News Media Group will benefit from higher print and online advertising rates in 2006. At
The Times, we project print rates will rise about 5%, and at the Globe and our Regional Media Group, we
expect print rates to increase approximately 3%.

� The Times raised home-delivery rates in New York and across the country about 4% effective February 6.
This is expected to result in additional circulation revenues of approximately $7 to $8 million in 2006.

� The Broadcast Media Group results are expected to benefit from a full year of revenues for KAUT-TV,
mid-term elections and the Winter Olympics.

� Our revenues will include a full year of revenue from About.com, which is expected to have double-digit
revenue and operating profit growth.

� We plan to make additional investments online and to grow circulation revenues. We expect to add more
print sites to increase the availability of The Times outside the metropolitan New York area.

� We will also remain focused on reducing costs, improving efficiencies and streamlining operations.

The key financial measures for 2006 discussed in the table below are computed under GAAP.

Item 2006 Expectation

Newsprint cost per ton Growth expected to be 11% to 13%
Depreciation & amortization $154 to $158 million
Capital expenditures $485 to $535 million(a)

Results from joint ventures $18 to $22 million
Interest expense $58 to $62 million
Tax rate 39.6%

(a) Under GAAP, total capital expenditures reflected in our financial statements include our capital expenditures for our new headquarters
building as well as those of our development partner:

Company* $355 to $385 million
Development partner $130 to $150 million

$485 to $535 million

* Includes $240 to $270 million for our new headquarters
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview
Unless stated otherwise, all references to 2005, 2004 and 2003 refer to our fiscal years ended, or the dates as of,
December 25, 2005, December 26, 2004 and December 28, 2003. The following table presents our consolidated
financial results on a GAAP basis. The results set forth in the table and discussed in this section include the items
discussed in this report on page F-2, immediately after the table of Selected Financial Data.

% Change

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003 05-04 04-03

REVENUES
Advertising $2,278,239 $2,194,644 $2,120,814 3.8 3.5
Circulation 873,975 883,995 885,767 (1.1) (0.2)
Other 220,561 225,003 220,619 (2.0) 2.0

Total 3,372,775 3,303,642 3,227,200 2.1 2.4

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Production costs

Raw materials 321,084 296,594 274,147 8.3 8.2
Wages and benefits 690,754 672,901 671,040 2.7 0.3
Other 528,546 506,053 483,608 4.4 4.6

Total 1,540,384 1,475,548 1,428,795 4.4 3.3
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,474,283 1,318,141 1,258,855 11.8 4.7

Total 3,014,667 2,793,689 2,687,650 7.9 3.9

GAIN ON SALE OF ASSETS 122,946 — — N/A —

OPERATING PROFIT 481,054 509,953 539,550 (5.7) (5.5)
Net income/(loss) from joint ventures 10,051 240 (8,223) * *
Interest expense, net 49,168 41,760 44,757 17.7 (6.7)
Other income 4,167 8,212 13,277 (49.3) (38.1)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interest 446,104 476,645 499,847 (6.4) (4.6)
Income taxes 180,242 183,499 197,762 (1.8) (7.2)
Minority interest in net (income)/loss of subsidiaries (257) (589) 570 (56.4) *

Income from continuing operations 265,605 292,557 302,655 (9.2) (3.3)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes (5,852) — — N/A —

NET INCOME $ 259,753 $ 292,557 $ 302,655 (11.2) (3.3)

* Represents an increase or decrease in excess of 100%.

Revenues
Revenues by reportable segment and for the Company as a whole were as follows:

% Change

(In millions) 2005 2004 2003 05-04 04-03

Revenues:
News Media Group $3,189.8 $3,158.0 $3,098.0 1.0 1.9
Broadcast Media Group 139.1 145.6 129.2 (4.5) 12.7
About.com (from March 18, 2005) 43.9 — — N/A —

Total $3,372.8 $3,303.6 $3,227.2 2.1 2.4
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News Media Group Advertising revenues at The New York Times Media
Advertising, circulation and other revenues by division Group were higher in 2004 than 2003 mainly due to
of the News Media Group and for the group as a increases in national and retail advertising revenues
whole were as follows: partially offset by lower classified advertising revenues.

The New England Media Group advertising revenues
% Change were higher in 2004 than 2003 because increases in

(In millions) 2005 2004 2003 05-04 04-03 classified and retail advertising revenues more than
The New York Times offset lower national advertising revenues. Advertising

Media Group
revenues for the Regional Media Group increased dueAdvertising $ 1,264.8 $1,220.7 $1,195.7 3.6 2.1

Circulation 615.5 615.9 623.1 (0.1) (1.2) to higher classified and retail advertising revenues. The
Other 157.0 165.0 168.0 (4.8) (1.8)

News Media Group’s online advertising revenues rose
Total $ 2,037.3 $2,001.6 $1,986.8 1.8 0.7

37.5% in 2004 compared with 2003 due to growth in
New England Media all categories.Group
Advertising $ 467.6 $ 481.6 $ 464.5 (2.9) 3.7 During the last few years, we have continued to beCirculation 170.7 181.0 174.6 (5.7) 3.7
Other 37.0 38.0 34.4 (2.6) 10.4 adversely affected by a weak print advertising
Total $ 675.3 $ 700.6 $ 673.5 (3.6) 4.0 environment. Advertising volume for the News Media

Group was as follows:Regional Media Group
Advertising $ 367.5 $ 349.7 $ 333.8 5.1 4.8
Circulation 87.8 87.1 88.1 0.7 (1.1) % Change(Inches in thousands, preprintsOther 21.9 19.0 15.8 14.8 20.2

in thousands of copies) 2005 2004 2003 05-04 04-03
Total $ 477.2 $ 455.8 $ 437.7 4.7 4.1

News Media Group
Total News Media Group National(a) 2,468.4 2,512.4 2,557.9 (1.7) (1.8)
Advertising $ 2,099.9 $2,052.0 $1,994.0 2.3 2.9 Retail 6,511.7 6,541.8 6,609.7 (0.5) (1.0)
Circulation 874.0 884.0 885.8 (1.1) (0.2) Classified 9,532.2 9,675.5 9,839.9 (1.5) (1.7)
Other 215.9 222.0 218.2 (2.8) 1.7 Part Run/Zoned 2,087.3 2,215.6 2,120.9 (5.8) 4.5

Total $ 3,189.8 $3,158.0 $3,098.0 1.0 1.9 Total 20,599.6 20,945.3 21,128.4 (1.7) (0.9)

Preprints 2,979,723 2,897,241 2,852,021 2.8 1.6

Advertising Revenues
(a) Includes all advertising volume from the IHT.Advertising revenue is primarily determined by the

volume, rate and mix of advertisements. In 2005, Circulation Revenues
advertising revenues increased compared with 2004 Circulation revenue is based on the number of copies
due to growth in online revenues and higher print sold and the subscription rates charged to customers.
rates, partially offset by lower print volume from weak Circulation revenues in 2005 decreased slightly
print advertising markets (see the chart at right for a compared with 2004 mainly due to a decrease in
breakdown of volume by category). Advertising copies sold at the Globe. Circulation revenues at the
revenues at The New York Times Media Group were New York Times Media Group and Regional Media
higher in 2005 than 2004 due to higher national, Group remained flat in 2005 compared with 2004.
retail and classified advertising revenue. The New

Circulation revenues in 2004 were at approximatelyEngland Media Group advertising revenues were lower
the same levels as they were in 2003. Higherin 2005 than 2004 because of decreases in classified,
circulation revenues at the Globe, primarily due tonational and retail advertising revenues. Advertising
price increases, were offset by lower circulationrevenues for the Regional Media Group increased due
revenues at The Times, primarily due to an increaseto higher classified and retail advertising revenues. The
of education and other lower-rate copies sold in 2004News Media Group’s online advertising revenues rose
compared with 2003.29.5% in 2005 compared with 2004 due to growth in

all categories. Broadcast Media Group
In 2004 advertising revenues increased compared with In 2005, revenues at the Broadcast Media Group
2003 due to higher advertising rates partially offset by decreased compared with 2004 primarily due to lower
lower volume due to a weak advertising market. political advertising revenues. In 2004 revenues at the
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Broadcast Media Group increased compared with Production Costs
2003 primarily due to the high level of political Total production costs in 2005 were unfavorably
advertising in 2004, due to the 2004 elections. Net affected by the acquisition of About.com and
political advertising revenues were $2.0 million in incremental stock-based compensation expense
2005, $15.3 million in 2004 and $4.7 million in resulting from the adoption of FAS 123-R. Total
2003. production costs for 2005 increased compared with

2004, primarily due to the factors mentioned above as
Costs and Expenses well as increased newsprint expense, increased outside
Below is a chart of our consolidated costs and printing expense and higher wages and benefits.
expenses. Newsprint expense rose 6.7% in 2005 compared with

2004, due to an 8.0% increase from higher prices
Components of Consolidated Costs and Expenses

partially offset by a 1.3% decrease stemming from
lower consumption.

Total production costs for 2004 increased compared
with 2003, primarily due to an increase in outside
printing expense, mainly because of strategic
investments made at The Times and the IHT, and
higher compensation and newsprint expense.
Newsprint expense rose 7.4% in 2004 compared with
2003, due to a 7.7% increase from higher prices
partially offset by a 0.3% decrease stemming from
lower consumption. Additionally, production costs in

2005

42%

11%

42%

100% 100% 100%

5%

42%

11%

42%

5%

44%

10%

41%

5%

2004 2003

Wages and Benefits

Raw Materials

Other Operating Costs

Depreciation & Amortization

2004 benefited from lower benefits expense, including
workers’ compensation expense, which partially offset
the increase in expenses.

Consolidated Costs and Expenses as a Percentage of Revenues

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
In 2005, total selling, general and administrative
(‘‘SGA’’) expenses increased because of staff reduction
expenses, incremental stock-based compensation
expense as a result of the adoption of FAS 123-R, and
the inclusion of About.com. SGA expenses for 2005
also rose due to an increase in distribution and
promotion expense.

SGA expenses for 2004 rose compared with 2003
primarily due to increases in promotion and
distribution expenses mainly because of strategic

2005

38%

9%

38%

89% 85% 83%

4%

36%

9%

36%

4%

36%

8%

34%

5%

2004 2003

Wages and Benefits

Raw Materials

Other Operating Costs

Depreciation & Amortization

investments made at The Times and the IHT and
Costs and expenses were as follows: higher compensation expense. SGA expenses in 2003

included a $14.1 million benefit from the
% Change reimbursement of remediation expenses at one of our

(In millions) 2005 2004 2003 05-04 04-03
printing plants, which contributed to the expense

Production costs: growth in 2004.Raw materials $ 321.1 $ 296.6 $ 274.1 8.3 8.2
Wages and benefits 690.8 672.9 671.0 2.7 0.3
Other 528.5 506.1 483.7 4.4 4.6

Total production costs 1,540.4 1,475.6 1,428.8 4.4 3.3
Selling, general and

administrative expenses 1,474.3 1,318.1 1,258.9 11.8 4.7

Total $ 3,014.7 $2,793.7 $2,687.7 7.9 3.9
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The following table sets forth consolidated costs and Depreciation and Amortization
expenses by reportable segment, Corporate and the Consolidated depreciation and amortization by
Company as a whole. reportable segment, Corporate and the Company as a

whole, were as follows:
% Change

(In millions) 2005 2004 2003 05-04 04-03 % Change

(In millions) 2005 2004 2003 05-04 04-03Costs and expenses:
News Media Group $ 2,816.1 $2,637.2 $2,539.9 6.8 3.8 Depreciation and Amortization:
Broadcast Media Group 111.9 107.2 100.6 4.4 6.7 News Media Group $ 119.3 $124.6 $127.7 (4.3) (2.4)
About.com (from Broadcast Media Group 8.3 8.5 8.8 (1.9) (4.4)

March 18, 2005) 32.3 — — N/A — About.com (from March 18,
Corporate 54.4 49.3 47.2 10.3 4.4 2005) 9.2 — — N/A —

Corporate(a) 7.0 9.4 9.2 (25.6) 2.7Total $ 3,014.7 $2,793.7 $2,687.7 7.9 3.9
Total Depreciation and

Amortization $ 143.8 $142.5 $145.7 0.9 (2.2)

News Media Group (a) Beginning in fiscal 2005, restricted stock is being recorded as stock-based
compensation expense. For comparability, restricted stock in prior yearsIn 2005, costs and expenses for the News Media
(recorded at Corporate) which had been reported as amortization expense,

Group increased due to staff reduction expenses and has been reclassified to conform with the 2005 presentation. Restricted
stock expense was $4.3 million in 2004 and $2.0 million in 2003.the recognition of stock-based compensation expense.

Costs and expenses for the News Media Group
Operating Profitincreased in 2005 compared with 2004 and in 2004
Consolidated operating profit, by reportable segment,compared with 2003 primarily due to increased
Corporate and the Company as a whole, were asdistribution, promotion and outside printing expenses,
follows:mainly because of circulation initiatives, and higher

% Changenewsprint and compensation expense.
(In millions) 2005 2004 2003 05-04 04-03

Broadcast Media Group Operating Profit (Loss):
News Media Group $ 373.6 $520.9 $558.2 (28.3) (6.7)Costs and expenses for the Broadcast Media Group
Broadcast Media Group 27.2 38.4 28.6 (29.3) 34.0

increased in 2005 compared with 2004 and in 2004 About.com (from March 18,
2005) 11.8 — — N/A —compared with 2003 primarily due to increased Corporate (54.4) (49.3) (47.2) 10.3 4.4

Gain on sale of assets 122.9 — — N/A —compensation expense. In 2005, compensation
Total Operating Profit $ 481.1 $510.0 $539.6 (5.7) (5.5)expense was also higher due to the recognition of

stock-based compensation expense.
In the first quarter of 2005, we recognized a pre-tax
gain of $122.9 million from the sale of our existingCorporate
New York City headquarters as well as property inCosts and expenses for Corporate increased in 2005
Florida.compared with 2004 and in 2004 compared with 2003

primarily due to increased compensation expense The reasons underlying the year-to-year changes in
(including stock-based compensation expense). each segment’s and Corporate’s operating profit are

discussed above under ‘‘Revenues’’ and ‘‘Costs and
Expenses.’’

Non-operating Items
Net Income/(Loss) from Joint Ventures
We have investments in DTC, Metro Boston, two
paper mills (Malbaie and Madison) and NESV, which
are accounted for under the equity method. Our
proportionate share of these investments is recorded in
‘‘Net income/(loss) from joint ventures’’ in our
Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 5 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information regarding these investments.
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We recorded income from joint ventures of Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting
$10.1 million and $0.2 million in 2005 and 2004, Principle
respectively, and recorded a loss from joint ventures of In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation
$8.2 million in 2003. No. (‘‘FIN’’) 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset

Retirement Obligations—an Interpretation of FASBThe increase in 2005 compared with 2004 was
Statement No. 143 (‘‘FIN 47’’). FIN 47 requires anprimarily due to improved performance at DTC and
entity to recognize a liability for the fair value of aNESV.
conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value

The income from joint ventures in 2004 compared can be reasonably estimated. FIN 47 was effective no
with a loss in 2003 was principally due to higher sales later than the end of fiscal years ending after
volume and paper selling prices at the paper mills as December 15, 2005. We adopted FIN 47 effective
well as improved performance at DTC. December 2005 and accordingly recorded an after-tax

charge of $5.9 million or $.04 per diluted shareInterest Expense, Net
($10.5 million pre-tax) as a cumulative effect of aInterest expense, net, was as follows:
change in accounting principle in our Consolidated

(In millions) 2005 2004 2003 Statement of Income.
Interest expense $ 60.0 $51.4 $51.2 See Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated FinancialLoss from extinguishment of debt 4.8 — —
Interest income (4.4) (2.4) (1.9) Statements for additional information regarding the
Capitalized interest (11.2) (7.2) (4.5) cumulative effect of this accounting change.
Interest expense, net $ 49.2 $41.8 $44.8

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
In 2005, ‘‘Interest expense, net’’ increased primarily
due to the expenses associated with the redemption of Overview
our 8.25% debentures in March 2005, higher levels of Information about our financial position as of
debt outstanding and higher short-term interest rates. December 2005 and December 2004 is presented in
This increase was partially offset by higher levels of the following table:
capitalized interest related to our new headquarters. In

Financial Position Summary % Change2004, ‘‘Interest expense, net’’ decreased primarily due
(In millions) 2005 2004 05-04

to higher levels of capitalized interest related to our
Cash and cash equivalents $ 44.9 $ 42.4 6.0

new headquarters. Short-term debt(a) 498.1 587.4 (15.2)
Long-term debt(a) 898.3 471.5 90.5
Stockholders’ Equity 1,516.2 1,400.5 8.3Other Income
Ratios:‘‘Other income’’ in our Consolidated Statements of Total debt to total capitalization 48% 43% 11.6
Current ratio .62 .55 12.7Income includes the following items:

(a) Short-term debt includes the current portion of long-term debt (none in(In millions) 2005 2004 2003
2005), commercial paper outstanding and the current portion of capital

Non-compete agreement $ 4.2 $ 5.0 $ 5.0 lease obligations. Long-term debt also includes the long-term portion of
Advertising credit — 3.2 8.3 capital lease obligations.

Other income $ 4.2 $ 8.2 $13.3 In 2006 we expect our cash balance, cash provided
from operations, and available third-party financing,We entered into a five-year $25 million non-compete
described below, to be sufficient to meet our normalagreement in connection with the sale of the Santa
operating commitments and debt service requirements,Barbara News-Press in 2000. This income was
to fund planned capital expenditures, to repurchaserecognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the
shares of our Class A Common Stock, to makeagreement, which ended in October 2005. The
contributions to our pension plans and to payadvertising credit relates to credits for advertising that
dividends to our stockholders.we issued which were not used within the allotted

time by the advertiser. We repurchase Class A Common Stock under our
stock repurchase program from time to time either in
the open market or through private transactions.
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These repurchases may be suspended from time to See Note 17 of the Notes to the Consolidated
time or discontinued. In 2005 and 2004, we Financial Statements for additional information on
repurchased 1.7 million and 6.8 million shares of our new headquarters building.
Class A Common Stock, at a cost of approximately

Capital Resources$57 million and $293 million, respectively.
Sources and Uses of Cash

For the June 2005 dividend on our Class A and Cash flows by category were as follows:
Class B Common Stock, the Board of Directors

% Changeauthorized a $.01 per share increase, to $.165 per
(In millions) 2005 2004 2003 05-04 04-03share from $.155 per share. Subsequent quarterly

dividend payments in September and December 2005 Operating activities $ 294.3 $ 444.0 $ 466.3 (33.7) (4.8)
Investing activities $ (495.5) $ (192.1) $ (245.9) * (21.9)were also made at this rate. We paid dividends of
Financing activities $ 204.4 $ (249.2) $ (218.7) * 14.0approximately $95 million and $90 million in 2005
* Represents an increase or decrease in excess of 100%.and 2004, respectively.
Our current priorities for use of cash are:In December 2005 and 2004 we made tax-deductible

contributions of $47.3 million and $57.4 million, � Investment in capital projects intended to improve
respectively, to our qualified pension plans. operations. In particular, investments in

technology to increase revenues, reduce costs,
New Headquarters Building improve efficiencies or help us better serve our
We are in the process of constructing our new customers,
headquarters building in New York City (the

� Construction of the Building,‘‘Building’’), which we expect to occupy in 2007. In
December 2001, one of our wholly owned subsidiaries � Strategic investments,
(‘‘NYT’’), and FC Lion LLC (a partnership between

� Stock repurchases and
an affiliate of the Forest City Ratner Companies and

� Dividend payments to shareholders.an affiliate of ING Real Estate, ‘‘FC’’) became
members of The New York Times Building LLC (the

Operating Activities‘‘Building Partnership’’), a partnership established for
The primary source of our liquidity is cash flows fromthe purpose of constructing the Building.
operating activities. The key component of operating

Actual and anticipated capital expenditures in cash flow is cash receipts from advertising customers.
connection with the Building, including both core Advertising has provided 66% to 68% of total
and shell and interior construction costs, are detailed revenues over the past three years. Operating cash
in the table below. inflows also include cash receipts from circulation sales

and other revenue transactions such as wholesaleCapital Expenditures
delivery operations and direct marketing. Operating(In millions) NYT FC Total

cash outflows include payments to vendors for raw2001-2005 $241 $184 $425
materials, services and supplies, payments to

2006 $240-$270 $130-$150 $370-$420
employees, and payments of interest and income taxes.

2007 $120-$128 $86-$95 $206-$223

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased inTotal $601-$639 $400-$429 $1,001-$1,068
2005 compared with 2004 primarily due to lowerLess: net of sale proceeds(a) $106 — $106
cash earnings. In 2005, while revenues increasedTotal, net of sale proceeds $495-$533(b) $400-$429 $895-$962
approximately 2% over 2004, this increase was more

(a) Represents cash proceeds from the sale of our existing headquarters (see than offset by an 8% increase in costs and expenses.
‘‘2005 Events’’ in this discussion), net of income taxes and transaction

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased incosts. This amount is not net of our future rental payments associated
with the leaseback. 2004 compared with 2003 primarily due to lower

cash earnings, partially offset by an improvement in(b) Includes estimated capitalized interest and salaries of $45 to $55 million.

working capital requirements.
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Investing Activities borrowings. Our stock repurchases totaled
Cash from investing activities generally include $293.2 million in 2004 compared with
proceeds from the sale of assets or a business. Cash $208.5 million in 2003. We had net commercial
used in investment activities generally include paper borrowings of $107.4 million in 2004
payments for the acquisition of new businesses, equity compared with $49.9 million in 2003.
investments and capital expenditures. See our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for
Net cash used in investing activities increased in 2005 additional information on our sources and uses of
compared with 2004 primarily due to the acquisitions cash.
and investment made in 2005 partially offset by

Third-Party Financingproceeds from the sale of assets (see ‘‘2005 Events’’ in
We have the following financing sources available tothis discussion).
supplement cash flows from operations:

Net cash used in investing activities decreased in 2004
� A commercial paper facility,compared with 2003 primarily due to the use of cash

for the acquisition of the IHT in 2003. � Revolving credit agreements, and

Capital expenditures (on an accrual basis) were � Medium-term notes.
$229.5 million in 2005, $211.2 million in 2004 and Our total debt, including commercial paper and
$167.3 million in 2003. The 2005, 2004 and 2003 capital lease obligations, was $1.4 billion as of
amounts include our costs related to the Building of December 2005 and $1.1 billion as of
approximately $87 million, $58 million and December 2004. Total unused borrowing capacity
$52 million as well as our development partner’s costs, under all financing arrangements amounted to
of $54 million, $42 million and $52 million, $366.9 million as of December 2005. See Note 7 of
respectively. See Note 17 of the Notes to the the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional for additional information related to our debt.
information regarding the Building.

During 2005, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s
Financing Activities lowered their ratings on our long-term debt to A2 and
Cash from financing activities generally include A, respectively, and confirmed their ratings of P1 and
borrowings under our commercial paper program, the A1, respectively, on our short-term debt. We do not
issuance of long-term debt, and funds from stock have any liabilities subject to accelerated payment
option exercises. Cash used in financing activities upon a ratings downgrade and do not expect the
generally include the repayment of commercial paper downgrade of our long-term debt ratings to have any
and long-term debt, the payment of dividends and the material impact on our ability to borrow. However, as
repurchase of our Class A Common Stock. a result of these downgrades, we may incur higher

borrowing costs with respect to any future long-termNet cash provided by financing activities in 2005 was
issuances. We do not currently expect these costs toprimarily from the issuance of commercial paper and
be significant.long-term debt ($658.6 million), partially offset by

the repayment of long-term debt ($323.5 million), the Our 10-year notes, aggregating $250.0 million and
payment of dividends ($94.5 million) and stock bearing interest at an annual rate of 7.625%, matured
repurchases ($57.4 million). In 2004, net cash used in on March 15, 2005. Our repayment of these notes
financing activities was primarily due to stock resulted in a decrease in ‘‘Current portion of
repurchases ($293.2 million) and the payment of long-term debt and capital lease obligations’’ in our
dividends ($90.1 million). During 2005, we used cash Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 2005.
for certain acquisitions and the construction of the

On March 15, 2005, we also redeemed all of ourBuilding and therefore had fewer share repurchases
$71.9 million outstanding 8.25% debentures, callablecompared with 2004.
on March 15, 2005, and maturing on March 15,

Net cash used in financing activities increased in 2004 2025, at a redemption price of 103.76% of the
compared with 2003 primarily due to higher stock principal amount. The redemption premium and
repurchases partially offset by higher commercial paper
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unamortized issuance costs resulted in a loss from the 2005, compared with $376.8 million as of December
extinguishment of debt of $4.8 million and is 2004.
included in ‘‘Interest expense, net’’ in our

Medium-Term NotesConsolidated Statement of Income.
Our liquidity requirements may also be funded

On March 17, 2005, we issued 5-year notes of through the public offer and sale of notes under our
$250.0 million maturing March 15, 2010, bearing $300.0 million medium-term note program. As of
interest at an annual rate of 4.5%, and 10-year notes December 2005, we had issued $75.0 million of
of $250.0 million maturing March 15, 2015, bearing medium-term notes under this program. The
interest at an annual rate of 5.0%. Interest is payable remaining $225.0 million of medium-term notes may
semi-annually on March 15 and September 15 on be issued from time to time pursuant to our current
both series of notes. effective shelf registration.

Commercial Paper Contractual Obligations
Our liquidity requirements may be funded through Our significant contractual obligations as of December
the issuance of commercial paper. Our $600.0 million 2005 are set forth below. The information provided in
commercial paper program is supported by our the table below is based on management’s best
revolving credit agreements (see below). Commercial estimate and assumptions as of December 2005.
paper issued by us is unsecured and can have Actual payments in future periods may vary from
maturities of up to 270 days. those reflected in the table.
We had $496.5 million in commercial paper

Payment due in
outstanding as of December 2005, with a weighted

(In millions) Total 2006 2007–2008 2009–2010 Later Years
average interest rate of 4.3% per annum and an

Long-term debt(a) $ 825.5 $ — $151.5 $349.0 $325.0average of 53 days to maturity from original issuance. Capital leases(b) 126.8 7.4 14.8 18.6 86.0
Operating leases(b) 116.3 28.4 29.2 17.4 41.3We had $335.4 million in commercial paper
Benefit plans(c) 921.9 76.5 159.5 171.4 514.5outstanding as of December 2004, with a weighted
Total $1,990.5 $112.3 $355.0 $556.4 $966.8average interest rate of 2.3% per annum and an

average of 7 days to maturity from original issuance. (a) Excludes commercial paper of $496.5 million as of December 2005. This
amount will be paid in 2006. See Note 7 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information related toRevolving Credit Agreements
our commercial paper program and long-term debt.The primary purpose of our revolving credit

(b) See Note 17 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements foragreements is to support our commercial paper
additional information related to our capital and operating leases.

program. In addition, these revolving credit
(c) Includes estimated benefit payments, net of plan participant contributions,agreements provide a facility for the issuance of letters under our sponsored pension and postretirement plans. The liabilities

related to both plans are included in ‘‘Other Liabilities-Other’’ in ourof credit. Of the total $670.0 million available under
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Payments included in the table above havethe two revolving credit agreements, we have issued been estimated over a ten-year period; therefore the amounts included in

letters of credit of $31.6 million. The remaining the ‘‘Later Years’’ column include payments for the period of 2011-2015.
While benefit payments under these plans are expected to continue beyondbalance of $638.4 million supports our commercial
2015, we believe that an estimate beyond this period is unreasonable. See

paper program discussed above. There were no Notes 10, 11 and 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information related to our pension andborrowings outstanding under the revolving credit
postretirement plans.

agreements as of December 2005.
In addition to the pension and postretirement

Any borrowings under the revolving credit agreements liabilities discussed above, ‘‘Other Liabilities-Other’’ in
bear interest at specified margins based on our credit our Consolidated Balance Sheets include liabilities
rating, over various floating rates selected by us. related to i) deferred compensation, primarily

consisting of our deferred executive compensation planThe revolving credit agreements contain a covenant
(the ‘‘DEC plan’’), ii) tax contingencies andthat requires specified levels of stockholders’ equity.
iii) various other liabilities. These liabilities are notThe amount of stockholders’ equity in excess of the
included in the table above primarily because therequired levels was $427.6 million as of December
future payments are not determinable. The DEC plan
enables certain eligible executives to elect to defer a
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portion of their compensation on a pre-tax basis. believed to be reasonable under the facts and
While the deferrals are initially for a period of a circumstances. Actual results may differ from those
minimum of two years (after which time taxable estimates made by management.
distributions must begin), the executive has the option We believe our critical accounting policies include our
to extend the deferral period. Therefore, the future accounting for long-lived assets, retirement benefits,
payments under the DEC plan are not determinable. stock-based compensation, income taxes, self-insurance
Our tax contingency liability is related to various liabilities and accounts receivable allowances.
current and potential tax audit issues. This liability is Additional information about these policies can be
determined based on our estimate of whether found in Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated
additional taxes will be due in the future. Any Financial Statements. Specific risks related to our
additional taxes due will be determined only upon the critical accounting policies are discussed below.
completion of current and future tax audits, and the
timing of such payments, which are not expected Long-Lived Assets
within one year, cannot be determined. See Note 12 Goodwill and certain other intangible assets are tested
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for impairment in accordance with FAS No. 142,
for additional information on ‘‘Other Liabilities- Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and all other
Other.’’ long-lived assets are tested for impairment in

accordance with FAS No. 144, Accounting for theWe have a contract with a major paper supplier to
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.purchase newsprint. The contract requires us to

purchase annually the lesser of a fixed number of tons Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, were
or a percentage of our total newsprint requirement. $3.3 billion, or approximately 73% of ‘‘Total Assets,’’
Since the quantities of newsprint purchased annually and $2.8 billion, or approximately 72% of ‘‘Total
under this contract are based on our total newsprint Assets,’’ in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
requirement, the amount of the related payments for December 2005 and December 2004, respectively.
these purchases are excluded from the table above. The impairment analysis is considered critical to our

segments because of the significance of long-livedOff-Balance Sheet Arrangements assets to our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
We have outstanding guarantees on behalf of a third

We evaluate whether there has been an impairment ofparty that provides circulation customer service,
goodwill or other intangible assets on an annual basistelemarketing and home-delivery services for The
or if certain circumstances indicate that a possibleTimes and the Globe and on behalf of third parties
impairment may exist. All other long-lived assets arethat provide printing and distribution services for The
tested for impairment if certain circumstances indicateTimes’s National Edition. As of December 2005, the
that a possible impairment exists. An impairment inaggregate potential liability under these guarantees was
value exists when the carrying amount of a long-livedapproximately $30 million. See Note 17 of the Notes
asset is not recoverable (undiscounted cash flows areto the Consolidated Financial Statements for
less than the asset’s carrying value) and exceeds its fairadditional information regarding our guarantees as
value. If it is determined that an impairment in valuewell as our commitments and contingent liabilities.
has occurred, the carrying value of the long-lived asset
is reduced to its fair value. The estimates of futureCRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
cash flows, based on reasonable and supportable

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared assumptions and projections, require management’s
in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these subjective judgment. Depending on the assumptions
financial statements requires management to make and estimates used, the estimated future cash flows
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts projected in the evaluations of long-lived assets can
reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements for vary within a range of outcomes. Any changes in key
the periods presented. assumptions about our News Media Group, Broadcast

Media Group and About.com businesses and theirWe continually evaluate the policies and estimates we
prospects, or changes in market conditions, coulduse to prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements.
result in an impairment charge, and such a chargeIn general, management’s estimates are based on
could have a material effect on our Consolidatedhistorical experience, information from third-party
Financial Statements.professionals and various other assumptions that are
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Retirement Benefits Income Taxes
Our pension plans and postretirement benefit plans Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with
are accounted for using actuarial valuations required FAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under
by FAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, FAS 109, income taxes are recognized for the
and FAS No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for following: i) amount of taxes payable for the current
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions. year and ii) deferred tax assets and liabilities for the

future tax consequence of events that have beenOur pension and postretirement benefit liabilities were
recognized differently in the financial statements thanapproximately $490 million, or 17% of total
for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities areliabilities, and $415 million, or 17% of total
established using statutory tax rates and are adjustedliabilities, as of December 2005 and December 2004,
for tax rate changes. FAS 109 also requires thatrespectively. We consider accounting for retirement
deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowanceplans critical to all of our operating segments because
if it is more likely than not that some portion or allmanagement is required to make significant subjective
of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.judgments about a number of actuarial assumptions,

which include discount rates, health-care cost trend Income tax expense was approximately $180 million
rates, salary growth, long-term return on plan assets or 40.4% of ‘‘Income from continuing operations
and mortality rates. before income taxes and minority interest’’ in our

Consolidated Statements of Income in 2005,Depending on the assumptions and estimates used,
$183 million or 38.5% in 2004 and $198 million orthe pension and postretirement benefit expense could
39.6% in 2003. Net deferred tax assets werevary within a range of outcomes and could have a
approximately $430 million and $374 million andmaterial effect on our Consolidated Financial
gross deferred tax liabilities were approximatelyStatements.
$442 million and $450 million as of December 2005

Our key retirement benefit assumptions are discussed and December 2004, respectively (see Note 9 of the
in further detail under ‘‘Pension and Postretirement Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements). We
Benefits’’ on pages F-18 through F-20. consider accounting for income taxes critical to our

operations because management is required to make
Stock-Based Compensation significant subjective judgments in developing our
We account for stock-based compensation in provision for income taxes, including the
accordance with the fair value recognition provisions determination of deferred tax assets and liabilities, and
of FAS 123-R. Under the fair value recognition any valuation allowances that may be required against
provisions of FAS 123-R, stock-based compensation deferred tax assets.
cost is measured at the grant date based on the value

In addition, we operate within multiple taxingof the award and is recognized as expense over the
jurisdictions and are subject to audit in theseappropriate vesting period. Determining the fair value
jurisdictions. These audits can involve complex issues,of stock-based awards at the grant date requires
which could require an extended period of time tojudgment, including estimating the expected term of
resolve. The completion of these audits could result instock options, the expected volatility of our stock and
an increase to amounts previously paid to the taxingexpected dividends. In addition, judgment is required
jurisdictions. We do not expect the completion ofin estimating the amount of stock-based awards that
these audits to have a material effect on ourare expected to be forfeited. If actual results differ
Consolidated Financial Statements.significantly from these estimates or different key

assumptions were used, it could have a material effect
Self-Insuranceon our Consolidated Financial Statements. See
We self-insure for workers’ compensation costs, certainNote 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
employee medical and disability benefits, andStatements for additional information regarding stock-
automobile and general liability claims. The recordedbased compensation expense.
liabilities for self-insured risks are primarily calculated
using actuarial methods. The liabilities include
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amounts for actual claims, claim growth and claims Our company-sponsored plans include qualified
incurred but not yet reported. Actual experience, (funded) plans as well as non-qualified (unfunded)
including claim frequency and severity as well as plans. These plans provide participating employees
health care inflation, could result in different liabilities with retirement benefits in accordance with benefit
than the amounts currently recorded. The recorded provision formulas, which are based on years of
liabilities for self-insured risks were approximately $68 service and final average or career pay and, where
million as of December 2005 and $75 million as of applicable, employee contributions. Our non-qualified
December 2004. plans provide retirement benefits only to certain

highly compensated employees.
Accounts Receivable Allowances

We also have a foreign-based pension plan for IHTCredit is extended to our advertisers and subscribers
employees (the ‘‘foreign plan’’). The information forbased upon an evaluation of the customers’ financial
the foreign plan is combined with the information forcondition, and collateral is not required from such
U.S. non-qualified plans. The benefit obligation of thecustomers. We use prior credit losses as a percentage
foreign plan is immaterial to our total benefitof credit sales, the aging of accounts receivable and
obligation.specific identification of potential losses to establish
In December 2005 and December 2004, we madereserves for credit losses on accounts receivable. In
tax-deductible contributions of approximatelyaddition, we establish reserves for estimated rebates,
$47 million and $57 million, respectively, to ourrate adjustments and discounts based on historical
qualified pension plans. Although we do not have anyexperience.
minimum funding requirements in 2006 (under theAccounts receivable allowances were approximately
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as$44 million, or 9% of gross accounts receivable, as of
amended and Internal Revenue Code requirements),December 2005 and $44 million, or 10% of gross
we may elect to make a contribution. If we choose toaccounts receivable, as of December 2004. Accounts
make a contribution in 2006, the amount of thereceivable, net of allowances, were approximately
contribution would be based on the results of the$435 million, or 66% of ‘‘Total current assets,’’ and
January 1, 2006 valuation, market performance and$389 million, or 63% of ‘‘Total current assets,’’ in our
interest rates in 2006 as well as other factors.Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 2005
Assuming that we achieve an 8.75% return onand December 2004, respectively.
pension assets, that interest rates are stable and that

We consider accounting for accounts receivable there are no changes to our benefits structure in 2006,
allowances critical to all of our operating segments we estimate making contributions in the fourth
because of the significance of accounts receivable to quarter of 2006 in the same range as the
our current assets and operating cash flows. If the contributions made in 2005 and 2004.
financial condition of our customers were to

The value of our qualified pension plan assets hasdeteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability
increased to approximately $1.1 billion as ofto make payments, additional allowances might be
December 2005, from approximately $1.0 billion as ofrequired, which could have a material effect on our
December 2004, due to market gains on our planConsolidated Financial Statements.
assets in 2005 and our contributions to the plans. 

Our pension expense for our qualified pension plansPENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
was approximately $40 million in 2005 and 2004 and

Pension Benefits $29 million in 2003. Our pension expense for our
We sponsor several pension plans, and make non-qualified pension plans was approximately
contributions to several others in connection with $19 million in 2005, $18 million in 2004 and
collective bargaining agreements, including a joint $17 million in 2003. See Note 10 of the Notes to the
company-union plan and a number of joint industry- Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
union plans. These plans cover substantially all information regarding our pension plans.
employees. 
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The annual pension expense was calculated using a future value of assets will be affected as previously
number of actuarial assumptions, including an deferred gains or losses are recorded.
expected long-term rate of return on assets (for If we had decreased our expected long-term rate of
qualified plans) and a discount rate. Our methodology return on our plan assets by 0.5% in 2005, 2004 and
in selecting these actuarial assumptions is discussed 2003, pension expense would have increased by
below. approximately $5 million in 2005 and $4 million in

2004 and 2003 for our qualified pension plans. OurLong-Term Rate of Return on Assets
funding requirements would not have been affected inIn determining the expected long-term rate of return
2005, 2004 and 2003.on assets, we evaluated input from our investment

consultants, actuaries and investment management Discount Rate
firms, including their review of asset class return Beginning in 2005, the discount rate used for
expectations, as well as long-term historical asset class determining future pension obligations was changed to
returns. Projected returns by such consultants and a methodology that equates the plans’ projected
economists are based on broad equity and bond benefit obligations to a present value calculated using
indices. Additionally, we considered our historical the Citigroup Pension Discount Curve. We changed
10-year and 15-year compounded returns, which have our approach to better reflect the specific cash flows
been in excess of our forward-looking return of these plans in determining the discount rate.
expectations. Previously, the discount rates were based on an index
The expected long-term rate of return determined on of Aa-rated corporate bonds.
this basis was 8.75% in 2005. We anticipate that our The methodology described above includes producing
pension assets will generate long-term returns on assets a cash flow of annual accrued benefits as defined
of at least 8.75%. The expected long-term rate of under the Projected Unit Cost Method as provided by
return on plan assets is based on an asset allocation FAS 87. For active participants, service is projected to
assumption of 75% with equity managers, with an the end of 2005 and benefit earnings are projected to
expected long-term rate of return on assets of 10%, the date of termination. The projected plan cash flow
and 25% with fixed income/real estate managers, with is discounted to the measurement date using the
an expected long-term rate of return on assets of 6%. Annual Spot Rates provided in the Citigroup Pension
Our actual asset allocation as of December 2005 was Discount Curve. A single discount rate is then
in line with our expectations. We regularly review our computed so that the present value of the benefit cash
actual asset allocation and periodically rebalance our flow (on a projected benefit obligation basis as
investments to our targeted allocation when described above) equals the present value computed
considered appropriate. using the Citigroup annual rates. The discount rate

determined on this basis decreased to 5.50% as ofWe believe that 8.75% is a reasonable long-term rate
December 2005 from 5.75% as of December 2004.of return on assets. Our plan assets had a rate of

return of approximately 8% for 2005. If we had decreased the expected discount rate by
0.5% in 2005, 2004 and 2003, pension expenseOur determination of pension expense or income is
would have increased by approximately $11 million,based on a market-related valuation of assets, which
$10 million and $7 million, respectively, for ourreduces year-to-year volatility. This market-related
qualified pension plans and $1 million each year forvaluation of assets recognizes investment gains or
our non-qualified pension plans. Our fundinglosses over a three-year period from the year in which
requirements would not have been affected in 2005,they occur. Investment gains or losses for this purpose
2004 and 2003.are the difference between the expected return

calculated using the market-related value of assets and We will continue to evaluate all of our actuarial
the actual return based on the market-related value of assumptions, generally on an annual basis, including
assets. Since the market-related value of assets the expected long-term rate of return on assets and
recognizes gains or losses over a three-year period, the discount rate, and will adjust as necessary. Actual

pension expense will depend on future investment
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performance, changes in future discount rates, the 2005 postretirement expense decreased to 5% to
level of contributions we will make and various other 11.5% from 5% to 12.5% in 2004. A 1% increase/
factors related to the populations participating in the decrease in the health-care cost trend rates range
pension plans. would result in an increase/decrease of approximately

$3 million in our 2005 and 2004 service and interest
Unrecognized Actuarial Loss costs, respectively, two factors included in the
Our unrecognized actuarial loss is approximately calculation of postretirement expense. A 1% increase/
$308 million and $241 million for our qualified decrease in the health-care cost trend rates would
pension plans and approximately $88 million and result in an increase of approximately $36 million and
$70 million for our non-qualified pension plans as of $31 million or a decrease of approximately
December 2005 and December 2004, respectively. $29 million and $25 million, respectively, in our
The unrecognized actuarial losses are primarily related accumulated benefit obligations and the actuarial
to the cumulative effect of net decreases in the present value of benefits, as of December 2005 and
discount rate for both the qualified and non-qualified December 2004, respectively. Our discount rate
pension plans as well as the cumulative differences assumption for postretirement benefits is consistent
between the expected return calculated using the with that used in the calculation of pension benefits.
market-related value of assets and the return based on See the Pension Benefits section on pages F-18
the market-related value of assets for the qualified through F-20 for a discussion about our discount rate
pension plans. In addition, we changed our mortality assumption.
assumption in 2005 to the 1994 Group Annuity

In February 2006 we announced amendments, such asMortality Table, which had the effect of increasing the
the elimination of retiree-medical benefits to newunrecognized actuarial loss. If discount rates continue
employees, to our postretirement benefit plan effectiveto decline and our actual return on assets is lower
January 1, 2007. The amendments will reduce ourthan our expected return on assets, the unrecognized
future obligations and expense under this plan.actuarial loss will increase, resulting in higher pension

expense in the future. However, if discount rates begin See Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated
to rise and our actual return on assets is higher than Financial Statements for additional information
our expected return on assets, the unrecognized regarding our postretirement plan.
actuarial loss will decrease, resulting in lower pension
expense in the future. MARKET RISK

Our market risk is principally associated with thePostretirement Benefits
following:We provide health and life insurance benefits to

retired employees (and their eligible dependents) who � Interest rate fluctuations related to our debt
are not covered by any collective bargaining obligations, which are managed by balancing the
agreements, if the employees meet specified age and mix of variable- versus fixed-rate borrowings.
service requirements. Our policy is to pay our portion Based on the variable-rate debt included in our
of insurance premiums and claims under the above- debt portfolio, a 75 basis point increase in interest
mentioned plan from our assets. rates would have resulted in additional interest

expense of $3.7 million (pre-tax) in 2005 andIn accordance with FAS 106, we accrue the costs of
$3.2 million (pre-tax) in 2004.such benefits during the employees’ active years of

service. � Newsprint is a commodity subject to supply and
demand market conditions. We have equityOur postretirement expense for our sponsored plan
investments in two paper mills, which provide awas approximately $17 million, $14 million and
partial hedge against price volatility. The cost of$27 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
raw materials, of which newsprint expense is aThe annual postretirement expense was calculated
major component, represented 11% of our totalusing a number of actuarial assumptions, including a
costs and expenses in 2005 and 2004. Based onhealth-care cost trend rate and a discount rate. The
the number of newsprint tons consumed in 2005health-care cost trend rate range used to calculate the
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and 2004, a $10 per ton increase in newsprint restrict our ability to maximize the efficiency of
prices would have resulted in additional newsprint our operations. In addition, if we experienced
expense of approximately $5 million (pre-tax) in labor unrest, our ability to produce and deliver
2005 and 2004. our most significant products could be impaired.

� A significant portion of our work force is See Notes 5, 7, 8 and 17 of the Notes to the
unionized. Therefore, our results could be Consolidated Financial Statements.
adversely affected if labor negotiations were to
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended

(In thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003

REVENUES
Advertising $ 2,278,239 $2,194,644 $2,120,814
Circulation 873,975 883,995 885,767
Other 220,561 225,003 220,619

Total 3,372,775 3,303,642 3,227,200

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Production costs

Raw materials 321,084 296,594 274,147
Wages and benefits 690,754 672,901 671,040
Other 528,546 506,053 483,608

Total 1,540,384 1,475,548 1,428,795
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,474,283 1,318,141 1,258,855

Total 3,014,667 2,793,689 2,687,650

GAIN ON SALE OF ASSETS 122,946 — —

OPERATING PROFIT 481,054 509,953 539,550
Net income/(loss) from joint ventures 10,051 240 (8,223)
Interest expense, net 49,168 41,760 44,757
Other income 4,167 8,212 13,277

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interest 446,104 476,645 499,847
Income taxes 180,242 183,499 197,762
Minority interest in net (income)/loss of subsidiaries (257) (589) 570

Income from continuing operations 265,605 292,557 302,655
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes (5,852) — —

NET INCOME $ 259,753 $ 292,557 $ 302,655

Average number of common shares outstanding
Basic 145,440 147,567 150,285
Diluted 145,877 149,357 152,840

Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations $ 1.83 $ 1.98 $ 2.01
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes (0.04) — —

Net Income $ 1.79 $ 1.98 $ 2.01

Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations $ 1.82 $ 1.96 $ 1.98
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes (0.04) — —

Net Income $ 1.78 $ 1.96 $ 1.98

Dividends per share $ .65 $ .61 $ .57

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December December

(In thousands, except share data) 2005 2004

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 44,927 $ 42,389
Accounts receivable (net of allowances: 2005 – $44,347; 2004 – $43,576) 435,273 389,300
Inventories 32,100 32,654
Deferred income taxes 68,118 56,639
Other current assets 77,328 92,911

Total current assets 657,746 613,893

Investments in Joint Ventures 238,369 218,909

Property, Plant and Equipment
Land 66,475 73,256
Buildings, building equipment and improvements 735,561 830,643
Equipment 1,529,785 1,490,522
Construction and equipment installations in progress 504,769 352,696

Total – at cost 2,836,590 2,747,117
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,368,187) (1,379,733)

Property, plant and equipment – net 1,468,403 1,367,384

Intangible Assets Acquired
Goodwill 1,439,881 1,103,862
Other intangible assets acquired (less accumulated amortization of $168,319 in 2005 and $143,683 in 2004) 411,106 360,727

Total 1,850,987 1,464,589

Miscellaneous Assets 317,532 285,082

Total Assets $ 4,533,037 $3,949,857

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Commercial paper outstanding $ 496,450 $ 335,350
Accounts payable 201,119 190,134
Accrued payroll and other related liabilities 100,390 117,121
Accrued expenses 185,063 147,548
Unexpired subscriptions 81,870 77,573
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations 1,630 252,023

Total current liabilities 1,066,522 1,119,749

Other Liabilities
Long-term debt 821,962 393,601
Capital lease obligations 76,338 77,873
Deferred income taxes 79,806 132,108
Other 783,185 691,364

Total other liabilities 1,761,291 1,294,946

Minority Interest 188,976 134,620

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Serial preferred stock of $1 par value – authorized 200,000 shares – none issued — —
Common stock of $.10 par value:

Class A – authorized 300,000,000 shares; issued: 2005 – 150,939,371; 2004 – 150,084,658 (including
treasury shares: 2005 – 6,558,299; 2004 – 4,819,661) 15,094 15,009

Class B – convertible – authorized 834,242 shares; issued: 2005 – 834,242 and 2004 – 840,316 (including
treasury shares: 2005 – none and 2004 – none) 83 84

Additional paid-in capital 55,148 —
Retained earnings 1,825,763 1,684,854
Common stock held in treasury, at cost (261,964) (204,407)
Deferred compensation — (24,309)
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), net of income taxes:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 11,498 19,416
Unrealized derivative gain/(loss) on cash-flow hedges 1,262 (124)
Minimum pension liability (130,357) (89,782)
Unrealized loss on marketable securities (279) (199)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of income taxes (117,876) (70,689)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,516,248 1,400,542

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 4,533,037 $3,949,857

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 259,753 $ 292,557 $ 302,655
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 113,480 118,893 122,130
Amortization 30,289 23,635 23,600
Stock-based compensation 34,563 4,261 2,015
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 5,852 — —
(Undistributed earnings)/excess distributed earnings of affiliates (919) 14,750 17,522
Minority interest in net income/(loss) of subsidiaries 257 589 (570)
Deferred income taxes (29,635) 3,547 53,536
Long-term retirement benefit obligations 2,458 (8,981) (61,171)
Gain on sale of assets (122,946) — —
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards (5,991) — —
Other – net 2,572 (17,153) 4,086
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions/dispositions:

Accounts receivable – net (41,265) (3,036) (4,252)
Inventories 554 (3,702) (5,652)
Other current assets 29,993 (2,050) (11,141)
Accounts payable (1,021) 114 (13,722)
Accrued payroll and accrued expenses 22,052 7,576 25,180
Accrued income taxes (9,934) 11,746 14,986
Unexpired subscriptions 4,199 1,292 (2,917)

Net cash provided by operating activities 294,311 444,038 466,285

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions (437,516) — (65,059)
Capital expenditures – net (221,344) (188,451) (172,460)
Investments (19,220) — —
Proceeds on sale of assets 183,173 — —
Other investing payments (604) (3,697) (8,411)

Net cash used in investing activities (495,511) (192,148) (245,930)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Commercial paper borrowings – net 161,100 107,370 49,860
Long-term obligations:

Increase 497,543 — —
Reduction (323,490) (1,824) (54,578)

Capital shares:
Issuance 14,348 41,090 33,180
Repurchases (57,363) (293,222) (208,501)

Dividends paid to stockholders (94,535) (90,127) (85,515)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards 5,991 — —
Other financing proceeds/(payments) – net 811 (12,525) 46,880

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 204,405 (249,238) (218,674)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,205 2,652 1,681
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (667) 290 804
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 42,389 39,447 36,962

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 44,927 $ 42,389 $ 39,447
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SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES TO
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Years Ended

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

Cash payments
� Interest $ 46,149 $ 47,900 $ 50,158
� Income taxes, net of refunds $231,521 $166,497 $133,936

Acquisitions
� In November 2005, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding equity interest in KAUT-TV, a UPN

station in Oklahoma City, for approximately $23 million (see Note 3).
� In March 2005, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of About, Inc., a leading

online consumer information provider, for approximately $410 million (see Note 3).
� In February 2005, the Company acquired the North Bay Business Journal, a weekly publication targeting

business leaders in California’s Sonoma, Napa and Marin counties, for approximately $3 million (see Note 3).
� In January 2003 the Company purchased the remaining 50% interest in the International Herald Tribune that

it did not previously own for approximately $65 million (see Note 3).

Investments
� In March 2005, the Company invested $16.5 million to acquire a 49% interest in Metro Boston LLC, which

publishes a free daily newspaper catering to young professionals in the Greater Boston area (see Note 5).
Additionally, the Company made other miscellaneous investments totaling $2.7 million in 2005.

Other
� The Company’s and its development partner’s interests in the Company’s new headquarters are approximately

58% and 42% (see Note 17). Due to the Company’s majority interest, 100% of the financial position and
results of operations of the building partnership are consolidated with those of the Company. Cash capital
expenditures attributable to the Company’s development partner’s interest in the Company’s new headquarters
were approximately $49 million in 2005, $34 million in 2004 and $52 million in 2003.

� Financing activities—Other financing proceeds/(payments)–net include cash received from the development
partner for capital expenditures of approximately $1 million in 2005, $12 million in 2004 and $47 million in
2003. The cash received in 2004 was offset by cash payments made by the Company to its development
partner for its new headquarters for excess capital contributions made of approximately $25 million in 2004.

� In 2003 capital expenditures are net of a $14.1 million reimbursement of remediation costs at one of the
Company’s printing plants, a portion of which costs had been previously capitalized.

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES
IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Common OtherCapital Stock Stock Comprehensive

Class A Additional Held in Income (Loss),
and Class B Paid-in Retained Treasury, Deferred Net of

(In thousands, except share and per share data) Common Capital Earnings at Cost Compensation Income Tax Total

BALANCE, DECEMBER 2002 $15,721 $ 9,269 $1,573,661 $(214,381) $ (8,432) $(106,531) $1,269,307

Comprehensive income:
Net income — — 302,655 — — — 302,655
Foreign currency translation gain — — — — — 14,192 14,192
Unrealized derivative gain on cash-flow hedges (net of tax

benefit of $749) — — — — — 1,130 1,130
Minimum pension liability (net of tax expense of $8,879) — — — — — 12,190 12,190

Comprehensive income — — — — — — 330,167
Dividends, common – $.57 per share — — (85,515) — — — (85,515)
Issuance of shares:

Retirement units – 15,662 Class A shares — (531) — 653 — — 122
Employee stock purchase plan – 865,708 Class A shares 1 (3,312) — 37,076 — — 33,765
Restricted shares – 35,000 Class A shares — 162 — 1,458 (1,620) — —
Stock options – 1,337,425 Class A shares 134 48,057 — — — — 48,191
Stock conversions – 3,490 Class B shares to A shares — — — — — — —

Stock-based compensation expense – Restricted Class A shares — — — — 2,015 — 2,015
Repurchase of stock – 4,590,994 Class A shares — — — (205,810) — — (205,810)

BALANCE, DECEMBER 2003 15,856 53,645 1,790,801 (381,004) (8,037) (79,019) 1,392,242

Comprehensive income:
Net income — — 292,557 — — — 292,557
Foreign currency translation gain — — — — — 8,384 8,384
Unrealized derivative gain on cash-flow hedges (net of tax

expense of $340) — — — — — 485 485
Minimum pension liability (net of tax benefit of $207) — — — — — (340) (340)
Unrealized loss on marketable securities (net of tax benefit of

$164) — — — — — (199) (199)

Comprehensive income — — — — — — 300,887
Dividends, common – $.61 per share — — (90,127) — — — (90,127)
Issuance of shares:

Retirement units – 9,810 Class A shares — (334) — 429 — — 95
Employee stock purchase plan – 953,679 Class A shares — (8,295) — 41,585 — — 33,290
Restricted shares – 515,866 Class A shares — (1,997) — 22,530 (20,533) — —
Stock options – 1,599,621 Class A shares 160 52,956 — — — — 53,116

Stock-based compensation expense – Restricted Class A shares — — — — 4,261 — 4,261
Repurchase of stock – 6,852,643 Class A shares — — — (293,222) — — (293,222)
Treasury stock retirement – 9,232,565 Class A shares (923) (95,975) (308,377) 405,275 — — —

BALANCE, DECEMBER 2004 15,093 — 1,684,854 (204,407) (24,309) (70,689) 1,400,542

Comprehensive income:
Net income — — 259,753 — — — 259,753
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — (7,918) (7,918)
Unrealized derivative gain on cash-flow hedges (net of tax

expense of $1,120) — — — — — 1,386 1,386
Minimum pension liability (net of tax benefit of $30,560) — — — — — (40,575) (40,575)
Unrealized loss on marketable securities (net of tax benefit of

$62) — — — — — (80) (80)

Comprehensive income — — — — — — 212,566
Dividends, common – $.65 per share — — (94,535) — — — (94,535)
Issuance of shares:

Retirement units – 10,378 Class A shares — (345) — 445 — — 100
Employee stock purchase plan – 833 Class A shares — 31 — — — — 31
Stock options – 847,816 Class A shares 84 20,260 — — — — 20,344
Stock conversions – 6,074 Class B shares to A shares — — — — — — —

Restricted shares forfeited – 14,927 Class A shares — 639 — (639) — — —
Reversal of deferred compensation (a) — — (24,309) — 24,309 — —
Stock-based compensation expense — 34,563 — — — — 34,563
Repurchase of stock – 1,734,099 Class A shares — — — (57,363) — — (57,363)

BALANCE, DECEMBER 2005 $15,177 $ 55,148 $1,825,763 $(261,964) $ — $(117,876) $1,516,248

(a) See Note 14 under the restricted stock section for information related to the reversal of the amount in deferred compensation.

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the first-in, first-out (‘‘FIFO’’) method for other1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES inventories.

Nature of Operations Investments
The New York Times Company (the ‘‘Company’’) is Investments in which the Company has at least a
engaged in diversified activities in media. The 20%, but not more than a 50%, interest are generally
Company’s principal businesses are newspapers, accounted for under the equity method. Investment
television and radio stations, and Internet properties. interests below 20% are generally accounted for under
The Company also has equity interests in various other the cost method. The Company has an investment
companies (see Note 5). The Company’s major source interest below 20% in a limited liability company
of revenue is advertising, predominantly from its (‘‘LLC’’) which is accounted for under the equity
newspaper business. The newspapers generally operate method (see Note 5).
in the Northeast, Southeast and California markets.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Principles of Consolidation Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost.
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method
accounts of the Company after the elimination of over the shorter of estimated asset service lives or lease
material intercompany items. terms as follows: buildings, building equipment and

improvements—10 to 40 years; equipment—3 to
Fiscal Year 30 years. The Company capitalizes interest costs as
The Company’s fiscal year end is the last Sunday in part of the cost of constructing major facilities and
December. Each of the fiscal years 2005, 2004 and equipment.
2003 comprises 52 weeks. Unless specifically stated
otherwise, all references to 2005, 2004 and 2003 refer Intangible Assets Acquired
to our fiscal years ended, or the dates as of, Goodwill (primarily the excess of cost over the fair
December 25, 2005, December 26, 2004 and market value of tangible net assets acquired) and other
December 28, 2003. intangible assets are accounted for in accordance with

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (‘‘FAS’’)
Cash and Cash Equivalents No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company considers all highly liquid debt (‘‘FAS 142’’).
instruments with original maturities of three months

Goodwill is not amortized but tested for impairmentor less to be cash equivalents.
annually or if certain circumstances indicate a possible
impairment may exist.Accounts Receivable

Credit is extended to the Company’s advertisers and Other intangible assets acquired consist primarily of
subscribers based upon an evaluation of the customer’s mastheads and licenses on various acquired properties,
financial condition, and collateral is not required from customer lists and other assets. Certain other intangible
such customers. Allowances for estimated credit losses, assets (mastheads and licenses), which have indefinite
rebates, rate adjustments and discounts are generally lives, are not amortized but tested for impairment
established based on historical experience. annually or if certain circumstances indicate a possible

impairment may exist. Certain other intangible assets
Inventories (customer lists and other assets) are amortized over
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or current their estimated useful lives, ranging from 1 to 9 years
market value. Inventory cost is generally based on the remaining as of December 2005.
last-in, first-out (‘‘LIFO’’) method for newsprint and
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets home-delivery subscriptions are deferred at the
The Company evaluates whether there has been an time of sale and are recognized in earnings on a
impairment of any of its long-lived assets whenever pro rata basis over the terms of the subscriptions.
events or changes in circumstances indicate that a

� Other revenue is recognized when the related
possible impairment may exist. An impairment in service or product has been delivered.
value exists when the carrying amount of a long-lived
asset is not recoverable (undiscounted cash flows are Income Taxes
less than the asset’s carrying value) and exceeds its fair Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with
value. If it is determined that an impairment in value FAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes
has occurred, the carrying value of the long-lived asset (‘‘FAS 109’’). Under FAS 109 income taxes are
is reduced to its fair value. Goodwill and certain other recognized for the following: i) amount of taxes
intangibles are tested for impairment under FAS 142, payable for the current year, and ii) deferred tax assets
and all other long-lived assets are tested for and liabilities for the future tax consequence of events
impairment under FAS No. 144, Accounting for the that have been recognized differently in the financial
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. statements than for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets

and liabilities are established using statutory tax rates
Self-Insurance and are adjusted for tax rate changes. FAS 109 also
The Company self-insures for workers’ compensation requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a
costs, certain employee medical and disability benefits, valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that
and automobile and general liability claims. The some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not
recorded liabilities for self-insured risks are primarily be realized.
calculated using actuarial methods. The liabilities
include amounts for actual claims, claim growth and Earnings Per Share
claims incurred but not yet reported. The Company calculates earnings per share in

accordance with FAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share.
Pension and Postretirement Benefits Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net
The Company sponsors several pension plans and earnings available to common shares by average
makes contributions to several others in connection common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per
with collective bargaining agreements. The Company share is calculated similarly, except that it includes the
also provides health and life insurance benefits to dilutive effect of the assumed exercise of securities,
retired employees who are not covered by collective including the effect of shares issuable under the
bargaining agreements. Company’s stock-based incentive plans.
The Company’s pension and postretirement benefit All references to earnings per share are on a diluted
costs are accounted for using actuarial valuations basis unless otherwise noted.
required by FAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions (‘‘FAS 87’’), and FAS No. 106, Employers’ Stock-Based Compensation
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Stock-based compensation is accounted for in
Pensions (‘‘FAS 106’’). accordance with FAS No. 123 (revised 2004),

Share-Based Payment (‘‘FAS 123-R’’). The Company
Revenue Recognition adopted FAS 123-R at the beginning of 2005. The
� Advertising revenue is recognized when Company establishes fair value for its equity awards to

advertisements are published, broadcast or placed determine its cost and recognizes the related expense
on the Company’s Web sites or each time a user over the appropriate vesting period. The Company
clicks on certain ads, net of provisions for recognizes expense for stock options, restricted stock
estimated rebates, rate adjustments and discounts. units, restricted stock, shares issued under the

� Circulation revenue includes single copy and home Company’s employee stock purchase plan and other
delivery subscription revenue. Single copy revenue long-term incentive plan awards. Before the adoption
is recognized based on date of publication, net of of FAS 123-R, the Company applied Accounting
provisions for related returns. Proceeds from Principles Board Opinion (‘‘APB’’) No. 25, Accounting
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for Stock Issued to Employees (‘‘APB 25’’) to account Other intangible assets acquired consist primarily of
for its stock-based awards. See Note 14 for additional mastheads and licenses on various acquired properties,
information related to stock-based compensation customer lists, as well as other assets. Other intangible
expense. assets acquired that have indefinite lives (mastheads

and licenses) are not amortized but tested forForeign Currency Translation
impairment annually or if certain circumstancesThe assets and liabilities of foreign companies are
indicate a possible impairment may exist. Certain othertranslated at year-end exchange rates. Results of
intangible assets acquired (customer lists and otheroperations are translated at average rates of exchange in
assets) are amortized over their estimated useful lives.effect during the year. The resulting translation

adjustment is included as a separate component of the The Company completed its annual impairment tests
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ in the fourth quarter of 2005, which did not result in
Equity, and in the Stockholders’ Equity section of the the recognition of an impairment of Goodwill or other
Consolidated Balance Sheets, in the caption intangibles.
‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), net

In the first quarter of 2005, the Company adoptedof income taxes.’’
Emerging Issues Task Force Topic No. D-108, Use of

Use of Estimates the Residual Method to Value Acquired Assets Other
The preparation of financial statements in conformity Than Goodwill (‘‘EITF D-108’’), which requires the
with accounting principles generally accepted in the use of the direct valuation method i) for valuing
United States of America (‘‘GAAP’’) requires intangible assets acquired in a business combination
management to make estimates and assumptions that after September 29, 2004, and ii) to test for
affect the amounts reported in the Company’s impairment of indefinite lived intangible assets.
Consolidated Financial Statements. Actual results could EITF D-108 also required companies that applied the
differ from these estimates.

residual valuation method in previous impairment tests
to perform an impairment test using the directReclassifications
valuation method no later than the beginning of theFor comparability, certain prior year amounts have

been reclassified to conform with the 2005 first fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2004.
presentation. The Company had applied the residual valuation

method in previous impairment tests; therefore, in the
2. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS first quarter of 2005, the Company tested its indefinite

lived intangible assets for impairment applying theGoodwill is the excess of cost over the fair market
direct valuation method. The impairment test did notvalue of tangible net assets acquired. Goodwill is not
result in an impairment of the intangible assets withamortized but tested for impairment annually or if
indefinite lives.certain circumstances indicate a possible impairment

may exist in accordance with FAS 142.

The changes in the carrying amount of Goodwill in 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

News Media Broadcast
(In thousands) Group Media Group About.com Total

Balance as of December 2003 $1,057,703 $39,979 $ — $1,097,682
Foreign currency translation 6,180 — — 6,180

Balance as of December 2004 1,063,883 39,979 — 1,103,862

Goodwill acquired during year 2,114 565 343,689 346,368
Foreign currency translation (10,349) — — (10,349)

Balance as of December 2005 $1,055,648 $40,544 $343,689 $1,439,881

Goodwill acquired in 2005 resulted from the acquisition of About.com, North Bay Business Journal (‘‘North
Bay’’) and KAUT-TV (see Note 3).

The foreign currency translation line item above reflects changes in Goodwill resulting from fluctuating exchange
rates related to the consolidation of the International Herald Tribune (the ‘‘IHT’’).
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Other intangible assets acquired as of December 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

December 2005 December 2004

Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

(In thousands) Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net

Amortized other intangible assets:
Customer lists $218,584 $(155,763) $ 62,821 $203,300 $(137,384) $ 65,916
Other 55,399 (12,556) 42,843 7,310 (6,299) 1,011

Total 273,983 (168,319) 105,664 210,610 (143,683) 66,927

Unamortized other intangible assets:
Broadcast licenses 233,895 — 233,895 220,194 — 220,194
Newspaper mastheads 71,547 — 71,547 73,606 — 73,606

Total 305,442 — 305,442 293,800 — 293,800

Total other intangible assets acquired $579,425 $(168,319) $411,106 $504,410 $(143,683) $360,727

The table above includes other intangible assets related Amortization expense related to amortized other
to the acquisitions of About.com, North Bay and intangible assets acquired was $24.9 million in 2005,
KAUT-TV (see Note 3). Additionally, certain amounts $17.3 million in 2004 and $17.7 million in 2003.
in the table above include the foreign currency Expenses for the next five years related to these
translation adjustment related to the consolidation of intangible assets is expected to be as follows:
the IHT.

(In thousands)
Year AmountAs of December 2005, the remaining weighted-average

amortization period is seven years for customer lists 2006 $24,400
2007 15,000and six years for other intangible assets acquired
2008 12,200included in the table above. 2009 10,900
2010 10,700

3. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS
NORTH BAY BUSINESS JOURNAL

KAUT-TV In February 2005, the Company acquired North Bay,
In November 2005, the Company acquired a weekly publication targeting business leaders in
KAUT-TV, a UPN station in Oklahoma City, for California’s Sonoma, Napa and Marin counties, for
approximately $23 million. KAUT-TV, which is approximately $3 million. North Bay is included in
located in the same television market as the the News Media Group as part of the Regional Media
Company’s station KFOR-TV (a ‘‘duopoly’’), is part of Group.
the Broadcast Media Group. Based on preliminary independent valuations of

About.com, North Bay and KAUT-TV, the CompanyABOUT.COM
has allocated the excess of the purchase prices over theIn March 2005, the Company acquired 100% of the
carrying value of the net assets acquired as follows:outstanding common stock of About, Inc., a leading
About.com- $343.7 million to goodwill andonline consumer information provider. The purchase
$62.2 million to other intangible assets (primarilyprice was approximately $410 million. The acquisition
content, customer lists and a contract); North Bay-provides the Company with strategic benefits,
$2.1 million to goodwill and $0.9 million to otherincluding diversifying the Company’s advertising base
intangible assets (primarily customer lists); KAUT-TV-and extending its reach among Internet users.
$0.6 million to goodwill and $14.3 million to otherAbout.com is a separate reportable segment of the
intangible assets (primarily FCC licenses). TheCompany.
goodwill for the acquisitions described above is tax-
deductible.
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The preliminary purchase price allocations for the the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income
acquisitions in 2005 are subject to adjustment when and did not have a material impact on the Company’s
additional information concerning asset and liability Consolidated Financial Statements.
valuations is obtained. The final asset and liability fair

4. INVENTORIESvalues may differ from those included in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December Inventories as shown in the accompanying
2005; however, the changes are not expected to have a Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows:
material effect on the Company’s Consolidated

December December
Financial Statements. (In thousands) 2005 2004

The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements Newsprint and magazine paper $28,190 $29,848
Other inventory 3,910 2,806include the operating results of these acquisitions

subsequent to their date of acquisition. Total $32,100 $32,654
The acquisitions in 2005 were funded through a

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or currentcombination of short-term and long-term debt and
market value. Cost was determined utilizing the LIFOdid not have a material impact on the Company’s
method for 77% of inventory in 2005 and 80% inConsolidated Financial Statements for the periods
2004. The replacement cost of inventory waspresented herein.
approximately $40 million as of December 2005 and
$37 million as of December 2004.INTERNATIONAL HERALD TRIBUNE

In January 2003 the Company purchased the
5. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURESremaining 50% interest in the IHT that it did not

previously own for approximately $65 million. The
As of December 2005, the Company’s investments in

IHT is an international English language newspaper
joint ventures consisted of equity ownership interests

and, as a result of the acquisition, is the primary
in the following entities:

international print outlet for the journalism of The
Company % OwnershipNew York Times (‘‘The Times’’). The purchase was
Discovery Times Channel, LLC (‘‘DTC’’) 50.0%funded by cash from operations. Based on a final
Donohue Malbaie Inc. (‘‘Malbaie’’) 49.0%

independent valuation, the purchase price was Metro Boston LLC (‘‘Metro Boston’’) 49.0%
Madison Paper Industries (‘‘Madison’’) 40.0%allocated to the fair value of goodwill ($71.9 million),
New England Sports Ventures, LLC (‘‘NESV’’) 16.7%to other intangible assets ($16.2 million, principally

the masthead as well as other assets) and to other The Company’s investments above are accounted for
assets acquired net of liabilities assumed. This under the equity method, and are recorded in
acquisition did not have a material impact on the ‘‘Investments in Joint Ventures’’ in the Company’s
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s
periods presented herein. proportionate shares of the operating results of its

investments are recorded in ‘‘Net income/(loss) from
DISPOSITIONS joint ventures’’ in the Company’s Consolidated
In December 2004 the Company recorded a pre-tax Statements of Income and in ‘‘Investments in Joint
charge of $5.8 million as a result of restructuring its Ventures’’ in the Company’s Consolidated Balance
NYT-TV television production facility. The charge is Sheets.
recorded in selling, general and administrative

In March 2005, the Company invested $16.5 million(‘‘SGA’’) expenses in the Company’s Consolidated
to acquire a 49% interest in Metro Boston, whichStatements of Income and did not have a material
publishes a free daily newspaper catering to youngimpact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial
professionals in the Greater Boston area.Statements.
The Company and Discovery Communications, Inc.In March 2003 the Company closed a small job fair
own and operate DTC, a digital cable televisionbusiness resulting in a pre-tax charge of $4.6 million.
channel. DTC is a non-fiction channel that offersThe charge primarily consisted of the write-off of
programming on recent history and newsworthygoodwill. The charge is recorded in SGA expenses in
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events. The Company made additional capital $3.7 million in 2003. No loans or contributions were
made by the Company to Malbaie in 2005, 2004 orcontributions to DTC of $0.6 million in 2005 and
2003.$3.1 million in 2004.
Condensed combined balance sheets of the PaperThe Company owns an interest in NESV, which owns
Mills were as follows:the Boston Red Sox baseball club (including Fenway

Park and approximately 80% of the New England Condensed Combined Balance Sheets
of Paper MillsSports Network, a regional cable sports network).

December DecemberNESV decreased its minimum pension liability related
(In thousands) 2005 2004

to its pension plans to $6.4 million from
Current assets $ 54,582 $ 48,901

$6.8 million. This resulted in the Company increasing Current liabilities (38,094) (30,024)
its investment in NESV by its percentage share of the Working capital 16,488 18,877

Fixed assets, net 147,059 157,858decrease in the minimum pension liability along with
Long-term debt (7,400) (20,800)a gain to ‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive income/ Deferred income taxes and other (5,085) (6,519)

(loss), net of income taxes’’ in the Company’s Net assets $151,062 $149,416
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 2005,

During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company’s Newsand the Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Media Group purchased newsprint andStockholders’ Equity for the year then ended.
supercalendered paper from the Paper Mills atThe Company’s investments in Metro Boston, DTC
competitive prices. Such purchases aggregatedand NESV are not material to the Company’s
$76.3 million for 2005, $61.2 million for 2004 andConsolidated Financial Statements.
$54.7 million for 2003.

The Company also has investments in a Canadian
Condensed combined income statements of the Papernewsprint company, Malbaie, and a partnership
Mills were as follows:operating a supercalendered paper mill in Maine,
Condensed Combined Income Statements of PaperMadison (together, the ‘‘Paper Mills’’).
Mills

The Company and Myllykoski Corporation, a Finnish (In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
paper manufacturing company, are partners through Net sales and other income $266,097 $253,027 $229,678
subsidiary companies in Madison. The Company’s Costs and expenses 244,968 234,435 220,222

percentage ownership of Madison, which represents Income before taxes 21,129 18,592 9,456
Income tax expense 2,142 1,888 1,54740%, is through an 80%-owned consolidated
Net income $ 18,987 $ 16,704 $ 7,909subsidiary. Myllykoski Corporation owns a 10%

interest in Madison through a 20% minority interest The condensed combined financial information of the
in the consolidated subsidiary of the Company. Paper Mills excludes the income tax effects
Myllykoski Corporation’s proportionate share of the attributable to Madison because it is a partnership.
operating results of Madison is also recorded in ‘‘Net Such tax effects have been included in the Company’s
income/(loss) from joint ventures’’ in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
Consolidated Statements of Income and in

Madison recorded unrealized gains of $0.2 million in
‘‘Investments in Joint Ventures’’ in the Company’s 2005 and $1.0 million in 2004 related to the change
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Myllykoski Corporation’s in market value of interest rate agreements into which
minority interest is included in ‘‘Minority interest in it had entered. The unrealized gain resulted in the
net (income)/loss of subsidiaries’’ in the Company’s Company increasing its investment in Madison by its
Consolidated Statements of Income and in ‘‘Minority percentage share of the unrealized gain along with
Interest’’ in the Company’s Consolidated Balance recording the unrealized gain in ‘‘Accumulated other
Sheets. comprehensive income/(loss), net of income taxes’’ in
The Company received distributions from Madison of the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
$5.0 million in 2005, $10.0 million in 2004 and December 2005 and December 2004, and the
$5.6 million in 2003. No loans or contributions were Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’
made by the Company to Madison in 2005, 2004 or Equity for the years then ended. The interest rate
2003. agreements, which expired on July 1, 2005, were
The Company received distributions from Malbaie of designated as cash flow hedging instruments by
$4.1 million in 2005, $5.0 million in 2004 and Madison.
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In 2005 Madison increased its minimum pension amount of the gain being deferred and amortized. In
liability related to its pension plans to $2.4 million as addition, the Company sold property in Sarasota, Fla.,
of December 2005, from $1.6 million as of which resulted in a pre-tax gain in the first quarter of
December 2004. This resulted in the Company 2005 of $8.4 million ($5.0 million after tax or $.03
decreasing its investment in Madison by its percentage per diluted share).
share of the increase in the minimum pension liability

Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accountingalong with a charge to ‘‘Accumulated other
Principlecomprehensive income/(loss), net of income taxes’’ in
In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standardsthe Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the
Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued FASB InterpretationConsolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’
No. (‘‘FIN’’) 47, Accounting for Conditional AssetEquity.
Retirement Obligations—an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 143 (‘‘FIN 47’’). FIN 47 requires an6. OTHER
entity to recognize a liability for the fair value of a

Other Income conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value
‘‘Other income’’ in the Company’s Consolidated can be reasonably estimated. FIN 47 states that a
Statements of Income includes the following items: conditional asset retirement obligation is a legal

obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
which the timing or method of settlement are

Non-compete agreement $4,167 $5,000 $ 5,000
conditional upon a future event that may or may notAdvertising credit — 3,212 8,277

Other income $4,167 $8,212 $13,277 be within the control of the entity. FIN 47 was
effective no later than the end of fiscal years ending

The Company entered into a five-year $25 million after December 15, 2005. The Company adopted
non-compete agreement in connection with the sale of FIN 47 effective December 2005 and accordingly
the Santa Barbara News-Press in 2000. This income recorded an after-tax charge of $5.9 million or $.04
was recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of per diluted share ($10.5 million pre-tax) as a
the agreement, which ended in October 2005. The cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
advertising credit relates to credits for advertising the in the Consolidated Statement of Income. This charge
Company issued that were not used within the relates primarily to those lease agreements that require
allotted time by the advertiser. the Company to restore the land or facilities to their

original condition at the end of the leases. The
Sale of Assets Company was uncertain of the timing of payment for
In the first quarter of 2005, the Company recognized these asset retirement obligations; therefore a liability
a $122.9 million pre-tax gain from the sale of assets. was not previously recognized in the financial
The Company completed the sale of its current statements under GAAP. On a prospective basis, this
headquarters in New York City for $175.0 million accounting change requires recognition of these costs
and entered into a lease for the building with the ratably over the lease term. The adoption of FIN 47
purchaser/lessor through 2007, when the Company initially resulted in a non-cash addition to Land,
expects to occupy its new headquarters (see Note 17). buildings and equipment of $12.3 million with a
This transaction has been accounted for as a corresponding increase in long-term liabilities. The
sale-leaseback in accordance with GAAP. The sale assets as of December 2005 were $7.3 million,
resulted in a total pre-tax gain of $143.9 million, of consisting of gross assets of $12.3 million less
which $114.5 million ($63.3 million after tax or $.43 accumulated depreciation of $5.0 million. The asset
per diluted share) was recognized in the first quarter retirement obligation as of December 2005 was
of 2005. The remainder of the gain is being deferred $17.8 million, consisting of a liability of
and amortized over the lease term in accordance with $12.3 million and accretion expense of $5.5 million.
GAAP. The lease requires the Company to pay rent In future periods, when cash is paid upon the
over the lease term to the purchaser/lessor and will settlement of the asset retirement obligation, the
result in rent expense that will be offset by the payments will be classified as a component of
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(c) On March 17, 2005, the Company issued $250.0 million 5-year notesoperating cash flow in the Consolidated Statements of
maturing March 15, 2010, at an annual rate of 4.5%, andCash Flows. $250.0 million 10-year notes maturing March 15, 2015, at an annual
rate of 5.0%. Interest is payable semi-annually on March 15 and

Staff Reductions September 15 on both series of notes.

In 2005, the Company announced plans to reduce (d) On July 26, 2002, the Company filed a $300.0 million shelf registration
staff by approximately 700 employees. In 2005, staff statement on Form S-3 with the SEC for unsecured debt securities that

may be issued by the Company from time to time. The registrationreductions resulted in a total pre-tax charge of
statement became effective on August 6, 2002. On September 17, 2002,$57.8 million ($35.3 million after tax or $.23 per the Company filed a prospectus supplement to allow the issuance of up to

share), primarily within the News Media Group. This $300.0 million in medium-term notes. As of December 2005, the
Company had issued $75.0 million of medium-term notes under thischarge is recorded in SGA expenses in the Company’s
program.Consolidated Statements of Income. As of December

2005, the Company had a liability of $38.2 million
The Company’s total debt, including commercialrelated to its 2005 charge. The Company also plans
paper and capital lease obligations (see Note 17),to take a charge of approximately $10 to $13 million
amounted to $1.4 billion as of December 2005 andin 2006 for staff reductions announced in 2005, most
$1.1 billion as of December 2004. Total unusedof which will be recorded in the first quarter of 2006.
borrowing capacity under all financing arrangements
amounted to $366.9 million as of December 2005.7. DEBT

The Company’s $600.0 million commercial paperLong-term debt consists of the following:
program is supported by the revolving credit
agreements described below. Commercial paper issuedDecember December

(In thousands) 2005 2004 by the Company is unsecured and can have maturities
7.625% Notes due 2005, net of unamortized of up to 270 days. The Company had $496.5 million

debt costs of $183 in 2004, effective in commercial paper outstanding as of
interest rate 7.996%(a) $ — $250,447 December 2005, with an annual weighted average8.25% Debentures due 2025 (due 2005 at

interest rate of 4.3% and an average of 53 days tooption of Company), net of unamortized
debt costs of $2,069 in 2004 effective maturity from original issuance. The Company had
interest rate 8.553%(a) — 69,840 $335.4 million in commercial paper outstanding as of

4.625%-7.125% Medium-Term Notes due
December 2004, with an annual weighted average2007 through 2009, net of unamortized

debt costs of $612 in 2005 and $849 in interest rate of 2.3% and an average of 7 days to
2004(b) 249,888 249,651 maturity from original issuance.

4.5% Notes due 2010, net of unamortized
debt costs of $1,860 in 2005(c) 248,140 — The primary purpose of the Company’s revolving

4.610% Medium-Term Notes due 2012, net credit agreements is to support the Company’s
of unamortized debt costs of $793 in

commercial paper program. In addition, these2005 and $890 in 2004(d) 74,207 74,110
5.0% Notes due 2015, net of unamortized revolving credit agreements provide a facility for the

debt costs of $273 in 2005(c) 249,727 — issuance of letters of credit. Of the total
Total notes and debentures 821,962 644,048 $670.0 million available under two revolving credit
Less: current portion — (250,447) agreements, the Company has issued letters of credit
Total long-term debt $821,962 $393,601 of $31.6 million. The remaining balance of

$638.4 million supports the Company’s commercial
(a) See discussion in this Note for information regarding the repayment of paper program discussed above. There were nothis debt.

borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit
(b) On August 21, 1998, the Company filed a $300.0 million shelf agreements as of December 2005 andregistration on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission

December 2004.(‘‘SEC’’) for unsecured debt securities to be issued by the Company from
time to time. The registration statement became effective August 28,

Any borrowings under the revolving credit agreements1998. On September 24, 1998, the Company filed a prospectus
bear interest at specified margins based on thesupplement to allow the issuance of up to $300.0 million in

medium-term notes of which no amount remains available as of Company’s credit rating, over various floating rates
December 2005. In October 2003, $49.5 million due under one tranche selected by the Company.of the medium-term notes was repaid.
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The revolving credit agreements contain a covenant Interest expense, net, as shown in the accompanying
that requires specified levels of stockholders’ equity. As Consolidated Statements of Income was as follows:
of December 2005, the amount of stockholders’

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
equity in excess of the required levels was

Interest expense $60,018 $51,372 $51,205$427.6 million. Loss from extinguishment of
debt 4,767 — —The Company’s 10-year notes, aggregating Interest income (4,462) (2,431) (1,947)

Capitalized interest (11,155) (7,181) (4,501)$250.0 million and bearing interest at an annual rate
Interest expense, net $49,168 $41,760 $44,757of 7.625%, matured on March 15, 2005. The

repayment of these notes resulted in a decrease in
‘‘Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease 8. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
obligations’’ in the Company’s Consolidated Balance

In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company entered intoSheet as of December 2005.
a forward starting interest rate swap agreement (‘‘forwardOn March 15, 2005, the Company redeemed all of its
starting swap agreement’’) designated as a cash-flow hedge$71.9 million outstanding 8.25% debentures, callable on
as defined under FAS No. 133, as amended, AccountingMarch 15, 2005, and maturing on March 15, 2025, at
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activitiesa redemption price of 103.76% of the principal amount.
(‘‘FAS 133’’). The forward starting swap agreement, whichThe redemption premium and unamortized issuance
had a notional amount totaling $50.0 million, is intendedcosts resulted in a loss from the extinguishment of debt
to lock in a fixed interest rate on the issuance of debtof $4.8 million and is included in ‘‘Interest expense-net’’
expected in March 2006. As of December 2005, the fairin the Company’s 2005 Consolidated Statement of
value of the forward starting swap agreement wasIncome.
immaterial. There was no amount recognized in earnings

The issuance of the $500.0 million in notes on related to the forward starting swap agreement.
March 17, 2005, net of the repayment of the

In the second quarter of 2005, the Company entered into$71.9 million of debentures, resulted in an increase to
a forward starting swap agreement designated as a‘‘Long-term debt’’ in the Company’s Consolidated
cash-flow hedge as defined under FAS 133. The forwardBalance Sheet as of December 2005.
starting swap agreement, which had a notional amount

Based on borrowing rates currently available for debt totaling $50.0 million, was intended to lock in a fixed
with similar terms and average maturities, the fair interest rate on the issuance of debt in December 2005.
value of the Company’s long-term debt was The Company did not issue debt in December 2005 and,
$812.3 million as of December 2005 and therefore, terminated the forward starting swap agreement
$671.8 million as of December 2004. resulting in a gain of $2.3 million. The Company expects

to amortize the gain over the maturity period of debt thatThe aggregate face amount of maturities of long-term
it expects to issue in March 2006 as discussed above.debt over the next five years and thereafter is as

follows: In the first quarter of 2005, the Company terminated its
forward starting swap agreements entered into in 2004

(In thousands) Amount that were designated as cash-flow hedges as defined under
2006 — FAS 133. The forward starting swap agreements, which
2007 $102,000
2008 49,500 had notional amounts totaling $90.0 million, were
2009 99,000 intended to lock in fixed interest rates on the issuance of2010 250,000
Thereafter 325,000 debt in March 2005. The Company terminated the
Total face amount of maturities 825,500 forward starting swap agreements in connection with the
Less: Current portion of long-term debt —

issuance of its 10-year $250.0 million notes maturing onTotal long-term debt 825,500
March 15, 2015. The termination of the forward startingLess: Unamortized debt costs (3,538)
swap agreements resulted in a gain of approximatelyCarrying value of long-term debt $821,962

$2 million, which will be amortized into income through
March 2015 as a reduction of interest expense related to
the Company’s 10-year notes.
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In the first quarter of 2005, the Company’s interest rate totaling $100.0 million, were entered into to exchange
swap agreements (‘‘swap agreements’’), designated as the fixed interest rate on a portion of the Company’s
fair-value hedges as defined under FAS 133, expired in 10-year notes for a variable interest rate. On the call
connection with the Company’s repayment of its 10-year date of the 10-year notes, the fair value of the swap
$250.0 million notes that were callable March 15, 2005. agreements decreased to zero.
These swap agreements, which had notional amounts

9. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense for each of the years presented is determined in accordance with FAS 109. Reconciliations
between the effective tax rate on income before income taxes and the federal statutory rate are presented below.

2005 2004 2003

% of % of % of
(In thousands) Amount Pretax Amount Pretax Amount Pretax

Tax at federal statutory rate $156,137 35.0% $166,826 35.0% $174,948 35.0%
State and local taxes – net 22,485 5.0 19,646 4.1 26,020 5.2
Other – net 1,620 0.4 (2,973) (0.6) (3,206) (0.6)

Income tax expense $180,242 40.4% $183,499 38.5% $197,762 39.6%

The components of income tax expense as shown in because it was determined that the future benefit from
the Consolidated Statements of Income were as these losses would not be realized. The Company also
follows: established a $1.8 million valuation allowance against

other loss carryforwards, resulting in an increase in tax
(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003 expense by this amount.
Current tax expense The components of the net deferred tax assets andFederal $166,450 $149,322 $119,004
Foreign 675 683 525 liabilities recognized in the Company’s Consolidated
State and local 42,752 29,947 24,697 Balance Sheets were as follows:
Total current tax expense 209,877 179,952 144,226

December DecemberDeferred tax (benefits)/expense
(In thousands) 2005 2004Federal (18,459) 12,433 41,550

Foreign (3,017) (7,864) (3,348) Deferred Tax Assets:
State and local (8,159) (1,022) 15,334 Retirement, postemployment and

deferred compensation plans $269,468 $234,716Total deferred tax (benefit)/expense (29,635) 3,547 53,536
Accruals for other employee benefits,

Income tax expense $180,242 $183,499 $197,762 compensation, insurance and other 50,331 46,155
Accounts receivable allowances 9,940 10,056
Other 102,623 85,337State tax operating loss carryforwards (‘‘loss

carryforwards’’) totaled $3.5 million as of Gross deferred tax assets 432,362 376,264
Valuation allowance (2,184) (1,832)December 2005 and $2.9 million as of
Net deferred tax assets 430,178 374,432December 2004. Such loss carryforwards expire in

accordance with provisions of applicable tax laws and Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment 245,416 267,220have remaining lives generally ranging from 1 to
Intangible assets 132,496 114,3303 years. Certain loss carryforwards are likely to expire Investments in joint ventures 33,539 34,850

unused. Accordingly, the Company has valuation Other 30,415 33,501
allowances amounting to $2.2 million as of Gross deferred tax liabilities 441,866 449,901
December 2005 and $1.8 million as of Net deferred tax liability $ 11,688 $ 75,469
December 2004.

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets consist of:In 2005 the Company established a $0.4 million

Deferred tax asset – current $ 68,118 $ 56,639valuation allowance against loss carryforwards,
Deferred tax liability – long term 79,806 132,108

resulting in an increase in tax expense by this amount.
Net deferred tax liability $ 11,688 $ 75,469

In 2004 the Company’s valuation allowance decreased
$1.5 million due to the write-off of loss carryforwards
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Income tax benefits related to the exercise of equity from 2000 through 2003. The Company does not
awards reduced current taxes payable and increased believe that the completion of these audits will have a
additional paid-in capital by $6.0 million in 2005, material effect on the Company’s Consolidated
$13.5 million in 2004 and $13.2 million in 2003. Financial Statements.

As of December 2005, and December 2004, The Company’s policy is to establish a tax
‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), net contingency liability for potential tax audit issues. The
of income taxes’’ in the Company’s Consolidated tax contingency liability is based on the Company’s
Balance Sheets and for the years then ended in the estimate of whether additional taxes will be due in the
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ future. Any additional taxes due will be determined
Equity was net of a deferred income tax asset of only upon the completion of current and future tax
$96.7 million and $67.2 million, respectively. audits. The timing of such payments cannot be

determined, but the Company expects that they willThe Internal Revenue Service has completed its
not be made within one year. Therefore, the taxexamination of federal income tax returns through
contingency liability is included in ‘‘Other2001 and is currently auditing the 2002 and 2003
Liabilities—Other’’ in the Company’s Consolidatedfederal income tax returns. In addition, there are
Balance Sheets.various state and local audits in progress for periods

10. PENSION BENEFITS

The Company sponsors several pension plans and service and final average or career pay and, where
makes contributions to several others in connection applicable, employee contributions. The Company’s
with collective bargaining agreements, including a non-qualified plans provide retirement benefits only to
joint company-union plan and a number of joint certain highly compensated employees of the
industry-union plans. These plans cover substantially Company.
all employees. The Company also has a foreign-based pension plan
The Company-sponsored plans include qualified for IHT employees (the ‘‘Foreign plan’’). The
(funded) plans as well as non-qualified (unfunded) information for the Foreign plan is combined with the
plans. These plans provide participating employees information for U.S. non-qualified plans. The benefit
with retirement benefits in accordance with benefit obligation of the Foreign plan is immaterial to the
provision formulas, which are based on years of Company’s total benefit obligation.

Net periodic pension cost for all Company-sponsored pension plans were as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Non- Non- Non-
Qualified Qualified Qualified Qualified Qualified Qualified

(In thousands) Plans Plans All Plans Plans Plans All Plans Plans Plans All Plans

Components of net periodic
pension cost:

Service cost $ 37,446 $ 2,342 $ 39,788 $ 33,279 $ 2,155 $ 35,434 $ 27,543 $ 1,940 $ 29,483
Interest cost 67,548 11,435 78,983 64,206 11,160 75,366 60,453 10,951 71,404
Expected return on plan assets (83,719) — (83,719) (76,292) — (76,292) (67,857) — (67,857)
Recognized actuarial loss 18,402 4,795 23,197 18,053 4,111 22,164 8,240 3,516 11,756
Amortization of prior service cost 403 70 473 402 259 661 402 310 712
Effect of special termination

benefits — 796 796 — — — — — —

Net periodic pension cost $ 40,080 $19,438 $ 59,518 $ 39,648 $17,685 $ 57,333 $ 28,781 $16,717 $ 45,498

In connection with collective bargaining agreements, the Company contributes to several other pension plans,
including a joint company-union plan and a number of joint industry-union plans. Contributions are determined
as a function of hours worked or period earnings for certain plans and are actuarially determined for certain other
plans. Pension cost for these plans was $23.1 million in 2005, $23.4 million in 2004 and $22.5 million in 2003.
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The changes in benefit obligation and plan assets as of December 2005 and December 2004, for all Company-
sponsored pension plans, were as follows:

2005 2004

Qualified Non-Qualified Qualified Non-Qualified
(In thousands) Plans Plans All Plans Plans Plans All Plans

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at prior measurement date $1,194,858 $ 202,403 $1,397,261 $1,093,091 $ 189,018 $1,282,109
Service cost 37,446 2,342 39,788 33,279 2,155 35,434
Interest cost 67,548 11,435 78,983 64,206 11,160 75,366
Plan participants’ contributions 71 — 71 83 — 83
Actuarial loss 75,955 23,849 99,804 54,200 12,032 66,232
Special termination benefits — 796 796 — — —
Benefits paid (48,766) (12,306) (61,072) (50,001) (12,188) (62,189)
Effect of change in currency conversion — (390) (390) — 226 226

Benefit obligation at current measurement date 1,327,112 228,129 1,555,241 1,194,858 202,403 1,397,261

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at prior measurement

date 1,039,493 — 1,039,493 924,358 — 924,358
Actual return on plan assets 73,761 — 73,761 107,653 — 107,653
Employer contribution 47,300 12,306 59,606 57,400 12,188 69,588
Plan participants’ contributions 71 — 71 83 — 83
Benefits paid (48,766) (12,306) (61,072) (50,001) (12,188) (62,189)

Fair value of plan assets at measurement date 1,111,859 — 1,111,859 1,039,493 — 1,039,493

Funded status (215,253) (228,129) (443,382) (155,365) (202,403) (357,768)
Unrecognized actuarial loss 308,359 88,221 396,580 240,847 69,642 310,489
Unrecognized prior service cost 4,688 1,334 6,022 5,091 1,404 6,495

Net amount recognized $ 97,794 $(138,574) $ (40,780) $ 90,573 $(131,357) $ (40,784)

Amount recognized in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets consist of:

Accrued benefit cost $ (74,644) $(197,953) $ (272,597) $ (26,612) $(175,718) $ (202,330)
Intangible asset 4,739 1,334 6,073 5,273 1,404 6,677
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 167,699 58,045 225,744 111,912 42,957 154,869

Net amount recognized $ 97,794 $(138,574) $ (40,780) $ 90,573 $(131,357) $ (40,784)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension Weighted-average assumptions used in the actuarial
plans was $1.4 billion as of December 2005 and computations to determine benefit obligations as of
$1.2 billion as of December 2004. December 2005 and December 2004, were as follows:

Information for pension plans with an accumulated 2005 2004
benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as of Discount rate 5.50% 5.75%
December 2005 and December 2004, were as follows: Rate of increase in compensation levels 4.50% 4.50%

(In thousands) 2005 2004 Weighted-average assumptions used in the actuarial
Projected benefit obligation $1,555,241 $1,397,261 computations to determine net periodic pension cost
Accumulated benefit obligation $1,384,382 $1,241,823 were as follows:
Fair value of plan assets $1,111,859 $1,039,493

2005 2004 2003
Additional information about the Company’s pension

Discount rate 5.75% 6.00% 6.50%plans were as follows: Rate of increase in compensation levels 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%
Expected long-term rate of return on(In thousands) 2005 2004

assets 8.75% 8.75% 8.75%
Increase in minimum pension liability included in

other comprehensive income $70,875 $700
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Beginning in 2005, the discount rate used for pension plans. Therefore, the pension plan assets are
determining future pension obligations was changed to diversified to the extent necessary to minimize risks
a methodology that equates the plans’ projected and to achieve an optimal balance between risk and
benefit obligations to a present value calculated using return and between income and growth of assets
the Citigroup Pension Discount Curve. The Company through capital appreciation.
changed to this approach to better reflect the specific The Company’s policy is to allocate pension plan
cash flows of these plans in determining the discount funds within a range of percentages for each major
rate. Previously, the discount rates were based on an asset category as follows:
index of Aa-rated corporate bonds.

% RangeThe methodology described above includes producing
a cash flow of annual accrued benefits as defined Equity securities 65-75%

Debt securities 17-28%under the Projected Unit Cost Method as provided by
Real estate 0-5%FAS 87. For active participants, service is projected to
Other 0-5%the end of 2005 and benefit earnings are projected to

the date of termination. The projected plan cash flow The Company may direct the transfer of assets
is discounted to the measurement date using the between investment managers in order to rebalance
Annual Spot Rates provided in the Citigroup Pension the portfolio in accordance with asset allocation ranges
Discount Curve. A single discount rate is then above to accomplish the investment objectives for the
computed so that the present value of the benefit cash pension plan assets.
flow (on a projected benefit obligation basis as

In 2005, the Company changed its mortality assumptiondescribed above) equals the present value computed
to the 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Table from theusing the Citigroup annual rates.
1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table. This change was

In determining the expected long-term rate of return made by the Company to incorporate an updated
on assets, the Company evaluated input from its mortality assumption to calculate its pension obligation.
investment consultants, actuaries and investment

In December 2005 and December 2004, the Companymanagement firms, including their review of asset
made tax-deductible contributions of $47.3 million andclass return expectations, as well as long-term
$57.4 million, respectively, to its qualified pension plans.historical asset class returns. Projected returns by such
Although the Company does not have any minimumconsultants and economists are based on broad equity
funding requirements in 2006 (under the Employeeand bond indices. Additionally, the Company
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended,considered its historical 10-year and 15-year
and Internal Revenue Code requirements), it may electcompounded returns, which have been in excess of
to make a contribution. The amount of thethe Company’s forward-looking return expectations.
contribution, if any, would be based on the results of

The Company’s pension plan weighted-average asset the January 1, 2006 valuation, market performance and
allocations as of December 2005 and December 2004, interest rates in 2006 as well as other factors. Assuming
by asset category, were as follows: that the Company achieves an 8.75% return on pension

assets, that interest rates are stable and that there are no
2005 2004 changes to the Company’s benefits structure in 2006, it

Asset Category Percentage of Plan Assets expects making contributions in the fourth quarter of
Equity securities 75% 74% 2006 in the same range as the contributions made in
Debt securities 22% 24% 2005 and 2004.Real estate 3% 2%

The Company’s accrued benefit cost for its sponsoredTotal 100% 100%
pension plans is included in ‘‘Other Liabilities—
Other’’ in the Company’s Consolidated Balance SheetsThe Company’s investment policy is to maximize the
(see Note 12).total rate of return (income and appreciation) with a

view to the long-term funding objectives of the
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The following benefit payments (net of plan cannot be disaggregated, relate to postretirement
participant contributions for non-qualified plans) benefits for plan participants. Postretirement costs
under the Company’s pension plans, which reflect related to these welfare plans were $37.4 million in
expected future services, are expected to be paid: 2005, $31.6 million in 2004 and $28.2 million in

2003.
Qualified Non-Qualified

(In thousands) Plans Plans Total The accrued postretirement benefit liability and the
2006 $ 53,102 $ 12,234 $ 65,336 change in benefit obligation as of December 2005 and
2007 54,398 12,178 66,576 December 2004 were as follows:
2008 56,621 12,747 69,368
2009 59,090 13,090 72,180 (In thousands) 2005 2004
2010 60,317 13,316 73,633

Change in benefit obligation:2011-2015 361,518 77,561 439,079
Benefit obligation at prior measurement date $ 217,878 $ 195,768

Total benefit payments $645,046 $141,126 $786,172 Service cost 6,920 6,158
Interest cost 12,210 11,539
Plan participants’ contributions 2,370 2,544The amount of cost recognized for defined
Actuarial loss 12,154 15,705contribution benefit plans was $13.4 million for
Benefits paid (14,801) (13,836)

2005, $13.0 million for 2004 and $11.5 million
Benefit obligation at current measurement

2003. date 236,731 217,878

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at prior measurement11. POSTRETIREMENT AND POSTEMPLOYMENT date — —

BENEFITS Employer contribution 14,801 13,836
Benefits paid (14,801) (13,836)

The Company provides health and life insurance Fair value of plan assets at current
measurement date — —benefits to retired employees (and their eligible

Funded status (236,731) (217,878)dependents) who are not covered by any collective
Unrecognized actuarial loss 68,121 58,610bargaining agreements if the employees meet specified
Unrecognized prior service cost (48,672) (53,845)

age and service requirements.
Net amount recognized $(217,282) $(213,113)

The Company’s policy is to pay its portion of
insurance premiums and claims under the above- On January 1, 2004, amendments to the Company’s
mentioned plan from Company assets. postretirement plan became effective. These

amendments included changes to the age and serviceIn accordance with FAS 106, the Company accrues
eligibility requirements and an increase in deductibles,the costs of such benefits during the employees’ active
co-payments, and out-of-pocket maximum paymentsyears of service.
related to the medical prescription drug plans. The

Net periodic postretirement cost was as follows: amendments resulted in a reduction of the Company’s
Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003 (‘‘APBO’’) of $44.2 million that was treated as a
Components of net periodic negative prior service cost, and is being amortized

postretirement benefit cost:
beginning in 2004.Service cost $ 6,920 $ 6,158 $10,031

Interest cost 12,210 11,539 15,948
The Company adopted FASB Staff PositionRecognized actuarial loss 2,639 1,582 4,116
No. 106-2, in connection with the MedicareAmortization of prior service cost (5,172) (5,405) (2,981)

Net periodic postretirement benefit Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization
cost $16,597 $13,874 $27,114 Act of 2003 (‘‘Medicare Reform Act’’) which

decreased the Company’s APBO in the amount ofIn connection with collective bargaining agreements,
$32.7 million. The decrease in the APBO was treatedthe Company contributes to several welfare plans,
as a gain, and is being amortized beginning in 2004.including a joint company-union plan and a number
Pursuant to the Medicare Reform Act, throughof joint industry-union plans. Contributions are
December 2005, the Company integrated itsdetermined as a function of hours worked or period
postretirement benefit plan with Medicare (theearnings. Portions of these contributions, which
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‘‘Integration Method’’). Under this option benefits A one-percentage point change in assumed health-care
paid by the Company are offset by Medicare. cost trend rates would have the following effects:
Beginning in 2006, the Company elected to receive

One-Percentage One-Percentagethe Medicare retiree drug subsidy (‘‘Retiree Drug
(In thousands) Point Increase Point Decrease

Subsidy’’) instead of the benefit under the Integration
Effect on total service and interestMethod.

cost for 2005 $ 3,453 $ (2,779)
Effect on accumulated postretirementIn February 2006 the Company announced

benefit obligation as of Decemberamendments, such as the elimination of retiree-
2005 $36,252 $(29,457)

medical benefits to new employees, to its
postretirement benefit plan effective January 1, 2007. In 2005, the Company changed its mortality assumption
The amendments will reduce the future obligations to the 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Table from the
and expense to the Company under this plan. 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table. This change was

made by the Company to incorporate an updatedWeighted-average assumptions used in the actuarial
mortality assumption to calculate its postretirementcomputations to determine the postretirement benefit
obligation.obligations as of December 2005 and December 2004

were as follows: The following benefit payments (net of plan
participant contributions) under the Company’s

2005 2004 postretirement plan, which reflect expected future
Discount rate 5.50% 5.75% services, are expected to be paid:
Estimated increase in compensation level 4.50% 4.50%

(In thousands) Amount
Weighted-average assumptions used in the actuarial

2006 $ 11,172computations to determine net periodic postretirement
2007 11,598

cost were as follows: 2008 11,945
2009 12,528
2010 13,0512005 2004 2003
2011-2015 75,391

Discount rate 5.75% 6.00% 6.50%
Total benefit payments $135,685Estimated increase in compensation level 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%

The Company expects to receive cash payments ofThe assumed health-care cost trend rates as of
approximately $19 million related to the Retiree DrugDecember 2005 and December 2004, were as follows:
Subsidy from 2006 through 2015. The benefit
payments in the above table are not reduced for the2005 2004

Retiree Drug Subsidy.Health-care cost trend rate assumed for
next year: In accordance with FAS No. 112, Employers’
Medical 7.00%-9.00% 7.25%-9.50%

Accounting for Postemployment Benefits, the CompanyPrescription 11.50% 12.50%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is accrues the cost of certain benefits provided to former or

assumed to decline (ultimate trend inactive employees after employment but before
rate) 5.00% 5.00%

retirement (such as workers’ compensation, disabilityYear that the rate reaches the ultimate
benefits and health-care continuation coverage) duringtrend rate 2013 2013

the employees’ active years of service. The accrued cost
Assumed health-care cost trend rates have a significant of these benefits is included in ‘‘Other Liabilities—
effect on the amounts reported for the health-care plans. Other’’ in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets

and amounted to $10.1 million as of December 2005
and $8.8 million as of December 2004.
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pre-tax basis. The deferrals are initially for a period of12. OTHER LIABILITIES
a minimum of two years after which time taxable

The components of the ‘‘Other Liabilities—Other’’ distributions must begin unless the period is extended
balance in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets by the participant. Employees’ contributions earn
were as follows: income based on the performance of investment funds

they select.December December
(In thousands) 2005 2004 The Company invests deferred compensation in life
Pension benefits obligation (see Note 10) $272,597 $202,330 insurance products designed to closely mirror the
Postretirement benefits obligation (see Note 11) 217,282 213,113 performance of the investment funds that theDeferred compensation (see below) 137,973 131,264

participants select. The Company’s investments in lifeOther liabilities 155,333 144,657

insurance products are recorded at fair market valueTotal $783,185 $691,364
and are included in ‘‘Miscellaneous Assets’’ in the

Deferred compensation consists primarily of deferrals Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, and
under a Company-sponsored deferred executive amounted to $129.3 million as of December 2005
compensation plan (the ‘‘DEC plan’’). The DEC plan and $121.9 million as of December 2004.
obligation is recorded at fair market value and Other liabilities in the table above primarily include
amounted to $130.1 million as of December 2005 the Company’s tax contingency and worker’s
and $123.0 million as of December 2004. compensation liability.
The DEC plan enables certain eligible executives to
elect to defer a portion of their compensation on a

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share were as follows:

(In thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003

Basic earnings per share computation:
Numerator

Income from continuing operations $265,605 $292,557 $302,655
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes (5,852) — —

Net income $259,753 $292,557 $302,655

Denominator
Average number of common shares outstanding 145,440 147,567 150,285

Income from continuing operations $ 1.83 $ 1.98 $ 2.01
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes (0.04) — —

Net income $ 1.79 $ 1.98 $ 2.01

Diluted earnings per share computation:
Numerator

Income from continuing operations $265,605 $292,557 $302,655
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes (5,852) — —

Net income $259,753 $292,557 $302,655

Denominator
Average number of common shares outstanding 145,440 147,567 150,285
Incremental shares for assumed exercise of securities 437 1,790 2,555

Total shares 145,877 149,357 152,840

Income from continuing operations $ 1.82 $ 1.96 $ 1.98
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes (0.04) — —

Net Income $ 1.78 $ 1.96 $ 1.98
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The difference between basic and diluted shares is recorded in the financial statements related to the
primarily due to the assumed exercise of stock options issuance of stock options or shares issued under the
included in the diluted earnings per share Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (‘‘ESPP’’).
computation. FAS 123-R requires that the cost resulting from all

share-based payment transactions be recognized in theStock options with exercise prices that exceeded the
financial statements. FAS 123-R establishes fair valuefair market value of the Company’s common stock
as the measurement objective in accounting for share-had an antidilutive effect and, therefore, were excluded
based payment arrangements and requires allfrom the computation of diluted earnings per share.
companies to apply a fair-value-based measurementApproximately 27 million stock options with exercise
method in accounting for generally all share-basedprices ranging from $32.89 to $48.54 were excluded
payment transactions with employees.from the computation in 2005. Approximately

13 million stock options with exercise prices ranging At the beginning of 2005, the Company adopted
from $44.23 to $48.54 were excluded from the FAS 123-R. While FAS 123-R was not required to be
computation in 2004. Approximately 10 million stock adopted until the first annual reporting period
options with exercise prices ranging from of $46.02 to beginning after June 15, 2005, the Company elected
$47.25 were excluded from the computation in 2003. to adopt it before the required effective date. The

Company adopted FAS 123-R using a modified
14. STOCK-BASED AWARDS prospective application, as permitted under

FAS 123-R. Accordingly, prior period amounts have
Under the Company’s 1991 Executive Stock Incentive not been restated. Under this application, the
Plan (the ‘‘1991 Executive Stock Plan’’) and the 1991 Company is required to record compensation expense
Executive Cash Bonus Plan (together, the ‘‘1991 for all awards granted after the date of adoption and
Executive Plans’’), the Board of Directors may for the unvested portion of previously granted awards
authorize awards to key employees of cash, restricted that remain outstanding at the date of adoption.
and unrestricted shares of the Company’s Class A

Before the adoption of FAS 123-R, the CompanyCommon Stock (‘‘Common Stock’’), retirement units
applied APB 25 to account for its stock-based(stock equivalents) or such other awards as the Board
compensation expense. Under APB 25, the Companyof Directors deems appropriate.
generally only recorded stock-based compensation

The 2004 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive expense for restricted stock and long-term incentive
Plan (the ‘‘2004 Directors’ Plan’’) provides for the plan awards (‘‘LTIP awards’’). Under APB 25, the
issuance of up to 500,000 shares of Common Stock Company was not required to recognize compensation
in the form of stock options or restricted stock expense for the cost of stock options or shares issued
awards. Under the 2004 Directors’ Plan, each non- under the Company’s ESPP. In accordance with the
employee director of the Company has historically adoption of FAS 123-R, the Company recorded stock-
received annual grants of non-qualified options with based compensation expense for the cost of stock
10-year terms to purchase 4,000 shares of Common options, restricted stock units, restricted stock, shares
Stock from the Company at the average market price issued under the ESPP and LTIP awards (together,
of such shares on the date of grant. Additionally, ‘‘Stock-Based Awards’’). Stock-based compensation
shares of restricted stock may be granted by the Board expense in 2005 was $32.2 million ($21.9 million
of Directors. Restricted stock has not been awarded after tax or $.15 per basic and diluted share).
under the 2004 Directors’ Plan.

FAS 123-R requires that stock-based compensation
In December 2004, the FASB issued FAS 123-R. expense be recognized over the period from the date
FAS 123-R is a revision of FAS No. 123, as amended, of grant to the date when the award is no longer
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation contingent on the employee providing additional
(‘‘FAS 123’’), and supersedes APB 25. FAS 123-R service (the ‘‘substantive vesting period’’). The
eliminates the alternative of using the intrinsic value Company’s 1991 Executive Stock Plan and the 2004
method of accounting that was provided in FAS 123, Directors’ Plan provide that awards generally vest
which generally resulted in no compensation expense upon the retirement of an employee/Director. In
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periods before the Company’s adoption of FAS 123-R otherwise been reflected in the table above in periods
after 2004 and $7.7 million in periods after 2005.(pro forma disclosure only), the Company recorded
The decrease in stock-based compensation expense instock-based compensation expense for awards to
2005 compared with prior years is due to a series ofretirement-eligible employees over the awards’ stated
actions taken by the Company over the past threevesting period (the ‘‘nominal vesting period’’). With
years such as reducing awards granted to employees,the adoption of FAS 123-R, the Company will
accelerating the vesting of certain stock options incontinue to follow the nominal vesting period
2004 and changing the terms of awards.approach for the unvested portion of awards granted

before the adoption of FAS 123-R and follow the Had the Company not adopted FAS 123-R in 2005,
substantive vesting period approach for awards granted stock-based compensation expense would have
after the adoption of FAS 123-R. excluded the cost of stock options and shares issued

under the ESPP. The incremental stock-basedThe following table details the effect on net income
compensation expense for these awards, due to theand earnings per share had stock-based compensation
adoption of FAS 123-R, caused income before incomeexpense for the Stock-Based Awards been recorded in
taxes and minority interest to decrease byyears prior to 2005 based on the fair-value method
$21.3 million, net income to decrease byunder FAS 123. The reported and pro forma net
$15.2 million and basic and diluted earnings per shareincome and earnings per share for 2005 in the table
to decrease by $.10 per share. In addition, inbelow are the same since stock-based compensation
connection with the adoption of FAS 123-R, net cashexpense is calculated under the provisions of
provided by operating activities decreased and net cashFAS 123-R. These amounts for 2005 are included in
provided by financing activities increased in 2005 bythe table below only to provide the detail for a
approximately $6 million related to excess tax benefitscomparative presentation to prior years.
from Stock-Based Awards.

(Dollars in thousands, Stock Optionsexcept per share data) 2005 2004 2003
The 1991 Executive Stock Plan provides for grants ofReported net income $259,753 $292,557 $302,655
both incentive and non-qualified stock optionsAdd:

Total stock-based principally at an option price per share of 100% of
compensation expense the fair market value of the Common Stock on the
included in reported net date of grant. Stock options have generally beenincome, net of related

granted with a 3-year vesting period and a 6-yeartax effects 21,850 1,478 1,220

term, or a 4-year vesting period and a 10-year term.Deduct:
Total stock-based The stock options vest in equal annual installments

compensation expense over the nominal vesting period or the substantive
determined under

vesting period, whichever is applicable.fair-value method for all
awards, net related tax The 2004 Directors’ Plan provides for grants of stock
effects (21,850) (63,563) (52,925)

options to non-employee Directors at an option price
Pro forma net income $259,753 $230,472 $250,950 per share of 100% of the fair market value of

Common Stock on the date of grant. Stock optionsEarnings per share:

are granted with a 1-year vesting period and a 10-yearBasic – reported $ 1.79 $ 1.98 $ 2.01
term. The stock options vest over the nominal vestingBasic – pro forma $ 1.79 $ 1.56 $ 1.67
period or the substantive vesting period, whichever is

Diluted – reported $ 1.78 $ 1.96 $ 1.98
applicable. The Company’s Directors are considered

Diluted – pro forma $ 1.78 $ 1.54 $ 1.64
employees under the provisions of FAS 123-R.

In June 2004 the Company accelerated the vesting of Included in the Company’s stock-based compensation
certain employee stock options where the exercise expense in 2005 is a portion of the cost related to
price of the stock options was above the Company’s 2005, 2004 and 2001 stock option grants. The stock
stock price. The acceleration of vesting resulted in options granted before 2001 and those granted in
additional stock-based compensation expense of 2002 and 2003 (accelerated vesting in June 2004)
$20.5 million (net of income taxes) that would have were fully vested as of the beginning of 2005.
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Changes in the Company’s stock options were as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Number of Average Number of Average

(Shares in thousands) Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

Options outstanding, beginning of year 30,799 $41 30,803 $40 29,055 $39
Granted 1,881 28 1,916 40 3,394 46
Exercised (848) 17 (1,600) 25 (1,337) 26
Forfeited (632) 44 (320) 44 (309) 44
Options outstanding, end of year 31,200 41 30,799 41 30,803 40

Options exercisable, end of year 28,067 $42 27,737 $41 20,132 $38

The weighted average remaining contractual term was noted in the following table. The risk-free rate is
approximately 6 years for stock options outstanding based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the
and approximately 5 years for stock options exercisable time of grant. Beginning in 2005, with the adoption
as of December 2005. of FAS 123-R, the expected life (estimated period of

time outstanding) of stock options granted wasThe total intrinsic value (the excess of the market
estimated using the historical exercise behavior ofprice over the exercise price) was approximately
employees for grants with a 10-year term. Stock$6 million for stock options outstanding and
options have historically been granted with this term,exercisable as of December 2005. The total intrinsic
and therefore information necessary to make thisvalue for stock options exercised in 2005 was
estimate was available. The expected life of stockapproximately $13 million.
options granted with a 6-year term was determined

The amount of cash received from the exercise of using the average of the vesting period and term, an
stock options was approximately $14 million and the accepted method under the SEC’s Staff Accounting
related tax benefit was approximately $6 million in Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment. Expected
2005. volatility was based on historical volatility for a period

equal to the stock option’s expected life, ending onThe fair value of the stock options granted was
the day of grant, and calculated on a monthly basis.estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes

option valuation model that uses the assumptions

2005 2004 2003

6-Year Term 10-Year Term 10-Year Term 6-Year Term 10-Year Term 10-Year Term
3-Year 1-Year 4-Year 3-Year 1- & 4-Year 1- & 4-Year
Vesting Vesting Vesting Vesting Vesting Vesting

Risk-free interest rate 4.40% 3.96% 4.40% 3.33% 3.62% 3.17%
Expected life 4.5 years 5.0 years 5.0 years 4.0 years 5.0 years 5.0 years
Expected volatility 19.27% 19.66% 19.07% 19.09% 19.65% 27.79%
Expected dividend yield 2.43% 2.11% 2.43% 1.50% 1.50% 1.23%
Weighted average fair value $ 4.90 $ 6.28 $ 5.10 $ 6.64 $ 8.09 $ 12.25

For grants prior to 2005 (before the adoption of grants of restricted stock. The Company did not grant
FAS 123-R), the fair value for stock options with restricted stock in 2005 but rather granted restricted
10-year terms and different vesting periods was stock units (see below). Restricted stock vests at the
calculated on a combined basis. For grants made end of the nominal vesting period or the substantive
beginning in 2005, with the adoption of FAS 123-R, vesting period, whichever is applicable. The fair value
the fair value for stock options granted with different of restricted stock is the excess of the average market
vesting periods was calculated separately. price of Common Stock at the date of grant over the

exercise price, which is zero.Restricted Stock
The 1991 Executive Stock Plan also provides for
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Changes in the Company’s restricted stock were as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average

Restricted Grant-Date Restricted Grant-Date Restricted Grant-Date
(Shares in thousands) Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value

Unvested restricted stock at beginning of period 741 $41 225 $45 190 $44
Granted — — 521 40 35 46
Vested (15) 40 — — — —
Forfeited (15) 40 (5) 40 — —

Unvested restricted stock at end of period 711 $41 741 $41 225 $45

Under the provisions of FAS 123-R, the recognition withheld through payroll deductions plus accrued
of deferred compensation, representing the amount of interest.
unrecognized restricted stock expense that is reduced In 2005, there were two 6-month ESPP offerings with
as expense is recognized, at the date restricted stock is a purchase price set at a 15% discount of the average
granted, is no longer required. Therefore, in the first market price at the beginning of the offering period.
quarter of 2005, the amount that had been in The January offering began January 1, 2005, and
‘‘Deferred compensation’’ in the Consolidated Balance ended June 25, 2005, while the June offering period
Sheet was reversed to zero. began June 26, 2005, and ended December 24, 2005.

The purchase price was $35.08 for the JanuaryRestricted Stock Units
offering and $26.40 for the June offering. There wereThe 1991 Executive Stock Plan also provides for
no shares issued under the 2005 offerings because thegrants of other awards, including restricted stock
market price of the stock on the purchase date wasunits. In 2005, the Company granted restricted stock
lower than the offering price. Participants’units with a 3-year vesting period and a 5-year vesting
contributions (plus accrued interest) wereperiod. Each restricted stock unit represents the
automatically refunded under the terms of theCompany’s obligation to deliver to the holder one
offerings.share of Common Stock upon vesting. Restricted

stock units vest at the end of the nominal vesting In 2004 and prior offerings, the offering period was
period or the substantive vesting period, whichever is generally 12 months and the purchase price was the
applicable. The fair value of restricted stock units is lesser of 85% of the average market price of the
the excess of the average market price of Common Common Stock on the date the offering commenced
Stock at the date of grant over the exercise price, or the date the offering ended. Approximately
which is zero. 1 million shares were issued under the ESPP in each

of 2004 and 2003.The Company granted approximately 530,000
restricted stock units with a weighted average grant The fair value of the offerings was estimated on the
date fair value of $27.45. date of grant using a Black-Scholes option valuation

model that uses the assumptions noted in theESPP
following table. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S.Under the ESPP, participating employees purchase
Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.Common Stock through payroll deductions.
Expected volatility was based on the implied volatilityEmployees may withdraw from an offering before the
on the day of grant.purchase date and obtain a refund of the amounts

2005 2005
January June 2004 2003

Risk-free interest rate 2.36% 3.25% 1.27% 1.79%
Expected life 6 months 6 months 1.2 years 1.2 years
Expected volatility 21.39% 21.46% 28.63% 30.82%
Expected dividend yield 1.51% 2.12% 1.75% 1.46%
Weighted-average fair value $ 6.65 $ 5.04 $ 8.13 $ 9.69
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The 2006 ESPP is one 12-month offering and the liability is measured at its fair value at the end of each
Company will no longer offer a discount from the reporting period and, therefore, will fluctuate based
purchase price, which will be 100% of the average on the operating results and the performance of the
market price on December 26, 2006. With these Company’s TSR relative to the peer group’s TSR.
modifications, the ESPP will no longer be considered Based on an independent valuation of its LTIP
a compensatory plan, and therefore compensation awards, the Company recorded a favorable adjustment
expense will not be recorded for shares issued under of $2.4 million in 2005. The fair value of the LTIP
the ESPP in 2006. awards was calculated by comparing the Company’s

TSR against a predetermined peer group’s TSR overLTIP Awards
the performance period. The LTIP awards are valuedThe Company’s 1991 Executive Plans provide for
using a Monte Carlo simulation. This valuationgrants of cash awards to key executives payable at the
technique includes estimating the movement of stockend of a multi-year performance period. The target
prices and the effects of volatility, interest rates, andaward is determined at the beginning of the period
dividends. These assumptions are based on historicaland can increase to a maximum of 175% of the target
data points and are taken from market data sources.or decrease to zero.
The payout of the LTIP awards are based on relativeFor awards granted for cycles beginning prior to 2006,
performance; therefore, correlations in stock pricethe actual payment, if any, is based on a key
performance among the peer group companies alsoperformance measure, Total Shareholder Return
factor into the valuation. There were no LTIP awards(‘‘TSR’’). TSR is calculated as stock appreciation plus
paid in 2005 in connection with the performancereinvested dividends. At the end of the period, the
period ending in 2004.LTIP payment will be determined by comparing the
In December 2005, the Company granted keyCompany’s TSR to the TSR of a predetermined peer
executives LTIP awards for the 2006-2010 year cyclegroup of companies. For awards granted for the cycle
commencing January 2006.beginning in 2006, the actual payment, if any, will

depend on two performance measures. Half of the
award is based on the TSR of a predetermined peer As of December 2005, unrecognized compensation
group of companies during the performance period expense related to the unvested portion of the
and half is based on the percentage increase in the Company’s Stock-Based Awards was approximately
Company’s revenue in excess of the percentage $37 million and is expected to be recognized over a
increase in costs and expenses during the same period. weighted-average period of approximately 3 years.
Achievement with respect to each element of the

The Company generally issues shares for the exerciseaward is independent of the other. All payments are
of stock options from unissued reserved shares andsubject to approval by the Board’s Compensation
issues shares for restricted stock units and shares underCommittee.
the ESPP from treasury shares. The Company

The LTIP awards are classified as liability awards generally repurchases enough Common Stock to offset
under the provisions of FAS 123-R because the shares issued for the Stock-Based Awards.
Company incurs a liability, payable in cash, indexed
to the Company’s stock price. The LTIP award
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Shares of Class A Common Stock reserved for issuance were as follows:
December December

(In thousands) 2005 2004

Stock options
Outstanding 31,200 30,799
Available 5,880 7,129

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Available 7,992 7,993

Restricted stock, restricted stock units, retirement units and other awards
Outstanding 633 113
Available 644 1,159

Total
Outstanding 31,833 30,912
Available 14,516 16,281

In addition to the shares available in the table above, Common Stock available for conversion into shares of
as of December 2005 and December 2004, there were Class A Common Stock.
approximately 834,000 and 840,000 shares of Class B

shares in 2003 at an average cost of $44.83 per share.15. CAPITAL STOCK
The cost associated with these repurchases were

Shares of the Company’s Class A and Class B Common $57.2 million in 2005, $293.0 million in 2004 and
Stock are entitled to equal participation in the event of $205.8 million in 2003.
liquidation and in dividend declarations. The Class B
Common Stock is convertible at the holders’ option on The Company did not retire any shares from treasury
a share-for-share basis into Class A Common Stock. stock in 2005 or 2003. The Company retired
Upon conversion, the previously outstanding shares of 9.2 million shares from treasury stock in 2004. The
Class B Common Stock are automatically and 2004 retirement resulted in a reduction of
immediately retired, resulting in a reduction of $405.3 million in treasury stock, $0.9 million in
authorized Class B Common Stock. As provided for in Class A Common Stock, $96.0 million in additional
the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, the Class A paid-in capital and $308.4 million in retained
Common Stock has limited voting rights, including the earnings.
right to elect 30% of the Board of Directors, and the

The Board of Directors is authorized to set theClass A and Class B Common Stock have the right to
distinguishing characteristics of each series of preferredvote together on the reservation of Company shares for
stock prior to issuance, including the granting ofstock options and other stock-based plans, on the
limited or full voting rights; however, theratification of the selection of a registered public
consideration received must be at least $100 per share.accounting firm and, in certain circumstances, on
No shares of serial preferred stock have been issued.acquisitions of the stock or assets of other companies.

Otherwise, except as provided by the laws of the State of
16. SEGMENT INFORMATIONNew York, all voting power is vested solely and

exclusively in the holders of the Class B Common In November 2005, the Company acquired KAUT-TV.
Stock. KAUT-TV is included in the results of the Broadcast

Media Group.The Company repurchases Class A Common Stock
under its stock repurchase program from time to time In March 2005, the Company acquired About, Inc.
either in the open market or through private About.com is a separate reportable segment of the
transactions. These repurchases may be suspended Company.
from time to time or discontinued. The Company

In February 2005, the Company acquired North Bay.repurchased 1.7 million shares in 2005 at an average
North Bay is included in the results of the Newscost of $33.08 per share, 6.8 million shares in 2004 at
Media Group under the Regional Media Group.an average cost of $42.79 per share and 4.6 million
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The results of KAUT-TV, About.com and North Bay key management in assessing performance and
have been included in the Company’s Consolidated allocating resources.
Financial Statements since the acquisition date. Revenues from individual customers, and revenues,
The acquisitions discussed above did not have a operating profit and assets of foreign operations are
material impact on the Company’s Consolidated not significant.
Financial Statement for the periods presented herein. Below is a description of the Company’s reportable
Beginning in fiscal 2005, the results of the Company’s segments:
two New York City radio stations, WQXR-FM and

News Media GroupWQEW-AM, formerly part of the Broadcast Media
The New York Times Media Group, which includesGroup, are included in the results of the News Media
The New York Times, NYTimes.com, the IHT andGroup as part of The New York Times Media Group.
the two New York City radio stations; the NewWQXR, the Company’s classical music radio station,
England Media Group, which includes The Bostonis working with The New York Times News Services
Globe (the ‘‘Globe’’), Boston.com and the Worcesterdivision to expand the distribution of Times-branded
Telegram & Gazette; and the Regional Media Group,news and information on radio, through The Times’s
consisting of 15 other newspapers and their relatedown resources and in collaboration with strategic
digital businesses.partners. WQEW receives revenues under a time

brokerage agreement with ABC, Inc., which currently
Broadcast Media Groupprovides substantially all of WQEW’s programming.
Nine network-affiliated television stations and their2004 and 2003 have been reclassified to conform with
related digital operations.the 2005 presentation.

The Company’s reportable segments consist of the About.com
News Media Group, the Broadcast Media Group and An online consumer information provider.
About.com. These segments are evaluated regularly by

The Company’s Statements of Income by segment and Corporate were as follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003

REVENUES
News Media Group $ 3,189,772 $3,158,015 $3,098,004
Broadcast Media Group 139,055 145,627 129,196
About.com 43,948 — —
Total $ 3,372,775 $3,303,642 $3,227,200
OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS)
News Media Group $ 373,639 $ 520,851 $ 558,129
Broadcast Media Group 27,141 38,383 28,642
About.com 11,685 — —
Corporate (54,357) (49,281) (47,221)
Gain on sale of assets 122,946 — —
Total $ 481,054 $ 509,953 $ 539,550
Net income/(loss) from joint ventures 10,051 240 (8,223)
Interest expense, net 49,168 41,760 44,757
Other income 4,167 8,212 13,277
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interest 446,104 476,645 499,847
Income taxes 180,242 183,499 197,762
Minority interest in net (income)/loss of subsidiaries (257) (589) 570
Income from continuing operations 265,605 292,557 302,655
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles, net of income taxes (5,852) — —
NET INCOME $ 259,753 $ 292,557 $ 302,655
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Operating profit for the News Media Group and Corporate included a charge of $57.1 million and $0.7 million,
respectively, in 2005 related to staff reduction expenses (see Note 6). In 2003, operating profit for the News
Media Group included a $14.1 million benefit related to the reimbursement of remediation expenses at one of the
Company’s printing plants.

Advertising, circulation and other revenue, by division of the News Media Group, were as follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003

The New York Times Media Group
Advertising $ 1,264,760 $1,220,664 $1,195,691
Circulation 615,508 615,891 623,061
Other 157,037 165,005 168,045
Total $ 2,037,305 $2,001,560 $1,986,797

New England Media Group
Advertising $ 467,608 $ 481,615 $ 464,472
Circulation 170,744 181,009 174,634
Other 36,991 37,971 34,402
Total $ 675,343 $ 700,595 $ 673,508

Regional Media Group
Advertising $ 367,522 $ 349,702 $ 333,769
Circulation 87,723 87,095 88,072
Other 21,879 19,063 15,858
Total $ 477,124 $ 455,860 $ 437,699

Total News Media Group
Advertising $ 2,099,890 $2,051,981 $1,993,932
Circulation 873,975 883,995 885,767
Other 215,907 222,039 218,305
Total $ 3,189,772 $3,158,015 $3,098,004

The Company’s segment and Corporate depreciation and amortization, capital expenditures and assets reconciled
to consolidated amounts were as follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
News Media Group $ 119,293 $ 124,640 $ 127,704
Broadcast Media Group 8,289 8,447 8,835
About.com 9,165 — —
Corporate 7,022 9,441 9,191
Total $ 143,769 $ 142,528 $ 145,730

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
News Media Group $ 217,312 $ 199,890 $ 159,657
Broadcast Media Group 7,962 7,074 5,983
About.com 1,713 — —
Corporate 2,522 4,252 1,610
Total $ 229,509 $ 211,216 $ 167,250

ASSETS
News Media Group $3,240,385 $3,116,369 $2,943,275
Broadcast Media Group 392,915 355,496 359,149
About.com 419,004 — —
Corporate 242,364 259,083 271,822
Investments in joint ventures 238,369 218,909 227,470
Total $4,533,037 $3,949,857 $3,801,716
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On September 24, 2003, the Building Partnership17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES obtained vacant possession of the Building site, and

the New York State agency leased the site to the
New Headquarters Building Building Partnership under a 99-year lease (the
The Company is in the process of constructing a ‘‘Ground Lease’’). Under the terms of the Ground
1.54 million square foot condominium office building Lease, no fixed rent is payable, but the Building
(the ‘‘Building’’) in New York City that will serve as Partnership is required to make payments in lieu of
its new headquarters. In December 2001, a wholly real estate taxes (‘‘PILOT’’), pay percentage (profit)
owned subsidiary of the Company (‘‘NYT’’) and FC rent with respect to retail portions of the Building,
Lion LLC (a partnership between an affiliate of the and make certain other payments over the term of the
Forest City Ratner Companies and an affiliate of ING Ground Lease. The Building Partnership receives
Real Estate, ‘‘FC’’) became the sole members of The credits for its excess site acquisition costs against 85%
New York Times Building LLC (the ‘‘Building of the PILOT payments. The Ground Lease gives the
Partnership’’), a partnership established for the Building Partnership or its designee the option to
purpose of constructing the Building. purchase the Building site after 29 years for nominal

consideration.The Building Partnership is a New York limited
liability company and a separate and distinct legal In August 2004, the Building Partnership commenced
entity from the Company. NYT’s and FC’s percentage construction of the Building and, under the Ground
interests in the Building Partnership are approximately Lease, is required to complete construction within
58% and 42%. Due to the Company’s majority 36 months following construction commencement,
interest, 100% of the financial position and results of subject to certain extensions. The Company and FCE
operations of the Building Partnership are have guaranteed the Building Partnership’s obligation
consolidated with those of the Company, and FC’s to complete construction of the Building in
minority interest in the Building Partnership is accordance with the Ground Lease.
included in ‘‘Minority Interest’’ in the Company’s

Pursuant to the Operating Agreement of the BuildingConsolidated Balance Sheets as of December 2005
Partnership, dated December 12, 2001, and amendedand December 2004, and in ‘‘Minority interest in net
June 25, 2004 (the ‘‘Operating Agreement’’), the(income)/loss of subsidiaries’’ in the Consolidated
funds for construction of the Building are beingStatements of Income for 2005, 2004 and 2003.
provided through a construction loan and capital

In December 2001, the Building Partnership entered contributions of NYT and FC. On June 25, 2004,
into a land acquisition and development agreement the Building Partnership closed a construction loan
(‘‘LADA’’) for the Building site with a New York State with GMAC Commercial Mortgage Corporation (the
agency, which subsequently acquired title to the site ‘‘construction lender’’), which will provide a loan of
through a condemnation proceeding. Pursuant to the up to $320 million (the ‘‘construction loan’’), secured
LADA, the Building Partnership was required to fund by the Building, for construction of the Building’s
all costs of acquiring the Building site, including the core and shell as well as other development costs.
purchase price of approximately $86 million, and NYT has elected not to borrow any portion of its
certain additional amounts (‘‘excess site acquisition share of the total costs of the Building through this
costs’’) to be paid in connection with the construction loan and, instead, has made and will
condemnation proceeding. NYT and FC were make capital contributions to the Building Partnership
required to post letters of credit for these acquisition for its share of Building costs. The Company will
costs. As of December 2005, approximately fund such contributions from cash from operations
$16 million remained undrawn on a letter of credit and external financing sources. FC’s share of the total
posted by the Company on behalf of NYT and costs of the Building will be funded through capital
approximately $12 million remained undrawn on a contributions and the construction loan.
letter of credit posted by Forest City Enterprises, Inc.
(‘‘FCE’’) on behalf of FC.
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Under the terms of the Operating Agreement and the construction loan upon substantial completion of the
construction loan, NYT is required to fund all of its Building’s core and shell, the Company is required to
construction equity related to construction of the core make a loan (the ‘‘extension loan’’) to FC of
and shell as well as other development costs prior to approximately $119.5 million to pay a portion of the
the funding of the construction loan. As of construction loan balance. The extension loan will
December 2005, NYT’s remaining construction equity have a maturity date of five years following substantial
requirement related to construction of the core and completion of the core and shell of the Building, bear
shell as well as other development costs was interest at 1% per annum in excess of the
approximately $64 million. This requirement has been construction loan rate, and be secured by a second
guaranteed by the Company and was backed by a mortgage lien on the FC condominium units.
standby letter of credit which declined on a monthly Actual and anticipated capital expenditures in
basis to zero as of December 31, 2005. Because NYT connection with the Building, net of proceeds from
is funding its construction equity first, a portion of the sale of its existing headquarters, including both
those funds has been used to fund FC’s share of core and shell and interior construction costs, are
Building costs (the ‘‘FC funded share’’) prior to detailed in the table below.
commencement of funding of the construction loan.

Capital ExpendituresThe FC funded share bears interest at the
(In millions) NYT FC Totalconstruction loan rate and will be repaid to NYT out

of construction loan draws. FC’s interest in the 2001-2005 $241 $184 $425

Building Partnership has been pledged to NYT to 2006 $240-$270 $130-$150 $370-$420

secure repayment of the FC funded share. 2007 $120-$128 $86-$95 $206-$223

Total $601-$639 $400-$429 $1,001-$1,068The construction loan, made through a building loan
Less: net of sale proceeds(a) $106 — $106agreement and a project loan agreement, bears interest
Total, net of sale proceeds $495-$533(b) $400-$429 $895-$962at an initial annual rate of LIBOR plus 265 basis

points and will mature on July 1, 2008, subject to the (a) Represents cash proceeds from the sale of the Company’s existing
headquarters (see Note 6), net of income taxes and transaction costs. ThisBuilding Partnership’s right to extend the maturity
amount is not net of the Company’s future rental payments associated

date for two six-month periods upon the satisfaction with the leaseback.
of certain terms and conditions. FCE has provided the (b) Includes estimated capitalized interest and salaries of $45 to $55 million.
construction lender with a guaranty of completion
with respect to the Building conditioned upon the Operating Leases
availability of the construction loan and NYT Such lease commitments are primarily for office space
construction capital contributions. In addition, the and equipment. Certain office space leases provide for
Company has provided the construction lender with a rent adjustments relating to changes in real estate
guaranty of NYT’s obligation to complete the interior taxes and other operating expenses.
construction of the NYT portions of the Building.

Rental expense amounted to $35.8 million in 2005,
Upon substantial completion of the Building’s core $32.9 million in 2004 and $33.1 million in 2003.
and shell, the Building will be converted to a The approximate minimum rental commitments
leasehold condominium, and the Building Partnership under noncancelable leases as of December 2005 were
will be dissolved. At such time, ownership of the as follows:
leasehold condominium units will transfer from the
Building Partnership to NYT and FC. (In thousands) Amount

2006 $ 28,371Under the terms of the Operating Agreement and the
2007 18,619

construction loan, the lien of the construction loan 2008 10,543
2009 9,719will be released from the NYT condominium units
2010 7,710upon substantial completion of the Building’s core Later years 41,340

and shell but will remain upon the FC condominium Total minimum lease payments $116,302
units until the construction loan is repaid in full. If
FC is unable to obtain other financing to repay the
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The table above includes lease payments in connection In addition, the Company has guaranteed the
with the leaseback of the Company’s existing payments of two property leases of the circulation
headquarters. servicer and any miscellaneous costs related to any

default thereunder (the ‘‘property lease guarantees’’).
Capital Leases The total amount of the property lease guarantees was
Future minimum lease payments for all capital leases, approximately $3 million as of December 2005. One
and the present value of the minimum lease payments property lease expires in June 2008 and the other
as of December 2005, were as follows: expires in May 2009. The property lease guarantees

were made by the Company to allow the circulation
(In thousands) Amount servicer to obtain space to conduct business.
2006 $ 7,399

The Company would have to perform the obligations2007 7,038
2008 7,765 of the circulation servicer under the credit facility and
2009 9,038 property lease guarantees if the circulation servicer2010 9,552
Later years 86,018 defaulted under the terms of its credit facility or lease
Total minimum lease payments 126,810 agreements.
Less: imputed interest (48,842)

The Company has guaranteed a portion of thePresent value of net minimum lease payments including
current maturities $ 77,968 payments of an equipment lease of a National Edition

printer and any miscellaneous costs related to any
default thereunder (the ‘‘equipment lease guarantee’’).Guarantees
The total amount of the equipment lease guaranteeThe Company has outstanding guarantees on behalf
was approximately $3 million as of December 2005.of a third party that provides circulation customer
The equipment lease expires in March 2011 but isservice, telemarketing and home-delivery services for
cancelable in March 2006. The Company made theThe Times and the Globe (the ‘‘circulation servicer’’),
equipment lease guarantee to allow the Nationaland on behalf of two third parties that provide
Edition printer to obtain lower cost of lease financing.printing and distribution services for The Times’s

National Edition (the ‘‘National Edition printers’’). In The Company has also guaranteed certain debt of one
accordance with GAAP, contingent obligations related of the two National Edition printers and any
to these guarantees are not reflected in the Company’s miscellaneous costs related to any default thereunder
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 2005 (the ‘‘debt guarantee’’). The total amount of the debt
and December 2004. guarantee was approximately $6 million as of

December 2005. The debt guarantee, which expires inThe Company has guaranteed the payments under the
May 2012, was made by the Company to allow thecirculation servicer’s credit facility and any
National Edition printer to obtain a lower cost ofmiscellaneous costs related to any default thereunder
borrowing.(the ‘‘credit facility guarantee’’). The total amount of

the credit facility guarantee was approximately The Company has obtained a secured guarantee from
$20 million as of December 2005. The amount a related party of the National Edition printer to
outstanding under the credit facility, which expires in repay the Company for any amounts that it would
April 2006 and is renewable, was approximately $18 pay under the debt guarantee. In addition, the
million as of December 2005. The credit facility Company has a security interest in the equipment that
guarantee was made by the Company to allow the was purchased by the National Edition printer with
circulation servicer to obtain more favorable financing the funds it received from its debt issuance, as well as
terms. The circulation servicer has agreed to reimburse other equipment and real property.
the Company for any amounts the Company pays

The Company would have to perform the obligationsunder the credit facility guarantee and has granted the
of the National Edition printers under the equipmentCompany a security interest in all of its assets to
and debt guarantees if the National Edition printerssecure repayment of any amounts the Company pays
defaulted under the terms of their equipment leases orunder the credit facility guarantee.
debt agreements.
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Other against the Company. These actions are generally for
The Company has letters of credit of approximately amounts greatly in excess of the payments, if any, that
$34 million, that are required by insurance companies, may be required to be made. It is the opinion of
to provide support for the Company’s workers’ management after reviewing these actions with legal
compensation liability that is included in the counsel to the Company that the ultimate liability
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of that might result from these actions would not have a
December 2005. material adverse effect on the Company’s Consolidated

Financial Statements.There are various legal actions that have arisen in the
ordinary course of business and are now pending



2FEB200610005924

23FEB200416570885

F-55

meets regularly with the independent registered publicMANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES REPORT
accounting firm, internal auditors and management to

The Company’s consolidated financial statements were discuss specific accounting, financial reporting and
prepared by management, who is responsible for their internal control matters. Both the independent
integrity and objectivity. The consolidated financial registered public accounting firm and the internal
statements have been prepared in accordance with auditors have full and free access to the Audit
accounting principles generally accepted in the United Committee. Each year the Audit Committee selects,
States of America (‘‘GAAP’’) and, as such, include subject to ratification by stockholders, the firm which
amounts based on management’s best estimates and is to perform audit and other related work for the
judgments. Company.

Management is further responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f ) and 15d-15(f )
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

Janet L. Robinsonfinancial statements for external purposes in
President and Chief Executive Officeraccordance with GAAP. The Company follows and
The New York Times Companycontinuously monitors its policies and procedures for
February 23, 2006internal control over financial reporting to ensure that

this objective is met (see ‘‘Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting’’ on page
F-57).

The consolidated financial statements were audited by
Leonard P. FormanDeloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officerpublic accounting firm. Their audit was conducted in
The New York Times Companyaccordance with the standards of the Public Company
February 23, 2006Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and their

report is shown on page F-56.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors,
which is composed solely of independent directors,



7FEB200621493718

F-56

and December 26, 2004, and the results of theirREPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON operations and their cash flows for each of the three
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS years in the period ended December 25, 2005, in

conformity with accounting principles generally
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
The New York Times Company opinion, such financial statement schedules, when
New York, NY considered in relation to the basic consolidated

financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, inWe have audited the accompanying consolidated
all material respects, the information set forth therein.balance sheets of The New York Times Company (the

‘‘Company’’) as of December 25, 2005 and As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
December 26, 2004, and the related consolidated statements, in 2005 the Company adopted Statement
statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R),
flows for each of the three years in the period ended ‘‘Share-Based Payment,’’ as revised, effective
December 25, 2005. Our audits also included the December 27, 2004. Also, as discussed in Note 6 to
financial statement schedules listed at Item 15(A)(2)of the consolidated financial statements, in 2005 the
the Company’s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 47,
These financial statements are the responsibility of the ‘‘Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to Obligation—an interpretation of FASB Statement
express an opinion on these financial statements based No. 143,’’ effective December 25, 2005.
on our audits.

We have also audited, in accordance with the
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB the effectiveness of the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Company’s internal control over financial reporting as
Oversight Board (United States) (‘‘PCAOB’’). Those of December 25, 2005, based on the criteria
standards require that we plan and perform the audit established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
financial statements are free of material misstatement. of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence February 23, 2006, expressed an unqualified opinion
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing Company’s internal control over financial reporting
the accounting principles used and significant and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

New York, NYIn our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
February 23, 2006present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Company as of December 25, 2005
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As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ActMANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING of 2002, management assessed the effectiveness of the

Company’s internal control over financial reporting as
Management of the Company is responsible for of December 25, 2005. In making this assessment,
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control management used the criteria set forth by the
over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f ) Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
and 15d-15(f ) under the Securities Exchange Act of Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-
1934. The Company’s internal control over financial Integrated Framework.
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the Based on our assessment and those criteria,
preparation of financial statements for external management believes that the Company maintained
purposes in accordance with accounting principles effective internal control over financial reporting as of
generally accepted in the United States of America December 25, 2005.
(‘‘GAAP’’). The Company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and The Company’s independent registered public
procedures that: accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has audited

management’s assessment of the Company’s internal� pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
control over financial reporting as of December 25,reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
2005, and their report is shown on page F-58.transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

Company;

� provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with GAAP,
and that receipts and expenditures of the
Company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the
Company; and

Janet L. Robinson
� provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention President and Chief Executive Officer

or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, The New York Times Company
use or disposition of the Company’s assets that February 23, 2006
could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of Leonard P. Forman
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk Executive Vice President and
that controls may become inadequate because of Chief Financial Officer
changes in conditions, or that the degree of The New York Times Company
compliance with the policies or procedures may February 23, 2006
deteriorate.
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directors, management, and other personnel to provideREPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
The New York Times Company internal control over financial reporting includes those
New York, NY policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the

maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,We have audited management’s assessment, included
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions andin the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provideControl over Financial Reporting, that The New York
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded asTimes Company (the ‘‘Company’’) maintained
necessary to permit preparation of financial statementseffective internal control over financial reporting as of
in accordance with generally accepted accountingDecember 25, 2005, based on criteria established in
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of theInternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
company are being made only in accordance withCommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
authorizations of management and directors of theTreadway Commission (‘‘COSO’’). The Company’s
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurancemanagement is responsible for maintaining effective
regarding prevention or timely detection ofinternal control over financial reporting and for its
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of theassessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
company’s assets that could have a material effect onfinancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
the financial statements.opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control Because of the inherent limitations of internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. over financial reporting, including the possibility of

collusion or improper management override ofWe conducted our audit in accordance with the
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraudstandards of the Public Company Accounting
may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.Oversight Board (United States) (‘‘PCAOB’’). Those
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectivenessstandards require that we plan and perform the audit
of the internal control over financial reporting toto obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
future periods are subject to the risk that the controlsinternal control over financial reporting was
may become inadequate because of changes inmaintained in all material respects. Our audit
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with theincluded obtaining an understanding of internal
policies or procedures may deteriorate.control over financial reporting, evaluating

management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the In our opinion, management’s assessment that the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, Company maintained effective internal control over
and performing such other procedures as we financial reporting as of December 25, 2005, is fairly
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
opinions. issued by the COSO. Also in our opinion, the

Company maintained, in all material respects, effectiveA company’s internal control over financial reporting
internal control over financial reporting as ofis a process designed by, or under the supervision of,
December 25, 2005, based on the criteria establishedthe company’s principal executive and principal
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued byfinancial officers, or persons performing similar
the COSO.functions, and effected by the company’s board of
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We have also audited, in accordance with the Asset Retirement Obligation—an interpretation of
standards of the PCAOB, the consolidated financial FASB Statement No. 143,’’ effective December 25,
statements and financial statement schedules as of and 2005, on those financial statements and financial
for the year ended December 25, 2005, of the statement schedules.
Company, and our report dated February 23, 2006
expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an
explanatory paragraph referring to the Company’s
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Deloitte & Touche LLP
Standards No. 123(R), ‘‘Share-Based Payment,’’ as

New York, NYrevised, effective December 27, 2004 and FASB
February 23, 2006Interpretation No. 47, ‘‘Accounting for Conditional
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QUARTERLY INFORMATION (Unaudited)
2005 Quarters

(In thousands, except per share data) First Second Third Fourth Year

Revenues $805,583 $845,069 $791,083 $931,040 $3,372,775
Costs and expenses 720,457 738,527 746,004 809,679 3,014,667
Gain on sale of assets(a) 122,946 — — — 122,946

Operating profit 208,072 106,542 45,079 121,361 481,054
Net (loss)/income from joint ventures (248) 3,138 5,000 2,161 10,051
Interest expense, net 14,248 11,844 11,677 11,399 49,168
Other income 1,250 1,250 1,250 417 4,167

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority
interest 194,826 99,086 39,652 112,540 446,104

Income taxes 83,658 38,110 16,738 41,736 180,242
Minority interest in net (income)/loss of subsidiaries (119) (161) 167 (144) (257)

Income from continuing operations 111,049 60,815 23,081 70,660 265,605
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes(b) — — — (5,852) (5,852)

Net income $111,049 $ 60,815 $ 23,081 $ 64,808 $ 259,753

Average number of common shares outstanding
Basic 145,868 145,524 145,214 145,153 145,440
Diluted 146,771 146,003 145,602 145,407 145,877

Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.76 $ 0.42 $ 0.16 $ 0.49 $ 1.83
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income

taxes(b) — — — (0.04) (0.04)

Net income $ 0.76 $ 0.42 $ 0.16 $ 0.45 $ 1.79

Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.76 $ 0.42 $ 0.16 $ 0.49 $ 1.82
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income

taxes(b) — — — (0.04) (0.04)

Net income $ 0.76 $ 0.42 $ 0.16 $ 0.45 $ 1.78

Dividends per share $ .155 $ .165 $ .165 $ .165 $ .65

2004 Quarters

(In thousands, except per share data) First Second Third Fourth Year

Revenues $801,944 $823,931 $773,830 $903,937 $3,303,642
Costs and expenses 692,782 692,174 689,539 719,194 2,793,689

Operating profit 109,162 131,757 84,291 184,743 509,953
Net (loss)/income from joint ventures (3,293) 2,734 1,691 (892) 240
Interest expense, net 10,320 10,353 10,080 11,007 41,760
Other income 1,250 1,250 4,073 1,639 8,212

Income before income taxes and minority interest 96,799 125,388 79,975 174,483 476,645
Income taxes 38,239 49,538 31,620 64,102 183,499
Minority interest in net income of subsidiaries 125 173 83 208 589

Net income $ 58,435 $ 75,677 $ 48,272 $110,173 $ 292,557

Average number of common shares outstanding
Basic 149,925 148,626 146,469 145,245 147,567
Diluted 152,460 150,902 147,964 146,383 149,357

Basic earnings per share $ 0.39 $ 0.51 $ 0.33 $ 0.76 $ 1.98
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.38 $ 0.50 $ 0.33 $ 0.75 $ 1.96

Dividends per share $ .145 $ .155 $ .155 $ .155 $ .61

(a) The first quarter of 2005 includes a $122.9 million pre-tax gain from the sale of assets. The Company completed the sale of its current
headquarters in New York City for $175.0 million, which resulted in a total pre-tax gain of $143.9 million, of which $114.5 million
($63.3 million after tax or $.43 per diluted share) was recognized in the first quarter of 2005. The remainder of the gain is being deferred
and amortized over the lease term in accordance with GAAP. In addition, the Company sold property in Sarasota, Fla., which resulted in a
pre-tax gain in the first quarter of 2005 of $8.4 million ($5.0 million after tax or $.03 per diluted share). See Note 6 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

(b) The Company adopted FIN 47 during the fourth quarter of 2005 and accordingly recorded an after-tax charge of $5.9 million or $.04 per
diluted share ($10.5 million pre-tax). See Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Earnings per share amounts for the quarters do not MARKET INFORMATION
necessarily have to equal the respective year-end

The Class A Common Stock is listed on the Newamounts for earnings per share due to the weighted
York Stock Exchange. The Class B Common Stock isaverage number of shares outstanding used in the
unlisted and is not actively traded.computations for the respective periods. Earnings per

share amounts for the respective quarters and years The number of security holders of record as of
have been computed using the average number of February 10, 2006, was as follows: Class A Common
common shares outstanding as presented in the table Stock: 9,686; Class B Common Stock: 34.
on the preceding page. Both classes of our common stock participate equally
The Company’s largest source of revenue is as to our quarterly dividends. In 2005, dividends were
advertising. Seasonal variations in advertising revenues paid in the amount of $.155 per share in March and
cause the Company’s quarterly consolidated results to in the amount of $.165 per share in June, September
fluctuate. Second-quarter and fourth-quarter and December. In 2004, dividends were paid in the
advertising volume is typically higher than first-quarter amount of $.145 per share in March and in the
and third-quarter volume because economic activity amount of $.155 per share in June, September and
tends to be lower during the winter and summer. December.
Quarterly trends are also affected by the overall The market price range of Class A Common Stock
economy and economic conditions that may exist in was as follows:
specific markets served by each of the Company’s
business segments as well as the occurrence of certain Quarters Ended 2005 2004
international, national and local events. High Low High Low

March $40.80 $35.56 $49.13 $43.97
June 36.58 30.74 47.09 43.84
September 34.59 30.00 44.83 39.03
December 30.17 26.36 41.52 38.72
Year 40.80 26.36 49.13 38.72
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THE NEW YORK TIMES COMPANY
SCHEDULE II-VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the Three Years Ended December 25, 2005

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E Column F

Additions Deductions for
charged to purposes for

Balance at costs and Additions which
beginning expenses or related to accounts were Balance at

(In thousands) Description of period revenues Acquisitions set up end of period

Year Ended December 25, 2005
Deducted from assets to which they apply

Accounts receivable allowances:
Uncollectible accounts $23,929 $19,813 $ 488 $21,084 $23,146
Rate adjustments and discounts 9,224 30,443 — 29,554 10,113
Returns allowance 10,423 2,780 — 2,115 11,088

Total $43,576 $53,036 $ 488 $52,753 $44,347

Year Ended December 26, 2004
Deducted from assets to which they apply

Accounts receivable allowances:
Uncollectible accounts $24,708 $21,271 $ — $22,050 $23,929
Rate adjustments and discounts 10,131 21,626 — 22,533 9,224
Returns allowance 6,284 8,471 — 4,332 10,423

Total $41,123 $51,368 $ — $48,915 $43,576

Year Ended December 28, 2003
Deducted from assets to which they apply

Accounts receivable allowances:
Uncollectible accounts $20,290 $17,760 $ 4,919 $18,261 $24,708
Rate adjustments and discounts 12,948 16,611 — 19,428 10,131
Returns allowance 4,614 1,098 7,673 7,101 6,284

Total $37,852 $35,469 $12,592 $44,790 $41,123

S-1
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit numbers 10.1 through 10.4, 10.12 through 10.14, 10.17 through 10.18, 10.26 through 10.28 and
10.34 through 10.36 are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.
Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

(3.1) Certificate of Incorporation as amended and restated to reflect amendments effective June 19, 1998
(filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q dated August 11, 1998, and incorporated by
reference herein).

(3.2) By-laws as amended through December 20, 2001 (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K
dated February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein).

(4) The Company agrees to furnish to the Commission upon request a copy of any instrument with respect
to long-term debt of the Company and any subsidiary for which consolidated or unconsolidated
financial statements are required to be filed, and for which the amount of securities authorized
thereunder does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the Company and its subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis.

(10.1) The Company’s 1991 Executive Stock Incentive Plan, as amended through February 16, 2006 (filed as
an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated February 17, 2006, and incorporated by reference
herein).

(10.2) The Company’s 1991 Executive Cash Bonus Plan, as amended through February 16, 2006 (filed as an
Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated February 17, 2006, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.3) The Company’s Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended through September 21, 2000
(filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q dated November 8, 2000, and incorporated by
reference herein).

(10.4) The Company’s Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated through January 1,
2004 (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q dated August 5, 2004, and incorporated by
reference herein).

(10.5) Lease (short form) between the Company and Z Edison Limited Partnership, dated April 8, 1987 (filed
as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated March 27, 1988, and incorporated by reference
herein).

(10.5.1) Amendment to Lease between the Company and Z Edison Limited Partnership, dated May 14, 1997
(filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q dated November 10, 1998, and incorporated by
reference herein).

(10.5.2) Second Amendment to Lease between the Company and Z Edison Limited Partnership, dated June 30,
1998 (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q dated November 10, 1998, and incorporated by
reference herein).

(10.6) Agreement of Lease, dated as of December 15, 1993, between The City of New York, Landlord, and
the Company, Tenant (as successor to New York City Economic Development Corporation (the
‘‘EDC’’), pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption of Lease With Consent, made as of December 15,
1993, between the EDC, as Assignor, to the Company, as Assignee) (filed as an Exhibit to the
Company’s Form 10-K dated March 21, 1994, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.7) Funding Agreement #1, dated as of December 15, 1993, between the EDC and the Company (filed as
an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated March 21, 1994, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.8) Funding Agreement #2, dated as of December 15, 1993, between the EDC and the Company (filed as
an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated March 21, 1994, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.9) Funding Agreement #3, dated as of December 15, 1993, between the EDC and the Company (filed as
an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated March 21, 1994, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.10) Funding Agreement #4, dated as of December 15, 1993, between the EDC and the Company (filed as
an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated March 21, 1994, and incorporated by reference herein).



Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

(10.11) New York City Public Utility Service Power Service Agreement, made as of May 3, 1993, between The
City of New York, acting by and through its Public Utility Service, and The New York Times
Newspaper Division of the Company (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated
March 21, 1994, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.12) Globe Newspaper Company, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended effective
December 16, 1998 (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated February 26, 1999, and
incorporated by reference herein).

(10.13) The Company’s Deferred Executive Compensation Plan, as amended December 22, 2005 (filed as an
Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated December 27, 2005, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.14) The Company’s Non-Employee Directors Deferral Plan, as amended through February 17, 2005 (filed
as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated February 17, 2005, and incorporated by reference
herein).

(10.15) Distribution Agreement, dated as of September 17, 2002, by and among the Company, J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC, and Banc One Markets, Inc. (filed as an Exhibit to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated September 18, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.16) Calculation Agent Agreement, dated as of September 17, 2002, by and between the Company and
JPMorgan Chase Bank (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated September 18, 2002, and
incorporated by reference herein).

(10.17) Letter Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2004, between the Company and Russell T. Lewis (filed as an
Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q dated November 5, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.18) 2004 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan, effective April 13, 2004 (filed as an Exhibit to the
Company’s Form 10-Q dated May 5, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.19) Agreement of Lease, dated December 12, 2001, between the 42nd St. Development Project, Inc., as
Landlord, and The New York Times Building LLC, as Tenant (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s
Form 10-K dated February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.20) Operating Agreement of The New York Times Building LLC, dated December 12, 2001 (the
‘‘Operating Agreement’’), between FC Lion LLC and NYT Real Estate Company LLC* (filed as an
Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q dated August 5, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.21) First Amendment to the Operating Agreement, dated June 25, 2004* (filed as an Exhibit to the
Company’s Form 10-Q dated August 5, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.22) Building Loan Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2004, among The New York Times Building LLC, New
York State Urban Development Corporation (d/b/a Empire State Development Corporation) and
GMAC Commercial Mortgage Corporation (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q dated
August 5, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.23) Project Loan Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2004, among The New York Times Building LLC, New
York State Urban Development Corporation (d/b/a Empire State Development Corporation) and
GMAC Commercial Mortgage Corporation (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q dated
August 5, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.24) Construction Management Agreement, dated January 22, 2004, between The New York Times Building
LLC and AMEC Construction Management, Inc.* (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q
dated August 5, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.25) Agreement of Sale and Purchase between The New York Times Company, Seller, and Tishman Speyer
Development, L.L.C., Purchaser, dated November 7, 2004 (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s
Form 8-K dated November 12, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.26) Annual bonuses paid to executive officers for 2004 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Form 8-K dated February 18, 2005).

(10.27) Non-Employee Directors’ compensation for 2005 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Form 8-K dated February 18, 2005).



Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

(10.28) Non-Employee Directors’ compensation for 2006 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Form 8-K dated February 17, 2006).

(10.29) Stock Purchase Agreement among the Company, PRIMEDIA Companies Inc. and PRIMEDIA Inc., in
which the Company agreed to purchase About, Inc., dated February 17, 2005 (filed as an Exhibit to
the Company’s Form 8-K dated March 10, 2005, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.30) Guarantee of PRIMEDIA Inc. with respect to the obligations of PRIMEDIA Companies Inc. in favor
of the Company dated March 18, 2005 (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated
March 18, 2005, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.31) Indenture, dated March 29, 1995, between The New York Times Company and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A. (formerly known as Chemical Bank), as trustee (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s
registration statement on Form S-3 File No. 33-57403, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.32) First Supplemental Indenture, dated August 21, 1998, between The New York Times Company and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (formerly known as Chemical Bank and The Chase Manhattan Bank), as
trustee (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-3 File No. 333-62023,
and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.33) Second Supplemental Indenture, dated July 26, 2002, between The New York Times Company and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as trustee (filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s registration statement on
Form S-3 File No. 333-97199, and incorporated by reference herein).

(10.34) Terms of 2005-2009 long-term incentive program and 2005 annual cash bonuses for executive officers
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K dated December 20, 2004).

(10.35) Terms of 2006-2010 long-term incentive program and 2006 annual cash bonuses for executive officers
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K dated December 21, 2005).

(10.36) Terms of 2005 restricted stock unit awards pursuant to the 1991 Executive Stock Incentive Plan (filed
as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated December 21, 2005, and incorporated by reference
herein).

(12) Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

(14) Code of Ethics for the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Vice Chairman and Senior Financial Officers
(filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated February 20, 2004, and incorporated by
reference herein).

(21) Subsidiaries of the Company.

(23) Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

(31.1) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification.

(31.2) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification.

(32.1) Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

(32.2) Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

* Portions of these exhibits have been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Such redacted
portions have been marked with an asterisk.



Exhibit 12

THE NEW YORK TIMES COMPANY

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges (Unaudited)

For the Years Ended

December 25, December 26, December 28, December 29, December 30,
(In thousands, except ratio)  2005  2004 2003  2002  2001

Earnings from continuing operations before fixed
charges

Income from continuing operations before income
taxes, minority interest and income/loss from joint
ventures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $436,053 $476,405 $508,070 $504,433 $332,204

Distributed earnings from less than fifty-percent
owned affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,132 14,990 9,299 6,459 14,859

Adjusted pre-tax earnings from continuing operations 445,185 491,395 517,369 510,892 347,063
Fixed charges less capitalized interest . . . . . . . . . . . . 65,566 55,151 57,752 60,023 64,069

Earnings from continuing operations before fixed
charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $510,751 $546,546 $575,121 $570,915 $411,132

Fixed charges
Interest expenses, net of capitalized interest . . . . . . . $ 53,630 $ 44,191 $ 46,704 $ 48,697 $ 51,405
Capitalized interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,155 7,181 4,501 1,662 459
Portion of rentals representative of interest factor . . . 11,936 10,960 11,048 11,326 12,664

Total fixed charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 76,721 $ 62,332 $ 62,253 $ 61,685 $ 64,528

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.66 8.77 9.24 9.26 6.37

Note: The Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.



Exhibit 21

OUR SUBSIDIARIES1

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or

Name of Subsidiary Organization

NYT Capital, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
City & Suburban Delivery Systems, Inc . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Comet-Press Newspapers, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware

Comet-Press Newspapers Holdings, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Donohue Malbaie Inc. (49%) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Canada
Globe Newspaper Company, Inc . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Massachussetts

Boston Globe Electronic Publishing, LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Boston Globe Marketing, LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Community Newsdealers Holdings, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Globe Specialty Products, LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Metro Boston LLC (49%) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
New England Direct, LLC (50%) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Retail Sales, LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware

Hendersonville Newspaper Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . North Carolina
Hendersonville Newspaper Holdings, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware

Lakeland Ledger Publishing Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Florida
Lakeland Ledger Holdings, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware

Midtown Insurance Company . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . New York
NYT Holdings, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware

NYT Broadcast Holdings, LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
KAUT-TV, LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
New York Times Management Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Massachussetts

NYT Management Services, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
NYT Shared Service Center, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware

International Media Concepts, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
The Dispatch Publishing Company, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . North Carolina

The Dispatch Publishing Holdings, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
The Houma Courier Newspaper Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware

The Houma Courier Newspaper Holdings, Inc . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
The New York Times Distribution Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware

NYT Canada ULC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Canada
The New York Times Radio . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
The New York Times Sales Company . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Massachussetts
The New York Times Syndication Sales Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
The Spartanburg Herald-Journal, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Times Leasing, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Times On-Line Services, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . New Jersey
Worcester Telegram & Gazette Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Massachussetts

Worcester Telegram & Gazette Holdings, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
The New York Times Company . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . New York

About, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Discovery Times Channel LLC (50%) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
International Herald Tribune S.A.S. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . France
London Bureau Limited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . United Kingdom
Madison Paper Industries (partnership) (40%) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Maine
Media Consortium, LLC (25%) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
Northern SC Paper Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
NYT Administradora de Bens e Servicos Ltda. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Brazil
NYT Group Services, LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
NYT Press Services, LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Delaware
NYT Real Estate Company, LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . New York
The New York Times Building, LLC (58%) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . New York
Rome Bureau S.r.l. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Italy

1 100% owned unless otherwise indicated.



Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-43369, No. 333-43371,
No. 333-37331, No. 333-09447, No. 33-31538, No. 33-43210, No. 33-43211, No. 33-50465, No. 33-50467,
No. 33-56219, No. 333-49722, No. 333-70280, No. 333-102041 and No. 333-114767 on Form S-8,
Registration Statement No. 333-97199 on Form S-3 and Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement
No. 333-123012 on Form S-3 of our report on the financial statements and financial statement schedules of The
New York Times Company dated February 23, 2006, which expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an
explanatory paragraph relating to the Company’s adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123(R), ‘‘Share-Based Payment,’’ as revised, effective December 27, 2004 and the Company’s adoption of
FASB Interpretation No. 47, ‘‘Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligation—an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 143,’’ effective December 25, 2005, and our report dated February 23, 2006, relating to
management’s report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K of The New York Times Company for the year ended December 25, 2005.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
February 23, 2006



Exhibit 31.1

RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATION

I, Janet L. Robinson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The New York Times Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f ) and 15d-15(f )) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 23, 2006

/s/ JANET L. ROBINSON

Janet L. Robinson
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATION

I, Leonard P. Forman, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The New York Times Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f ) and 15d-15(f )) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 23, 2006

/s/ LEONARD P. FORMAN

Leonard P. Forman
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADDED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of The New York Times Company (the ‘‘Company’’) for
the fiscal year ended December 25, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the ‘‘Report’’), I, Janet L. Robinson, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as added by § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, based on my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

February 23, 2006

/s/ JANET L. ROBINSON

Janet L. Robinson
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADDED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of The New York Times Company (the ‘‘Company’’) for
the fiscal year ended December 25, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the ‘‘Report’’), I, Leonard P. Forman, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as added by § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, based on my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

February 23, 2006

/s/ LEONARD P. FORMAN

Leonard P. Forman
Chief Financial Officer
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OFFICERS, 
EXECUTIVES AND
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVES

Arthur Sulzberger, Jr.*
Chairman 
The New York Times Company
Publisher, The New York Times

Janet L. Robinson*
President & 
Chief Executive Officer 

Michael Golden*
Vice Chairman 
The New York Times Company
Publisher 
International Herald Tribune

Leonard P. Forman*
Executive Vice President & 
Chief Financial Officer

Martin A. Nisenholtz*
Senior Vice President
Digital Operations

David K. Norton*
Senior Vice President
Human Resources

Solomon B. Watson IV*
Senior Vice President & 
Chief Legal Officer

P. Steven Ainsley*
President & 
Chief Operating Officer 
Regional Media Group

Robert H. Eoff*
President 
Broadcast Media Group

Richard H. Gilman*
Chairman, Globe Newspaper
Company, Inc.
Publisher, The Boston Globe

Scott H. Heekin-Canedy*
President & General Manager
The New York Times

Hussain Ali-Khan
Vice President
Real Estate Development

R. Anthony Benten
Vice President & Treasurer

Rhonda L. Brauer
Secretary, Corporate Governance
Officer & Senior Counsel

Philip A. Ciuffo
Vice President, Internal Audit

Jennifer C. Dolan
Vice President, Forest Products

Robert Kraft
Vice President
Enterprise Services

Ann S. Kraus
Vice President 
Compensation & Benefits

James C. Lessersohn
Vice President, Finance &
Corporate Development

Catherine J. Mathis
Vice President 
Corporate Communications

Kenneth A. Richieri*
Vice President & 
General Counsel

Stuart P. Stoller
Vice President, Process Engineering
& Corporate Controller

David A. Thurm
Vice President &
Chief Information Officer 
The New York Times Company 
Senior Vice President &
Chief Information Officer
The New York Times

Michael Zimbalist
Vice President
Research & Development
Operations

Laurena L. Emhoff
Assistant Treasurer

MEMBERS OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

John F. Akers
Director of various corporations

Brenda C. Barnes
President & 
Chief Executive Officer
Sara Lee Corporation

Raul E. Cesan
Founder & Managing Partner
Commercial Worldwide LLC

Lynn G. Dolnick
Director of various 
non-profit corporations

Michael Golden
Vice Chairman 
The New York Times Company
Publisher 
International Herald Tribune

William E. Kennard
Managing Director 
The Carlyle Group

James M. Kilts
Vice Chairman
The Procter & Gamble Company

David E. Liddle
Partner, U.S. Venture Partners

Ellen R. Marram
President
The Barnegat Group, LLC

Thomas Middelhoff
Chief Executive Officer
KarstadtQuelle AG

Janet L. Robinson
President & 
Chief Executive Officer
The New York Times Company

Henry B. Schacht
Managing Director & 
Senior Advisor 
Warburg Pincus LLC

Arthur Sulzberger, Jr.
Chairman 
The New York Times Company
Publisher, The New York Times

Cathy J. Sulzberger
Partner, LHIW Real Estate
Development Partnership

Doreen A. Toben
Executive Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer
Verizon Communications, Inc.

COMPANY LISTINGS

THE NEW YORK TIMES 
MEDIA GROUP

The New York Times
229 West 43rd St.
New York, NY 10036
(212) 556-1234

Arthur Sulzberger, Jr.
Publisher

Scott H. Heekin-Canedy
President & General Manager

Bill Keller
Executive Editor

Gail Collins
Editor, Editorial Page

NYTimes.com
500 Seventh Ave. 
8th Floor
New York, NY 10018
(646) 698-8000

Leonard M. Apcar
Editor in Chief

International Herald Tribune
6 bis rue des Graviers
92521 Neuilly-sur-Seine 
France
(33-1) 41 43 93 00

Michael Golden
Publisher

Richard Wooldridge
President & 
Chief Operating Officer

Michael Oreskes
Executive Editor

Serge Schmemann
Editor, Editorial Page

WQXR-FM
122 Fifth Ave.
Third Floor
New York, NY 10011
(212) 633-7600

Thomas J. Bartunek
President & General Manager

NEW ENGLAND 
MEDIA GROUP

The Boston Globe
135 Morrissey Blvd.
P.O. Box 55819
Boston, MA 02205-5819
(617) 929-2000

Richard H. Gilman
Publisher

Richard J. Daniels
President
Boston Globe Media

Mary Jacobus
President & General Manager

Martin Baron
Editor

Renée Loth
Editor, Editorial Page

Boston.com
320 Congress St.
Boston, MA 02210
(617) 929-7900 

Teresa M. Hanafin
Editor in Chief

Worcester Telegram & Gazette
20 Franklin St.
P.O. Box 15012
Worcester, MA 01615-0012
(508) 793-9100

Bruce S. Bennett
Publisher

Harry T. Whitin
Editor

REGIONAL MEDIA GROUP

NYT Management Services
2202 North West Shore Blvd.
Suite 370
Tampa, FL 33607
(813) 864-6000

P. Steven Ainsley
President & 
Chief Operating Officer

REGIONAL NEWSPAPERS
(alphabetized by city)

TimesDaily
219 W. Tennessee St.
Florence, AL 35630
(256) 766-3434

Allen Parsons
Publisher

Wayne Mitchell
Executive Editor

The Gadsden Times
401 Locust St.
Gadsden, AL 35901
(256) 549-2000

Roger Quinn
Publisher

Ron Reaves
Executive Editor

The Gainesville Sun
2700 S.W. 13th St.
Gainesville, FL 32608
(352) 378-1411

James Doughton
Publisher

James Osteen
Executive Editor

Times-News
1717 Four Seasons Blvd.
Hendersonville, NC 28792
(828) 692-0505

Ruth Birge
Publisher

William L. Moss
Executive Editor

*Executive Committee
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The Courier
3030 Barrow St.
Houma, LA 70360
(985) 850-1100

H. Miles Forrest
Publisher

Keith Magill
Executive Editor

The Ledger
300 W. Lime St.
Lakeland, FL 33815
(863) 802-7000

John Fitzwater
Publisher

Louis M. (Skip) Perez
Executive Editor

The Dispatch
30 E. First Ave.
Lexington, NC 27292
(336) 249-3981

Ned Cowan
Publisher

Chad Killebrew
Executive Editor

Star-Banner
2121 S.W. 19th Ave. Rd.
Ocala, FL 34474
(352) 867-4010

Bruce Gaultney
Publisher

Robyn Tomlin
Executive Editor

North Bay Business Journal
5464 Skylane Blvd.
Suite B
Santa Rosa, CA 95403
(707) 579-2900

Ken Clark
Publisher

Petaluma Argus-Courier
1304 Southpoint Blvd.
Petaluma, CA 94954
(707) 762-4541

John B. Burns
Publisher & Executive Editor

The Press Democrat
427 Mendocino Ave.
Santa Rosa, CA 95401
(707) 546-2020

Bruce Kyse
Publisher

Catherine Barnett
Executive Editor

Sarasota Herald-Tribune
1741 Main St.
Sarasota, FL 34236
(941) 953-7755

Diane McFarlin
Publisher

Michael Connelly
Executive Editor

Herald-Journal
189 W. Main St.
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 582-4511

David O. Roberts
Publisher

Carl Beck
Executive Editor

Daily Comet
705 W. Fifth St.
Thibodaux, LA 70301
(985) 448-7600

H. Miles Forrest
Publisher

Keith Magill
Executive Editor

The Tuscaloosa News
315 28th Ave.
Tuscaloosa, AL 35401
(205) 345-0505

Timothy M. Thompson
Publisher

Doug Ray
Executive Editor

Star-News
1003 S. 17th St.
Wilmington, NC 28401
(910) 343-2000

Robert J. Gruber
Publisher

Tim Griggs
Executive Editor

BROADCAST MEDIA GROUP

803 Channel 3 Dr.
Memphis, TN 38103
(901) 543-2333

Robert H. Eoff
President

Digital Operating Center
720 Boush St.
Norfolk, VA 23510
(757) 446-1000

Deborah Frazier
Director of Operations

(alphabetized by station name)

KAUT-TV
11901 N. Eastern Ave.
Oklahoma City, OK 73131
(405) 478-4300

Timothy J. Morrissey
President & General Manager

KFOR-TV
444 E. Britton Rd.
Oklahoma City, OK 73114
(405) 424-4444

Timothy J. Morrissey
President & General Manager

Mary Ann Eckstein
Senior Vice President 
News Director

KFSM-TV
318 N. 13th St.
Fort Smith, AR 72901
(479) 783-3131

Van Comer
President & General Manager

Dale Cox
News Director

WHNT-TV
200 Holmes Ave.
Huntsville, AL 35801
(256) 533-1919

Craig E. Marrs
President & General Manager

Nancy Nydam
News Director

WHO-TV
1801 Grand Ave.
Des Moines, IA 50309
(515) 242-3500

Jim Boyer
President & General Manager

Mark Ginther
News Director

WNEP-TV
16 Montage Mountain Rd.
Moosic, PA 18507
(570) 346-7474

C. Lou Kirchen
President & General Manager

Dennis Fisher
News Director

WQAD-TV
3003 Park 16th St.
Moline, IL 61265
(309) 764-8888

Marion Meginnis
President & General Manager

C.J. Beutien
News Director

WREG-TV
803 Channel 3 Dr.
Memphis, TN 38103
(901) 543-2333

Ronald Walter
President & General Manager

Maureen O’Connor
Executive Vice President 
& Station Manager

WTKR-TV
720 Boush St.
Norfolk, VA 23510
(757) 446-1000

Frank A. Chebalo
President & General Manager

Jeff Parsons
News Director

ABOUT, INC.

About.com
249 West 17th St.
New York, NY 10011
(212) 204-4000

Scott B. Meyer
President & Chief Executive Officer

JOINT VENTURES

Discovery Times Channel
One Discovery Place
Silver Spring, MD 20910
(240) 662-2000

Vivian Schiller
Senior Vice President & 
General Manager

Donohue Malbaie Inc.
Abitibi-Consolidated, Inc.
1155 Metcalfe St.
Suite 800
Montreal, Quebec
H3B 5H2 Canada
(514) 875-2160

Madison Paper Industries
P.O. Box 129
Main St.
Madison, ME 04950
(207) 696-3307

Metro Boston LLC
320 Congress St.
Fifth Foor
Boston, MA 02210
(617) 210-7905

New England 
Sports Ventures, LLC
Fenway Park
4 Yawkey Way
Boston, MA 02215
(617) 226-6709

CORPORATE

NYT Shared Services Center
101 West Main St.
Suite 2000
World Trade Center
Norfolk, VA 23510
(757) 628-2000

Charlotte Herndon
President
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Career Opportunities
Employment applicants 
should apply online at
www.nytco.com/careers. The
Company is committed to a 
policy of providing equal 
employment opportunities 
without regard to race, color, 
religion, national origin, gender,
age, marital status, sexual 
orientation or disability.

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of
Stockholders will be held on
Tuesday, April 18, 2006, at 10 a.m.

It will take place at:
New Amsterdam Theatre
214 West 42nd Street
New York, NY 10036

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Two World Financial Center
New York, NY 10281

Certifications
The certifications by our CEO 
and CFO pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 are filed as exhibits to our
most recently filed Form 10-K. 
We have also filed with the New
York Stock Exchange the CEO 
certification required by the 
NYSE Listed Company Manual
Section 303A.12. 

Shareholder Information Online
www.nytco.com
Visit our Web site for information
about the Company, including our
Code of Ethics for our chairman,
CEO, vice chairman and senior
financial officers and our Business
Ethics Policy; a print copy is 
available upon request.

Office of the Secretary
(212) 556-7127

Corporate Communications 
& Investor Relations
Catherine J. Mathis, Vice President
Corporate Communications
(212) 556-4317

Stock Listing
The New York Times Company
Class A Common Stock is listed
on the New York Stock Exchange.
Ticker symbol: NYT

Registrar, Stock Transfer and
Dividend Disbursing Agent
If you are a registered shareholder
and have a question about your
account, or would like to report a
change in your name or address,
please contact:

Mellon Investor Services LLC
P.O. Box 3315
South Hackensack, NJ 07606-1915
Or 
480 Washington Boulevard
Jersey City, NJ 07310-1900
(800) 240-0345

TDD for the hearing impaired:
(800) 231-5469

Foreign Shareholders:
(201) 680-6578

TDD Foreign Shareholders:
(201) 680-6610

Web site: 
www.melloninvestor.com/isd

Automatic Dividend
Reinvestment Plan
The Company offers shareholders 
a plan for automatic reinvestment
of dividends in its Class A
Common Stock for additional
shares. For information, current
shareholders should contact 
Mellon Investor Services.

The New York Times Company
Foundation, Inc.
Jack Rosenthal, President
229 West 43rd St.
New York, NY 10036
(212) 556-1091

In 2005, The New York Times
Company Foundation undertook
two major initiatives. The first 
was to create a far-reaching 
public-private alliance to magnify
the impact of programs to help 
immigrant families. Thus, we
organized the Immigrant Family
Literacy Alliance, to identify best
practices and to raise funds for
public and private services. The
City responded with $1.8 million a
year for three years and the Alliance
has so far raised more than
$600,000 toward its contribution.
Our goal is to serve more than
1,000 families by July.

The second initiative was disaster
relief. The Foundation created a
special category of disaster relief
matching gifts for employee contri-
butions and paid out $432,000 in
matching grants – an increase of
nearly one-third in the annual
matching gifts total of $1.8 million.
All told, employee contributions
and direct contributions by the
Times Company and Foundation
accounted for almost $1 million 
to victims of the Tsunami and
Hurricane Katrina disasters. 

The Foundation’s ongoing programs
included $4.49 million in grants
for education, culture, service, 
the environment and journalism.
Included in this total are the 
grants made by The Boston 
Globe Foundation, which comes
under the umbrella of The 
Times Foundation.

The year’s six Times Institutes –
immersion courses for journalists
from around the country – 
included a new one, conducted 
in the Dominican Republic, 
on threats to the national and 
global environment. 

The New York Times College
Scholarship Program, launched in
1999, is funded by the Foundation
and donations from the public. In
July, Soma Golden Behr, a veteran
masthead editor of The New York
Times, became director of the 
program and will lead the selection
of new scholars – 19 talented,
needy New York City students who
have overcome great adversity.

The New York Times Neediest
Cases Fund, administered by 
the Foundation, raised more 
than $7 million in its 2004-2005 
campaign. For the third year, using
income from the Neediest Cases
Fund endowment, the Foundation 
supported nearly 1,000 emergency
summer jobs for low-income
teenagers in New York City. 

The Foundation’s annual 
report is available at 
www.nytco.com/foundation 
or by mail on request.

The Boston Globe Foundation
Alfred S. Larkin, Jr., President
P.O. Box 2378
Boston, MA 01207-2378
(617) 929-2895

In 2005 The Boston Globe
Foundation made grants totaling
$1.2 million.  The Foundation’s
priority funding areas include read-
ers and writers; arts and culture;
civic engagement and community
building, and support for organiza-
tions in its immediate neighborhood
of Dorchester. 

Globe Santa, a holiday toy 
distribution program administered
by the Foundation, raised $1.1 mil-
lion in donations from the public
in 2005. 

More information on The Boston
Globe Foundation can be found 
at the Globe’s Web site at
www.bostonglobe.com/foundation. 

Shareholder Information
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The New York Times
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112022_Platforms_R5  2/24/06  2:31 AM  Page 10



Core Purpose

Enhance society by creating, collecting and distributing high 

quality news, information and entertainment.

Core Values

● Content of the highest quality
and integrity – This is the 
basis for our reputation 
and the means by which we 
fulfill the public trust and 
our customers’ expectations.

● Fair treatment of employees based
on respect, accountability and
standards of excellence.

● Creating long-term shareholder
value through investment and
constancy of purpose.

● Good corporate citizenship.Rules of the Road

● Be stewards of our Company’s brand reputation and assets.

● Treat each other with honesty, respect and civility.

● Uphold the highest journalistic, business and personal ethics.

● Keep a relentless focus on serving our customers.

● Innovate to reach our full competitive potential.

● Execute with urgency, agility and excellence.

● Champion diversity.

● Collaborate to harness our collective strengths.

● Achieve results by challenging yourself and mentoring others.

● Maintain perspective and a sense of humor.
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